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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q
PART I

ITEM I — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

(Dollars In Millions)
 

 
  June 30,    

December 31,
2011  

  2012    (as adjusted)  
Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,523   $ 1,324 
Investments:     

Fixed maturities, available for sale at fair value (amortized cost – $21,373 and $20,562)    22,981    21,807 
Fixed maturities, trading at fair value    447    440 
Equity securities, at fair value (cost – $897 and $744)    1,121    928 
Mortgage loans    488    401 
Policy loans    247    252 
Real estate and other investments    494    425 

    
 

    
 

Total cash and investments    27,301    25,577 

Recoverables from reinsurers    2,740    2,942 
Prepaid reinsurance premiums    488    409 
Agents’ balances and premiums receivable    702    565 
Deferred policy acquisition costs    846    901 
Assets of managed investment entities    2,825    3,058 
Other receivables    673    895 
Variable annuity assets (separate accounts)    574    548 
Other assets    717    757 
Goodwill    186    186 

    
 

    
 

Total assets   $37,052   $ 35,838 
    

 

    

 

Liabilities and Equity:     
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses   $ 6,153   $ 6,520 
Unearned premiums    1,661    1,484 
Annuity benefits accumulated    16,758    15,420 
Life, accident and health reserves    1,750    1,727 
Payable to reinsurers    396    475 
Liabilities of managed investment entities    2,502    2,787 
Long-term debt    1,158    934 
Variable annuity liabilities (separate accounts)    574    548 
Other liabilities    1,325    1,386 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities    32,277    31,281 

Shareholders’ equity:     
Common Stock, no par value

- 200,000,000 shares authorized
- 94,959,232 and 97,846,402 shares outstanding    95    98 

Capital surplus    1,112    1,121 
Retained earnings:     

Appropriated — managed investment entities    127    173 
Unappropriated    2,515    2,439 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax    773    580 
    

 
    

 

Total shareholders’ equity    4,622    4,411 

Noncontrolling interests    153    146 
    

 
    

 

Total equity    4,775    4,557 
    

 
    

 

Total liabilities and equity   $37,052   $ 35,838 
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (UNAUDITED)

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
 

  
  

Three months ended
June  30,   

Six months ended
June  30,  

  2012   
2011

(as adjusted)  2012   
2011

(as adjusted) 
Revenues:      

Property and casualty insurance premiums   $ 640  $ 609  $1,243  $ 1,208 
Life, accident and health premiums    105   107   210   217 
Investment income    332   306   654   606 
Realized gains (losses) on:      

Securities (*)    16   19   60   19 
Subsidiaries    (1)   —      (1)   (3) 

Income (loss) of managed investment entities:      
Investment income    32   26   61   51 
Loss on change in fair value of assets/liabilities    (21)   (22)   (50)   (55) 

Other income    47   48   86   89 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total revenues    1,150   1,093   2,263   2,132 

Costs and Expenses:      
Property and casualty insurance:      

Losses and loss adjustment expenses    363   413   707   754 
Commissions and other underwriting expenses    232   217   443   420 

Annuity benefits    147   125   277   241 
Life, accident and health benefits    84   89   176   185 
Annuity and supplemental insurance acquisition expenses    48   49   95   99 
Interest charges on borrowed money    21   21   42   42 
Expenses of managed investment entities    20   18   39   36 
Other operating and general expenses    99   101   202   193 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total costs and expenses    1,014   1,033   1,981   1,970 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating earnings before income taxes    136   60   282   162 
Provision for income taxes    52   30   110   78 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net earnings, including noncontrolling interests    84   30   172   84 
Less: Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests    (15)   (18)   (40)   (52) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Earnings Attributable to Shareholders   $ 99  $ 48  $ 212  $ 136 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Earnings Attributable to Shareholders per Common Share:      
Basic   $ 1.02  $ .47  $ 2.18  $ 1.31 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted   $ 1.01  $ .46  $ 2.15  $ 1.29 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Average number of Common Shares:      
Basic    96.4   102.7   97.0   103.7 
Diluted    98.0   104.4   98.7   105.3 

Cash dividends per Common Share   $ .175  $ .1625  $ .35  $ .325 
 
(*)    Consists of the following:      

Realized gains before impairments   $ 23  $ 40  $ 71  $ 50 

Losses on securities with impairment    (7)   (10)   (12)   (17) 
Non-credit portion recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)    —      (11)   1   (14) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Impairment charges recognized in earnings    (7)   (21)   (11)   (31) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total realized gains on securities   $ 16  $ 19  $ 60  $ 19 
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)

(In Millions)
 

    
Three months ended

June  30,   
Six months ended

June  30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  

Net earnings, including noncontrolling interests   $ 84  $ 30  $ 172  $ 84 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:      

Net unrealized gains on securities:      
Unrealized holding gains on securities arising during the period    78   115   236   136 
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains included in net earnings    (12)   (17)   (40)   (20) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total net unrealized gains on securities    66   98   196   116 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (8)   (2)   (1)   5 
Pension and other postretirement plans adjustments    —      1   1   1 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax    58   97   196   122 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total comprehensive income, net of tax    142   127   368   206 

Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests    (16)   (16)   (37)   (50) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders   $ 158  $ 143  $ 405  $ 256 
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in Millions)
 

  

     Shareholders’ Equity        

  Common   
Common Stock

and Capital   Retained Earnings   
Accum.

Other Comp      
Noncon-
trolling   Total  

  Shares   Surplus   Appro.  Unappro.  Inc.(Loss)    Total   Interests  Equity  
Balance at December 31, 2011, as adjusted    97,846,402  $ 1,219  $ 173  $ 2,439  $ 580   $ 4,411  $ 146  $4,557 

Net earnings    —      —      —      212   —       212   (40)   172 
Other comprehensive income    —      —      —      —      193    193   3   196 
Allocation of losses of managed investment entities    —      —      (46)   —      —       (46)   46   —    
Dividends on Common Stock    —      —      —      (33)   —       (33)   —      (33) 
Shares issued:           

Exercise of stock options    814,394   21   —      —      —       21   —      21 
Other benefit plans    276,195   5   —      —      —       5   —      5 
Dividend reinvestment plan    7,711   —      —      —      —       —      —      —    

Stock-based compensation expense    —      12   —      —      —       12   —      12 
Shares acquired and retired    (3,985,470)   (50)   —      (103)   —       (153)   —      (153) 
Other    —      —      —      —      —       —      (2)   (2) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2012    94,959,232  $ 1,207  $ 127  $ 2,515  $ 773   $4,622  $ 153  $4,775 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

Balance at December 31, 2010    105,168,366  $ 1,271  $ 197  $ 2,523  $ 479   $4,470  $ 150  $4,620 
Cumulative effect of accounting change    —      —      —      (155)   16    (139)   —      (139) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at December 31, 2010, as adjusted    105,168,366   1,271   197   2,368   495    4,331   150   4,481 

Net earnings    —      —      —      136   —       136   (52)   84 
Other comprehensive income    —      —      —      —      120    120   2   122 
Allocation of losses of managed investment entities    —      —      (55)   —      —       (55)   55   —    
Dividends on Common Stock    —      —      —      (34)   —       (34)   —      (34) 
Shares issued:           

Exercise of stock options    654,799   16   —      —      —       16   —      16 
Other benefit plans    357,042   8   —      —      —       8   —      8 
Dividend reinvestment plan    7,870   —      —      —      —       —      —      —    

Stock-based compensation expense    —      7   —      —      —       7   —      7 
Shares acquired and retired    (5,167,842)   (63)   —      (115)   —       (178)   —      (178) 
Other    —      —      —      —      —       —      (2)   (2) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2011    101,020,235  $ 1,239  $ 142  $ 2,355  $ 615   $4,351  $ 153  $4,504 
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

(In Millions)
 

  
  

Six months ended
June  30,  

  2012   
2011

(as adjusted) 
Operating Activities:    

Net earnings, including noncontrolling interests   $ 172  $ 84 
Adjustments:    

Depreciation and amortization    83   91 
Annuity benefits    277   241 
Realized gains on investing activities    (57)   (16) 
Net sales of trading securities    5   6 
Deferred annuity and life policy acquisition costs    (129)   (119) 
Change in:    

Reinsurance and other receivables    212   156 
Other assets    50   13 
Insurance claims and reserves    (167)   (12) 
Payable to reinsurers    (79)   (18) 
Other liabilities    (179)   112 
Managed investment entities’ assets/liabilities    40   (12) 

Other operating activities, net    (2)   8 
    

 
   

 

Net cash provided by operating activities    226   534 
    

 
   

 

Investing Activities:    
Purchases of:    

Fixed maturities    (1,976)   (2,302) 
Equity securities    (194)   (104) 
Mortgage loans    (97)   (91) 
Real estate, property and equipment    (52)   (57) 

Proceeds from:    
Maturities and redemptions of fixed maturities    993   1,106 
Repayments of mortgage loans    6   224 
Sales of fixed maturities    239   374 
Sales of equity securities    107   41 
Sales of real estate, property and equipment    3   1 

Managed investment entities:    
Purchases of investments    (925)   (681) 
Proceeds from sales and redemptions of investments    1,106   754 

Other investing activities, net    (36)   (6) 
    

 
   

 

Net cash used in investing activities    (826)   (741) 
    

 
   

 

Financing Activities:    
Annuity receipts    1,710   1,578 
Annuity surrenders, benefits and withdrawals    (696)   (636) 
Additional long-term borrowings    223   2 
Reductions of long-term debt    (6)   (14) 
Issuances of managed investment entities’ liabilities    359   —    
Retirement of managed investment entities’ liabilities    (633)   (8) 
Issuances of Common Stock    22   16 
Repurchases of Common Stock    (153)   (178) 
Cash dividends paid on Common Stock    (33)   (34) 
Other financing activities, net    6   11 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    799   737 
    

 
   

 

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents    199   530 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    1,324   1,099 
    

 
   

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 1,523  $ 1,629 
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEX TO NOTES
 
A. Accounting Policies   H. Managed Investment Entities
B. Sale of Operations   I.  Goodwill and Other Intangibles
C. Segments of Operations   J.  Long-Term Debt
D. Fair Value Measurements   K. Shareholders’ Equity
E. Investments   L. Income Taxes
F. Derivatives   M. Contingencies
G. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs   N. Subsequent Event
 
A. Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation The accompanying consolidated financial statements for American Financial Group, Inc. (“AFG”) and its subsidiaries are unaudited;
however, management believes that all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring accruals unless otherwise disclosed herein) necessary for fair
presentation have been made. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year. The financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and therefore do not include all information and footnotes necessary to be
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods to conform to the current year’s presentation. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated. The results of operations of companies since their formation or acquisition are included in the consolidated financial
statements. Events or transactions occurring subsequent to June 30, 2012, and prior to the filing date of this Form 10-Q, have been evaluated for potential
recognition or disclosure herein.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Changes in circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from those estimates.

Accounting Standards Adopted in 2012 Effective January 1, 2012, AFG retrospectively adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2010-26 that
addresses which costs related to issuing or renewing insurance contracts qualify for deferral. To qualify for deferral, the guidance specifies that a cost must
be directly related to the successful acquisition of an insurance contract. The financial statements for prior periods have been adjusted to reflect the
adoption of the new standard.

The impact of adoption on amounts previously reported is shown in the table below (in millions, except per share data):
 

    
December 31,

2011  
Deferred policy acquisition costs   

As previously reported   $ 1,105 
As adjusted    901 

Net deferred tax liability (included in other liabilities)   
As previously reported   $ 203 
As adjusted    133 

Shareholders’ equity   
As previously reported   $ 4,545 
As adjusted    4,411 
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
 
    2011  

    
1st

Quarter   
2nd

Quarter   
3rd

Quarter   
4th

Quarter   
Total
Year  

Net earnings attributable to shareholders           
As previously reported   $ 83    $ 55    $ 96    $ 109    $ 343  
As adjusted    88     48     97     109     342  

Diluted earnings per Common Share           
As previously reported   $ .79    $ .52    $ .94    $ 1.10    $3.33  
As adjusted    .83     .46     .95     1.09     3.32  

Effective January 1, 2012, AFG retrospectively adopted ASU 2011-05, which eliminates the option to report other comprehensive income in the Statement
of Changes in Equity. As permitted by the standard, comprehensive income is presented herein in a separate statement immediately following the Statement
of Earnings. This new presentation does not change the measurement of net earnings, other comprehensive income or earnings per share, and accordingly,
had no impact on AFG’s results of operations or financial position.

Effective January 1, 2012, AFG adopted ASU 2011-04, which clarifies the application of existing fair value measurement and amends certain disclosure
requirements. Disclosures required by the guidance are included in Note D. The impact of adoption was not material to AFG’s results of operations or
financial position.

Fair Value Measurements Accounting standards define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit
price) in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The standards establish a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on
whether the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (“inputs”) are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs
reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect AFG’s assumptions about the assumptions market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability. AFG did not have any significant nonrecurring fair value measurements of nonfinancial assets and liabilities in
the first six months of 2012 or 2011.

Investments Fixed maturity and equity securities classified as “available for sale” are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in
accumulated other comprehensive income in AFG’s Balance Sheet. Fixed maturity and equity securities classified as “trading” are reported at fair value
with changes in unrealized holding gains or losses during the period included in investment income. Mortgage and policy loans are carried primarily at the
aggregate unpaid balance.

Premiums and discounts on fixed maturity securities are amortized using the interest method; mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”) are amortized over a
period based on estimated future principal payments, including prepayments. Prepayment assumptions are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect
actual prepayments and changes in expectations.
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
 

Gains or losses on securities are determined on the specific identification basis. When a decline in the value of a specific investment is considered to be
other-than-temporary at the balance sheet date, a provision for impairment is charged to earnings (included in realized gains (losses)) and the cost basis of
that investment is reduced. If management can assert that it does not intend to sell an impaired fixed maturity security and it is not more likely than not that
it will have to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, then the other-than-temporary impairment is separated into two components: 1)
the amount related to credit losses (recorded in earnings) and 2) the amount related to all other factors (recorded in other comprehensive income). The
credit-related portion of an other-than-temporary impairment is measured by comparing a security’s amortized cost to the present value of its current
expected cash flows discounted at its effective yield prior to the impairment charge. Both components are shown in the Statement of Earnings. If
management intends to sell an impaired security, or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery, an impairment
charge to earnings is recorded to reduce the amortized cost of that security to fair value.

Derivatives Derivatives included in AFG’s Balance Sheet are recorded at fair value and consist primarily of (i) components of certain fixed maturity
securities (primarily interest-only MBS) and (ii) the equity-based component of certain annuity products (included in annuity benefits accumulated) and
related call options (included in other investments) designed to be consistent with the characteristics of the liabilities and used to mitigate the risk
embedded in those annuity products. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in earnings.

Goodwill Goodwill represents the excess of cost of subsidiaries over AFG’s equity in their underlying net assets. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject
to an impairment test at least annually. Under guidance adopted in 2011, an entity is only required to complete the quantitative annual goodwill impairment
test on a reporting unit if the entity determines (through qualitative analysis) that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit’s fair value is less than its
carrying amount.

Reinsurance Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policies.
AFG’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries report as assets (a) the estimated reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses, including an
estimate for losses incurred but not reported, and (b) amounts paid to reinsurers applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force. Payable to reinsurers
includes ceded premiums due to reinsurers as well as ceded premiums retained by AFG’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries under contracts to
fund ceded losses as they become due. AFG’s insurance subsidiaries also assume reinsurance from other companies. Earnings on reinsurance assumed is
recognized based on information received from ceding companies.

Certain annuity and supplemental insurance subsidiaries cede life insurance policies to a third party on a funds withheld basis whereby the subsidiaries
retain the assets (securities) associated with the reinsurance contracts. Interest is credited to the reinsurer based on the actual investment performance of the
retained assets. These reinsurance contracts are considered to contain embedded derivatives (that must be adjusted to fair value) because the yield on the
payables is based on specific blocks of the ceding companies’ assets, rather than the overall creditworthiness of the ceding company. AFG determined that
changes in the fair value of the underlying portfolios of fixed maturity securities is an appropriate measure of the value of the embedded derivative. The
securities related to these transactions are classified as “trading.” The adjustment to fair value on the embedded derivatives offsets the investment income
recorded on the adjustment to fair value of the related trading portfolios.
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AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
 

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (“DPAC”) Policy acquisition costs (principally commissions, premium taxes and certain underwriting and policy
issuance costs) directly related to the successful acquisition or renewal of an insurance contract are deferred. DPAC also includes capitalized costs
associated with sales inducements offered to fixed annuity policyholders such as enhanced interest rates and premium and persistency bonuses. As
discussed above under “Accounting Standards Adopted in 2012,” AFG’s accounting for DPAC changed effective January 1, 2012, and amounts previously
reported have been adjusted retrospectively.

For the property and casualty companies, DPAC is limited based upon recoverability without any consideration for anticipated investment income and is
charged against income ratably over the terms of the related policies. A premium deficiency is recognized if the sum of expected claims costs, claims
adjustment expenses and unamortized acquisition costs exceed the related unearned premiums. A premium deficiency is first recognized by charging any
unamortized acquisition costs to expense to the extent required to eliminate the deficiency. If the premium deficiency is greater than unamortized
acquisition costs, a liability is accrued for the excess deficiency and reported with unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses.

DPAC related to annuities is deferred to the extent deemed recoverable and amortized, with interest, in relation to the present value of actual and expected
gross profits on the policies. Expected gross profits consist principally of estimated future investment margin (estimated future net investment income less
interest credited on policyholder funds) and surrender, mortality, and other life and variable annuity policy charges, less death and annuitization benefits in
excess of account balances and estimated future policy administration expenses. To the extent that realized gains and losses result in adjustments to the
amortization of DPAC related to annuities, such adjustments are reflected as components of realized gains (losses).

DPAC related to traditional life and health insurance is amortized over the expected premium paying period of the related policies, in proportion to the ratio
of annual premium revenues to total anticipated premium revenues.

DPAC related to annuities is also adjusted, net of tax, for the change in amortization that would have been recorded if the unrealized gains (losses) from
securities had actually been realized. This adjustment is included in unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities, a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income in AFG’s Balance Sheet.

DPAC includes the present value of future profits on business in force of annuity and supplemental insurance companies acquired (“PVFP”). PVFP
represents the portion of the costs to acquire companies that is allocated to the value of the right to receive future cash flows from insurance contracts
existing at the date of acquisition. PVFP is amortized with interest in relation to expected gross profits of the acquired policies for annuities and universal
life products and in relation to the premium paying period for traditional life and health insurance products.

Managed Investment Entities A company is considered the primary beneficiary of, and therefore must consolidate, a variable interest entity (“VIE”)
based primarily on its ability to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact that entity’s economic performance and the obligation to
absorb losses of, or receive benefits from, the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
 

AFG manages, and has investments in, collateralized loan obligations (“CLOs”) that are VIEs (see Note H — “Managed Investment Entities”). Both the
management fees (payment of which are subordinate to other obligations of the CLOs) and the investments in the CLOs are considered variable interests.
AFG has determined that it is the primary beneficiary of the CLOs because (i) its role as asset manager gives it the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of the CLOs and (ii) it has exposure to CLO losses (through its investments in the CLO debt tranches) and
the right to receive benefits (through its subordinated management fees and returns on its investments), both of which could potentially be significant to the
CLOs.

Because AFG has no right to use the CLO assets and no obligation to pay the CLO liabilities, the assets and liabilities of the CLOs are shown separately in
AFG’s Balance Sheet. AFG has elected the fair value option for reporting on the CLO assets and liabilities to improve the transparency of financial
reporting related to the CLOs. The excess of fair value of the CLOs’ assets over the fair value of the liabilities is recorded in AFG’s Balance Sheet as
appropriated retained earnings — managed investment entities, representing amounts that ultimately will inure to the benefit of the CLO debt holders.

The net gain or loss from accounting for the CLO assets and liabilities at fair value is separately presented in AFG’s Statement of Earnings. CLO earnings
attributable to AFG’s shareholders represent the change in fair value of AFG’s investments in the CLOs (including distributions) and management fees
earned. All other CLO earnings (losses) are not attributable to AFG’s shareholders and will ultimately inure to the benefit of the other CLO debt holders.
As a result, such CLO earnings (losses) are included in net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in AFG’s Statement of Earnings and in
appropriated retained earnings — managed investment entities in the Balance Sheet. As the CLOs approach maturity (2016 to 2022), it is expected that
losses attributable to noncontrolling interests will reduce appropriated retained earnings towards zero as the fair values of the assets and liabilities converge
and the CLO assets are used to pay the CLO debt.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses The net liabilities stated for unpaid claims and for expenses of investigation and adjustment of unpaid
claims are based upon (a) the accumulation of case estimates for losses reported prior to the close of the accounting period on direct business written;
(b) estimates received from ceding reinsurers and insurance pools and associations; (c) estimates of unreported losses (including possible development on
known claims) based on past experience; (d) estimates based on experience of expenses for investigating and adjusting claims; and (e) the current state of
the law and coverage litigation. Establishing reserves for asbestos, environmental and other mass tort claims involves considerably more judgment than
other types of claims due to, among other things, inconsistent court decisions, an increase in bankruptcy filings as a result of asbestos-related liabilities,
novel theories of coverage, and judicial interpretations that often expand theories of recovery and broaden the scope of coverage.

Loss reserve liabilities are subject to the impact of changes in claim amounts and frequency and other factors. Changes in estimates of the liabilities for
losses and loss adjustment expenses are reflected in the Statement of Earnings in the period in which determined. Despite the variability inherent in such
estimates, management believes that the liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are adequate.

Annuity Benefits Accumulated Annuity receipts and benefit payments are recorded as increases or decreases in annuity benefits accumulated rather than
as revenue and expense. Increases in this liability for interest credited are charged to expense and decreases for surrender charges are credited to other
income.
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For certain products, annuity benefits accumulated also includes reserves for accrued persistency and premium bonuses and excess benefits expected to be
paid on future deaths and annuitizations (“EDAR”). The liability for EDAR is accrued for and modified using assumptions consistent with those used in
determining DPAC and DPAC amortization, except that amounts are determined in relation to the present value of total expected assessments. Total
expected assessments consist principally of estimated future investment margin, surrender, mortality, and other life and variable annuity policy charges, and
unearned revenues once they are recognized as income.

Annuity benefits accumulated also includes amounts advanced from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Cincinnati.

Life, Accident and Health Reserves Liabilities for future policy benefits under traditional life, accident and health policies are computed using the net
level premium method. Computations are based on the original projections of investment yields, mortality, morbidity and surrenders and include provisions
for unfavorable deviations. Claim reserves and liabilities established for accident and health claims are modified as necessary to reflect actual experience
and developing trends.

Variable Annuity Assets and Liabilities Separate accounts related to variable annuities represent the fair value of deposits invested in underlying
investment funds on which AFG earns a fee. Investment funds are selected and may be changed only by the policyholder, who retains all investment risk.

AFG’s variable annuity contracts contain a guaranteed minimum death benefit (“GMDB”) to be paid if the policyholder dies before the annuity payout
period commences. In periods of declining equity markets, the GMDB may exceed the value of the policyholder’s account. A GMDB liability is
established for future excess death benefits using assumptions together with a range of reasonably possible scenarios for investment fund performance that
are consistent with DPAC capitalization and amortization assumptions.

Premium Recognition Property and casualty premiums are earned generally over the terms of the policies on a pro rata basis. Unearned premiums
represent that portion of premiums written which is applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force. On reinsurance assumed from other insurance
companies or written through various underwriting organizations, unearned premiums are based on information received from such companies and
organizations. For traditional life, accident and health products, premiums are recognized as revenue when legally collectible from policyholders. For
interest-sensitive life and universal life products, premiums are recorded in a policyholder account, which is reflected as a liability. Revenue is recognized
as amounts are assessed against the policyholder account for mortality coverage and contract expenses.

Noncontrolling Interests For Balance Sheet purposes, noncontrolling interests represents the interests of shareholders other than AFG in consolidated
entities. In the Statement of Earnings, net earnings and losses attributable to noncontrolling interests represents such shareholders’ interest in the earnings
and losses of those entities.

Income Taxes Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases and are measured using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is established to reduce
total deferred tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized.
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AFG records a liability for the inherent uncertainty in quantifying its income tax provisions. Related interest and penalties are recognized as a component
of tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation All share-based grants are recognized as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over their vesting periods based on
their calculated fair value at the date of grant. AFG uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to measure the fair value of employee stock options. See Note K -
“Shareholders’ Equity” for further information.

Benefit Plans AFG provides retirement benefits to qualified employees of participating companies through the AFG 401(k) Retirement and Savings Plan, a
defined contribution plan. AFG makes all contributions to the retirement fund portion of the plan and matches a percentage of employee contributions to
the savings fund. Company contributions are expensed in the year for which they are declared. AFG and many of its subsidiaries provide health care and
life insurance benefits to eligible retirees. AFG also provides postemployment benefits to former or inactive employees (primarily those on disability) who
were not deemed retired under other company plans. The projected future cost of providing these benefits is expensed over the period employees earn such
benefits.

Earnings Per Share Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.
The calculation of diluted earnings per share includes adjustments to weighted average common shares related to stock-based compensation plans: second
quarter 2012 and 2011 – 1.6 million and 1.7 million; first six months of 2012 and 2011 – 1.7 million and 1.6 million, respectively.

AFG’s weighted average diluted shares outstanding excludes the following anti-dilutive potential common shares related to stock compensation plans:
second quarter 2012 and 2011 – 2.1 million and 2.4 million; first six months of 2012 and 2011 – 1.8 million and 2.1 million, respectively. Adjustments to
net earnings attributable to shareholders in the calculation of diluted earnings per share were nominal in the 2012 and 2011 periods.

Statement of Cash Flows For cash flow purposes, “investing activities” are defined as making and collecting loans and acquiring and disposing of debt or
equity instruments and property and equipment. “Financing activities” include obtaining resources from owners and providing them with a return on their
investments, borrowing money and repaying amounts borrowed. Annuity receipts, benefits and withdrawals are also reflected as financing activities. All
other activities are considered “operating.” Short-term investments having original maturities of three months or less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents for purposes of the financial statements.

 
B. Sale of Operations In May 2012 AFG reached a definitive agreement to sell its Medicare supplement and critical illness business to Cigna Corporation for

approximately $295 million in cash. The sale is expected to close in the third quarter of 2012, and result in a pretax gain of approximately $150 –
$165 million. Since the transaction will include the ongoing ceding of business to Cigna in a reinsurance transaction, the operations being sold are not
reported as discontinued operations. Following the sale, AFG’s supplemental insurance operations will consist solely of its run-off long-term care business.
Long-term care insurance is highly sensitive to actuarial assumptions and subject to significant uncertainties.
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Summarized financial information for the Medicare supplement and critical illness businesses being sold is shown below (in millions):
 

    
June 30,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
Assets:     

Cash and investments   $ 213   $ 205 
Deferred policy acquisition costs    107    110 
Other assets    84    88 

    
 

    
 

Total assets   $ 404   $ 403 
    

 

    

 

Liabilities:     
Accident and health reserves   $ 262   $ 264 
Other liabilities    18    15 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities   $ 280   $ 279 
    

 

    

 

 

    
Six months ended

June 30,  
  2012    2011  

Total revenues   $ 159   $ 164 
Total costs and expenses    141    154 

    
 

    
 

Operating earnings before income taxes   $ 18   $ 10 
    

 

    

 

 
C. Segments of Operations

AFG manages its business as three segments: (i) property and casualty insurance, (ii) annuity and supplemental insurance and (iii) other, which includes
holding company costs and amounts attributable to the noncontrolling interests of the managed investment entities.

AFG reports its property and casualty insurance business in the following Specialty sub-segments: (i) Property and transportation, which includes physical
damage and liability coverage for buses, trucks and recreational vehicles, inland and ocean marine, agricultural-related products and other property
coverages, (ii) Specialty casualty, which includes primarily excess and surplus, general liability, executive liability, umbrella and excess liability,
customized programs for small to mid-sized businesses and workers’ compensation, and (iii) Specialty financial, which includes risk management
insurance programs for lending and leasing institutions (including collateral and mortgage protection insurance), surety and fidelity products and trade
credit insurance. AFG’s annuity and supplemental insurance business markets traditional fixed and indexed annuities and a variety of supplemental
insurance products such as Medicare supplement. Following the sale of its Medicare supplement and critical illness businesses (see Note B – “Sale of
Operations”), AFG’s annuity and supplemental insurance business will market solely traditional fixed and indexed annuities and, to a much lesser extent,
variable annuities. In addition, this segment will include run-off blocks of long-term care and life insurance.

AFG’s reportable segments and their components were determined based primarily upon similar economic characteristics, products and services.
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The following tables (in millions) show AFG’s revenues and operating earnings before income taxes by significant business segment and sub-segment.
 

    
Three months ended

June  30,   
Six months ended

June  30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  

Revenues      
Property and casualty insurance:      

Premiums earned:      
Specialty      

Property and transportation   $ 290  $ 274  $ 553  $ 529 
Specialty casualty    236   219   456   435 
Specialty financial    98   100   201   212 
Other    16   16   33   32 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total premiums earned    640   609   1,243   1,208 
Investment income    70   75   141   150 
Realized gains    13   32   44   32 
Other income    18   20   31   35 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total property and casualty insurance    741   736   1,459   1,425 
Annuity and supplemental insurance:      

Investment income    267   230   519   458 
Life, accident and health premiums    105   107   210   217 
Realized gains (losses)    2   (13)   15   (16) 
Other income    28   28   54   52 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total annuity and supplemental insurance    402   352   798   711 
Other    7   5   6   (4) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues   $1,150  $1,093  $2,263  $2,132 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Operating Earnings Before Income Taxes      
Property and casualty insurance:      

Underwriting:      
Specialty      

Property and transportation   $ 6   ($3)  $ 33  $ 33 
Specialty casualty    33   17   37   18 
Specialty financial    11   12   27   28 
Other    2   3   3   5 

Other lines (a)    (7)   (50)   (7)   (50) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total underwriting    45   (21)   93   34 
Investment and other income, net    61   71   116   140 
Realized gains    13   32   44   32 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total property and casualty insurance    119   82   253   206 
Annuity and supplemental insurance:      

Operations    76   56   143   110 
Realized gains (losses)    2   (13)   15   (16) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total annuity and supplemental insurance    78   43   158   94 
Other (b)    (61)   (65)   (129)   (138) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating earnings before income taxes   $ 136  $ 60  $ 282  $ 162 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(a) Includes a second quarter 2011 special charge of $50 million to increase asbestos and environmental reserves.
(b) Includes holding company expenses and losses of managed investment entities attributable to noncontrolling interests of $18 million and $20 million for

the second quarter and $46 million and $55 million for the first six months of 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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D. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting standards for measuring fair value are based on inputs used in estimating fair value. The three levels of the hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets (markets in which transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis). AFG’s Level 1 financial instruments consist primarily of publicly traded equity securities and highly
liquid government bonds for which quoted market prices in active markets are available and short-term investments of managed investment entities.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets (markets in
which there are few transactions, the prices are not current, price quotations vary substantially over time or among market makers, or in which little
information is released publicly); and valuations based on other significant inputs that are observable in active markets. AFG’s Level 2 financial
instruments include separate account assets, corporate and municipal fixed maturity securities, mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”) and investments of
managed investment entities priced using observable inputs. Level 2 inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, corroborated broker/dealer quotes,
issuer spreads and benchmark securities. When non-binding broker quotes can be corroborated by comparison to similar securities priced using observable
inputs, they are classified as Level 2.

Level 3 — Valuations derived from market valuation techniques generally consistent with those used to estimate the fair values of Level 2 financial
instruments in which one or more significant inputs are unobservable or when the market for a security exhibits significantly less liquidity relative to
markets supporting Level 2 fair value measurements. The unobservable inputs may include management’s own assumptions about the assumptions market
participants would use based on the best information available in the circumstances. AFG’s Level 3 is comprised of financial instruments, including
liabilities of managed investment entities, whose fair value is estimated based on non-binding broker quotes or internally developed using significant inputs
not based on, or corroborated by, observable market information.

AFG’s management is responsible for the valuation process and uses data from outside sources (including nationally recognized pricing services and
broker/dealers) in establishing fair value. AFG’s internal investment professionals are a group of approximately 20 analysts whose primary responsibility is
to manage AFG’s investment portfolio. These professionals monitor individual investments as well as overall industries and are active in the financial
markets on a daily basis. The group is led by AFG’s chief investment officer, who reports directly to one of the Co-CEOs. Valuation techniques utilized by
pricing services and prices obtained from external sources are reviewed by AFG’s internal investment professionals who are familiar with the securities
being priced and the markets in which they trade to ensure the fair value determination is representative of an exit price. To validate the appropriateness of
the prices obtained, these investment managers consider widely published indices (as benchmarks), recent trades, changes in interest rates, general
economic conditions and the credit quality of the specific issuers. In addition, the Company communicates directly with the pricing service regarding the
methods and assumptions used in pricing, including verifying, on a test basis, the inputs used by the service to value specific securities.
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Assets and liabilities measured and carried at fair value in the financial statements are summarized below (in millions):
 

    Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  
June 30, 2012         
Assets:         
Available for sale (“AFS”) fixed maturities:         

U.S. Government and government agencies   $ 234   $ 145   $ —      $ 379 
States, municipalities and political subdivisions    —       3,981    86    4,067 
Foreign government    —       256    —       256 
Residential MBS    —       3,869    320    4,189 
Commercial MBS    —       2,866    20    2,886 
All other corporate    5    10,642    557    11,204 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total AFS fixed maturities    239    21,759    983    22,981 

Trading fixed maturities    —       446    1    447 
Equity securities    991    89    41    1,121 
Assets of managed investment entities (“MIE”)    153    2,618    54    2,825 
Variable annuity assets (separate accounts) (a)    —       574    —       574 
Other investments    —       131    —       131 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total assets accounted for at fair value   $1,383   $25,617   $1,079   $28,079 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Liabilities:         
Liabilities of managed investment entities   $ 73   $ —      $2,429   $ 2,502 
Derivatives in annuity benefits accumulated    —       —       512    512 
Other liabilities — derivatives    —       26    —       26 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities accounted for at fair value   $ 73   $ 26   $2,941   $ 3,040 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

December 31, 2011         
Assets:         
Available for sale (“AFS”) fixed maturities:         

U.S. Government and government agencies   $ 248   $ 134   $ —      $ 382 
States, municipalities and political subdivisions    —       3,794    83    3,877 
Foreign government    —       254    —       254 
Residential MBS    —       3,487    361    3,848 
Commercial MBS    —       2,821    19    2,840 
All other corporate    9    10,078    519    10,606 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total AFS fixed maturities    257    20,568    982    21,807 

Trading fixed maturities    —       439    1    440 
Equity securities    888    29    11    928 
Assets of managed investment entities (“MIE”)    290    2,724    44    3,058 
Variable annuity assets (separate accounts) (a)    —       548    —       548 
Other investments    —       71    —       71 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total assets accounted for at fair value   $1,435   $24,379   $1,038   $26,852 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Liabilities:         
Liabilities of managed investment entities   $ 194   $ —      $2,593   $ 2,787 
Derivatives in annuity benefits accumulated    —       —       395    395 
Other liabilities — derivatives    —       23    —       23 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities accounted for at fair value   $ 194   $ 23   $2,988   $ 3,205 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(a) Variable annuity liabilities equal the fair value of variable annuity assets.
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During the first six months of 2012, six preferred stocks with an aggregate fair value of $35 million were transferred from Level 1 to Level 2. The transfers
were due to decreases in trade frequency, resulting in lack of available trade data sufficient to warrant classification in Level 1. Approximately 4% of the
total assets accounted for at fair value on June 30, 2012, were Level 3 assets. Approximately 89% ($952 million) of the Level 3 assets were priced using
non-binding broker quotes, for which there is a lack of transparency as to the inputs used to determine fair value. Details as to the quantitative inputs are
neither provided by the brokers nor otherwise reasonably obtainable by AFG. Since internally developed Level 3 asset fair values represent less than one-
half of 1% of the total assets measured at fair value and less than 2% of AFG’s shareholders’ equity, changes in unobservable inputs used to determine
internally developed fair values would not have a material impact on AFG’s financial position.

The fair values of the liabilities of managed investment entities were determined using primarily non-binding broker quotes, which were reviewed by
AFG’s investment professionals. AFG’s investment professionals are familiar with the cash flow models used by the brokers to determine the fair value of
these liabilities and review the broker quotes based on their knowledge of the CLO market and the market for the underlying assets. Their review includes
consideration of expected reinvestment, default and recovery rates on the assets supporting the CLO liabilities, as well as surveying general CLO liability
fair values and analysis provided by third parties.

The only significant Level 3 assets or liabilities carried at fair value in the financial statements that were not measured using broker quotes are the
derivatives embedded in AFG’s indexed annuity liabilities, which are measured using a discounted cash flow approach and had a fair value of $512 million
at June 30, 2012. The following table presents information about the unobservable inputs used by management in determining fair value of these embedded
derivatives. See Note F — “Derivatives.”

 
Unobservable Input   Range
Adjustment for insurance subsidiary’s credit risk   0.5% – 2.35% over the risk free rate
Risk margin for uncertainty in cash flows   0.3% reduction in the discount rate
Surrenders   4% – 25% of indexed account value
Partial surrenders   3% – 5% of indexed account value
Annuitizations   1% – 2% of indexed account value
Deaths   1% – 2.5% of indexed account value
Budgeted option costs   2.5% – 4.0% of indexed account value

Increasing the budgeted option cost or risk margin for uncertainty in cash flows assumptions in the table above would increase the fair value of the indexed
annuity embedded derivatives, while increasing any of the other unobservable inputs in the table above would decrease the fair value of the embedded
derivatives.

Changes in balances of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value during the second quarter and first six months of 2012 and 2011 are
presented below (in millions). The transfers into and out of Level 3 were due to changes in the availability of market observable inputs. All transfers are
reflected in the table at fair value as of the end of the reporting period.

 

  

     

Total
realized/unrealized

gains (losses)
included in                   

  

Balance at
March 31,

2012   
Net

income   

Other
comp.
income
(loss)    

Purchases
and

issuances   
Sales and

Settlements  

Transfer
into

Level 3    

Transfer
out of

Level 3   

Balance at
June 30,

2012  
AFS fixed maturities:            

State and municipal   $ 72  $ —     $ 1   $ 9  $ —     $ 5    ($1)  $ 86 
Residential MBS    314   1   —       63   (7)   21    (72)   320 
Commercial MBS    20   —      —       —      —      —       —      20 
All other corporate    515   5   8    51   (22)   7    (7)   557 

Trading fixed maturities    1   —      —       —      —      —       —      1 
Equity securities    24   —      —       17   —      —       —      41 
Assets of MIE    64   —      —       1   (9)   —       (2)   54 
Liabilities of MIE (*)    (2,554)   (19)   —       —      144   —       —      (2,429) 
Embedded derivatives    (483)   —      —       (39)   10   —       —      (512) 
 
(*) Total realized/unrealized loss included in net income includes losses of $14 million related to liabilities outstanding as of June 30, 2012. See Note H —

“Managed Investment Entities.”
 

18



Table of Contents

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
 

  

     

Total
realized/unrealized

gains (losses)
included in                  

  

Balance at
March 31,

2011   
Net

income   

Other
comp.
income
(loss)   

Purchases
and

Issuances  
Sales and

Settlements  

Transfer
into

Level 3    

Transfer
out of

Level 3   

Balance at
June 30,

2011  
AFS fixed maturities:           

State and municipal   $ 21  $ —     $ —     $ 53  $ —     $ 10   $ —     $ 84 
Residential MBS    271   —      (2)   17   (7)   —       (24)   255 
Commercial MBS    9   —      —      —      —      1    —      10 
All other corporate    424   1   6   46   (26)   2    (71)   382 

Trading fixed maturities    1   —      —      —      —      —       —      1 
Equity securities    21   —      —      —      —      —       —      21 
Assets of MIE    54   —      —      9   (2)   2    (10)   53 
Liabilities of MIE (*)    (2,316)   (10)   —      —      4   —       —      (2,322) 
Embedded derivatives    (234)   (10)   —      (60)   5   —       —      (299) 
 
(*) Total realized/unrealized loss included in net income includes losses of $10 million related to liabilities outstanding as of June 30, 2011. See Note H —

“Managed Investment Entities.”
 

  

     

Total
realized/unrealized

gains (losses)
included in                   

  

Balance at
December 31,

2011   
Net

income   

Other
comp.
income
(loss)    

Purchases
and

Issuances  
Sales and

Settlements  

Transfer
into

Level 3    

Transfer
out of

Level 3   

Balance at
June 30,

2012  
AFS fixed maturities:            

State and municipal   $ 83  $ —     $ 1   $ 19  $ —     $ 5    ($22)  $ 86 
Residential MBS    361   2   —       71   (17)   81    (178)   320 
Commercial MBS    19   —      1    —      —      —       —      20 
All other corporate    519   7   11    77   (38)   28    (47)   557 

Trading fixed maturities    1   —      —       —      —      —       —      1 
Equity securities    11   —      —       26   —      4    —      41 
Assets of MIE    44   —      —       13   (12)   14    (5)   54 
Liabilities of MIE (*)    (2,593)   (103)   —       (366)   633   —       —      (2,429) 
Embedded derivatives    (395)   (62)   —       (73)   18   —       —      (512) 
 
(*) Total realized/unrealized loss included in net income includes losses of $51 million related to liabilities outstanding as of June 30, 2012. See Note H —

“Managed Investment Entities.”
 

  

     

Total
realized/unrealized

gains (losses)
included in                  

  

Balance at
December 31,

2010   
Net

income   

Other
comp.
income
(loss)   

Purchases
and

Issuances  
Sales and

Settlements  

Transfer
into

Level 3    

Transfer
out of

Level 3   

Balance at
June 30,

2011  
AFS fixed maturities:           

State and municipal   $ 20  $ —     $ 1  $ 53  $ —     $ 10   $ —     $ 84 
Residential MBS    312   1   (2)   17   (20)   7    (60)   255 
Commercial MBS    6   —      —      —      —      4    —      10 
All other corporate    436   (1)   6   91   (37)   24    (137)   382 

Trading fixed maturities    3   —      —      —      —      —       (2)   1 
Equity securities    21   —      2   —      (2)   —       —      21 
Assets of MIE    48   (1)   —      16   (6)   8    (12)   53 
Liabilities of MIE (*)    (2,258)   (72)   —      —      8   —       —      (2,322) 
Embedded derivatives    (190)   (29)   —      (90)   10   —       —      (299) 
 
(*) Total realized/unrealized loss included in net income includes losses of $71 million related to liabilities outstanding as of June 30, 2011. See Note H —

“Managed Investment Entities.”
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The carrying value and fair value of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value in the financial statements are summarized below (in millions):
 

June 30, 2012   
Carrying

Value    
Fair

Value    Level 1    Level 2    Level 3  
Financial assets:           
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,523    $ 1,523    $1,523    $ —      $ —    
Mortgage loans    488     491     —       —       491  
Policy loans    247     247     —       —       247  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total financial assets not accounted for at fair value   $ 2,258    $ 2,261    $1,523    $ —      $ 738  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Financial liabilities:           
Annuity benefits accumulated (*)   $16,559    $16,773    $ —      $ —      $16,773  
Long-term debt    1,158     1,271     —       1,158     113  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total financial liabilities not accounted for at fair value   $17,717    $18,044    $ —      $1,158    $16,886  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(*) Excludes life contingent annuities in the payout phase.

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value. Fair values for mortgage loans are estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows using the current rates at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings. The fair value of policy loans
is estimated to approximate carrying value; policy loans have no defined maturity dates and are inseparable from insurance contracts. The fair value of
annuity benefits was estimated based on expected cash flows discounted using forward interest rates adjusted for the Company’s credit risk and includes
the impact of maintenance expenses and capital costs. Fair values of long-term debt are based primarily on quoted market prices.

 
E. Investments

Available for sale fixed maturities and equity securities at June 30, 2012, and December 31, 2011, consisted of the following (in millions):
 

  
  June 30, 2012   December 31, 2011  
  Amortized

Cost  
  Fair

Value  
  Gross Unrealized   Amortized

Cost  
  Fair

Value  
  Gross Unrealized  

      Gains    Losses       Gains    Losses  
Fixed maturities:                

U.S. Government and government agencies   $ 362    $ 379    $ 17    $ —     $ 363    $ 382    $ 19    $ —    
States, municipalities and political subdivisions    3,756     4,067     313     (2)   3,613     3,877     267     (3) 
Foreign government    238     256     18     —      236     254     18     —    
Residential MBS    4,103     4,189     212     (126)   3,858     3,848     170     (180) 
Commercial MBS    2,636     2,886     250     —      2,628     2,840     218     (6) 
All other corporate    10,278     11,204     949     (23)   9,864     10,606     802     (60) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total fixed maturities   $21,373    $22,981    $1,759     ($151)  $20,562    $21,807    $1,494     ($249) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Common stocks   $ 726    $ 945    $ 236     ($17)  $ 610    $ 797    $ 207     ($20) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Perpetual preferred stocks   $ 171    $ 176    $ 8     ($3)  $ 134    $ 131    $ 5     ($8) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The non-credit related portion of other-than-temporary impairment charges are included in other comprehensive income. Cumulative charges taken for
residential MBS still owned at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively were $229 million and $227 million.
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The following tables show gross unrealized losses (in millions) on fixed maturities and equity securities by investment category and length of time that
individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

 

  
  Less Than Twelve Months   Twelve Months or More  
  Unrealized

Loss  
 Fair

Value  
  Fair Value as

% of  Cost  
 Unrealized

Loss  
 Fair

Value  
  Fair Value as

% of  Cost           
June 30, 2012          
Fixed maturities:          

U.S. Government and government agencies   $ —     $ 26    100%  $ —     $—       —  % 
States, municipalities and political subdivisions    (1)   101    99%   (1)   16    94%
Foreign government    —      —       —  %   —      —       —  % 
Residential MBS    (22)   696    97%   (104)   602    85%
Commercial MBS    —      39    99%   —      —       —  % 
All other corporate    (10)   408    98%   (13)   166    93%

    
 

   
 

     
 

   
 

  

Total fixed maturities    ($33)  $1,270    97%   ($118)  $784    87%
    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

  

Common stocks    ($16)  $ 146    90%   ($1)  $ 4    80%
    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

  

Perpetual preferred stocks    ($1)  $ 9    90%   ($2)  $ 22    92%
    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

  

December 31, 2011          
Fixed maturities:          

U.S. Government and government agencies   $ —     $ 2    100%  $ —     $—       —  % 
States, municipalities and political subdivisions    (2)   120    98%   (1)   59    98%
Foreign government    —      1    100%   —      —       —  % 
Residential MBS    (59)   1,141    95%   (121)   473    80%
Commercial MBS    (6)   183    97%   —      18    100%
All other corporate    (43)   940    96%   (17)   114    87%

    
 

   
 

     
 

   
 

  

Total fixed maturities    ($110)  $2,387    96%   ($139)  $664    83%
    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

  

Common stocks    ($19)  $ 169    90%   ($1)  $ 4    80%
    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

  

Perpetual preferred stocks    ($1)  $ 23    96%   ($7)  $ 31    82%
    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

  

At June 30, 2012, the gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities of $151 million relate to approximately 625 securities. Investment grade securities (as
determined by nationally recognized rating agencies) represented approximately 21% of the gross unrealized loss and 49% of the fair value.

AFG analyzes its MBS securities for other-than-temporary impairment each quarter based upon expected future cash flows. Management estimates
expected future cash flows based upon its knowledge of the MBS market, cash flow projections (which reflect loan to collateral values, subordination,
vintage and geographic concentration) received from independent sources, implied cash flows inherent in security ratings and analysis of historical
payment data. For the first six months of 2012, AFG recorded in earnings $4 million in other-than-temporary impairment charges related to its residential
MBS.
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A progression of the credit portion of other-than-temporary impairments on fixed maturity securities for which the non-credit portion of an impairment has
been recognized in other comprehensive income is shown below (in millions).

 
    2012    2011  
Balance at March 31   $190   $151 
Additional credit impairments on:     

Previously impaired securities    1    22 
Securities without prior impairments    —       4 

Reductions — disposals    —       (6) 
    

 
    

 

Balance at June 30   $191   $171 
    

 

    

 

Balance at January 1   $187   $143 
Additional credit impairments on:     

Previously impaired securities    4    29 
Securities without prior impairments    —       5 

Reductions — disposals    —       (6) 
    

 
    

 

Balance at June 30   $191   $171 
    

 

    

 

The table below sets forth the scheduled maturities of available for sale fixed maturities as of June 30, 2012 (in millions). Asset-backed securities and other
securities with sinking funds are reported at average maturity. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because certain securities may be
called or prepaid by the issuers. MBS had an average life of approximately 4 years at June 30, 2012.

 

    Amortized   Fair Value  
  Cost    Amount    %  

Maturity       
One year or less   $ 791    $ 806     3% 
After one year through five years    5,374     5,735     25 
After five years through ten years    6,399     7,068     31 
After ten years    2,070     2,297     10 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   14,634     15,906     69 
MBS    6,739     7,075     31 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $21,373    $22,981     100% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Certain risks are inherent in connection with fixed maturity securities, including loss upon default, price volatility in reaction to changes in interest rates,
and general market factors and risks associated with reinvestment of proceeds due to prepayments or redemptions in a period of declining interest rates.

There were no investments in individual issuers that exceeded 10% of Shareholders’ Equity at June 30, 2012 or December 31, 2011.
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Net Unrealized Gain on Marketable Securities In addition to adjusting equity securities and fixed maturity securities classified as “available for sale” to
fair value, GAAP requires that deferred policy acquisition costs related to annuities and certain other balance sheet amounts be adjusted to the extent that
unrealized gains and losses from securities would result in adjustments to those balances had the unrealized gains or losses actually been realized. The
following table shows (in millions) the components of the net unrealized gain on securities that is included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
in AFG’s Balance Sheet.

 

    Pre-tax   

Deferred Tax and
Amounts 

Attributable
to Noncontrolling

Interests   Net  
June 30, 2012     
Unrealized gain on:     

Fixed maturities   $1,608   ($573)  $1,035 
Equity securities    224   (79)   145 

Deferred policy acquisition costs    (642)   225   (417) 
Annuity benefits and other liabilities    13   (5)   8 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  $1,203   ($432)  $ 771 
    

 

   

 

   

 

December 31, 2011     
Unrealized gain on:     

Fixed maturities   $1,245   ($444)  $ 801 
Equity securities    184   (65)   119 

Deferred policy acquisition costs    (537)   188   (349) 
Annuity benefits and other liabilities    10   (3)   7 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  $ 902   ($324)  $ 578 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Realized gains (losses) and changes in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) related to fixed maturity and equity security investments are summarized as
follows (in millions):

 

    
Fixed

Maturities  
Equity

Securities  

Mortgage
Loans

and Other
Investments  Other (a)  

Tax
Effects  

Noncon-
trolling
Interests  Total  

Quarter ended June 30, 2012         
Realized before impairments   $ 6  $ 21   ($4)  $ —      ($8)   ($1)  $ 14 
Realized — impairments    —      (8)   —      1   3   —      (4) 
Change in unrealized    231   (30)   —      (100)   (35)   —      66 

Quarter ended June 30, 2011         
Realized before impairments   $ 11  $ 34   ($5)  $ —      ($15)   ($1)  $ 24 
Realized — impairments    (26)   —      (1)   6   8   —      (13) 
Change in unrealized    208   (15)   —      (42)   (53)   (2)   96 

Six months ended June 30, 2012         
Realized before impairments   $ 20  $ 56   ($3)   ($2)   ($25)   ($1)  $ 45 
Realized — impairments    (4)   (10)   —      3   4   —      (7) 
Change in unrealized    363   40   —      (102)   (105)   (3)   193 

Six months ended June 30, 2011         
Realized before impairments   $ 24  $ 35   ($7)   ($2)   ($18)   ($1)  $ 31 
Realized — impairments    (37)   —      (4)   10   11   —      (20) 
Change in unrealized    245   (2)   —      (64)   (63)   (2)   114 
 
(a) Primarily adjustments to deferred policy acquisition costs related to annuities.
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Realized gains (losses) on securities includes net losses of $1 million in the second quarter and net gains of $3 million in the first six months of 2012
compared to net losses of less than $1 million in the second quarter and $3 million in the first six months of 2011 from the mark-to-market of certain MBS,
primarily interest-only securities with interest rates that float inversely with short-term rates. Gross realized gains and losses (excluding impairment
writedowns and mark-to-market of derivatives) on available for sale fixed maturity and equity security investment transactions included in the Statement of
Cash Flows consisted of the following (in millions):

 

    
Six months ended

June  30,  
  2012   2011  

Fixed maturities:    
Gross gains   $ 18  $ 29 
Gross losses    (1)   (2) 

Equity securities:    
Gross gains    57   36 
Gross losses    (1)   —    

 
F. Derivatives

As discussed under “Derivatives” in Note A, AFG uses derivatives in certain areas of its operations. AFG’s derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting
under GAAP; changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in earnings.

The following derivatives are included in AFG’s Balance Sheet at fair value (in millions):
 
       June 30, 2012    December 31, 2011  
Derivative   Balance Sheet Line   Asset    Liability   Asset    Liability  
MBS with embedded derivatives   Fixed maturities   $ 97    $ —      $ 99    $ —    
Interest rate swaptions   Other investments    2     —       5     —    
Indexed annuities (embedded derivative)   Annuity benefits accumulated   —       512    —       395 
Equity index call options   Other investments    129     —       66     —    
Reinsurance contracts (embedded derivative)   Other liabilities    —       26    —       23 

      
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    $228    $ 538   $ 170    $ 418 
      

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The MBS with embedded derivatives consist primarily of interest-only MBS with interest rates that float inversely with short-term rates. AFG records the
entire change in the fair value of these securities in earnings. These investments are part of AFG’s overall investment strategy and represent a small
component of AFG’s overall investment portfolio.

AFG has entered into $1 billion notional amount of pay-fixed interest rate swaptions (options to enter into pay-fixed/receive floating interest rate swaps at
future dates expiring between 2012 and 2015) to mitigate interest rate risk in its annuity operations. AFG paid $29 million to purchase these swaptions,
which represents its maximum potential economic loss over the life of the contracts.
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AFG’s indexed annuities, which represented approximately one-third of annuity benefits accumulated at June 30, 2012, provide policyholders with a
crediting rate tied, in part, to the performance of an existing stock market index. AFG attempts to mitigate the risk in the index-based component of these
products through the purchase of call options on the appropriate index. AFG’s strategy is designed so that an increase in the liabilities, due to an increase in
the market index, will be generally offset by unrealized and realized gains on the call options purchased by AFG. Both the index-based component of the
annuities and the related call options are considered derivatives. As shown in the table below, the embedded derivative remained relatively flat while the
call options declined in value during the second quarter of 2012. The decline in fair value of the options reflects the decline in the stock market during the
quarter. However, the negative impact of lower interest rates more than offset the positive impact of the stock market performance on the fair value of the
indexed annuity embedded derivative.

As discussed under “Reinsurance” in Note A, certain reinsurance contracts in AFG’s annuity and supplemental insurance business are considered to
contain embedded derivatives.

The following table summarizes the gain (loss) included in the Statement of Earnings for changes in the fair value of these derivatives for the second
quarter and first six months of 2012 and 2011 (in millions):

 

       
Three months ended

June  30,   
Six months ended

June  30,  
Derivative   Statement of Earnings Line   2012   2011   2012   2011  
MBS with embedded derivatives   Realized gains    ($1)  $ —     $ 3   ($3) 
Interest rate swaptions   Realized gains    (3)   (5)   (3)   (7) 
Indexed annuities (embedded derivative)   Annuity benefits    —      (10)   (62)   (29) 
Equity index call options   Annuity benefits    (20)   2   37   20 
Reinsurance contracts (embedded derivative)   Investment income    (4)   (4)   (3)   (4) 

      
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

     ($28)   ($17)   ($28)   ($23) 
      

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
G. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Deferred policy acquisition costs consisted of the following (in millions):
 

    
June 30,

2012   
December 31,

2011  
Property and casualty insurance   $ 198  $ 189 
Annuity and supplemental insurance:    

Policy acquisition costs    955   898 
Policyholder sales inducements    200   207 
Present value of future profits (“PVFP”)    135   144 
Impact of unrealized gains and losses on securities    (642)   (537) 

    
 

   
 

Total annuity and supplemental    648   712 
    

 
   

 

  $ 846  $ 901 
    

 

   

 

See Accounting Standards Adopted in 2012 under Note A – “Accounting Policies.”

The PVFP amounts in the table above are net of $204 million and $195 million of accumulated amortization at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs for the second quarter and first six months of 2012 and 2011 were as follows (in millions):
 

    
Three months ended

June 30,    
Six months ended

June 30,  
  2012    2011    2012    2011  

Property and casualty insurance   $ 111   $ 108   $ 212   $ 208 
Annuity and supplemental insurance:         

Policy acquisition costs    31    30    59    62 
Policyholder sales inducements    8    7    16    14 
PVFP    4    5    9    11 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total annuity and supplemental    43    42    84    87 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

  $ 154   $ 150   $ 296   $ 295 
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H. Managed Investment Entities

AFG is the investment manager and has investments ranging from 7.5% to 51.2% of the most subordinate debt tranche of eight collateralized loan
obligation entities or “CLOs,” which are considered variable interest entities. Upon formation between 2004 and 2012, these entities issued securities in
various senior and subordinate classes and invested the proceeds primarily in secured bank loans, which serve as collateral for the debt securities issued by
each particular CLO. None of the collateral was purchased from AFG. AFG’s investments in the subordinate debt tranches of these entities receive residual
income from the CLOs only after the CLOs pay operating expenses (including management fees to AFG), interest on and returns of capital to senior levels
of debt securities. There are no contractual requirements for AFG to provide additional funding for these entities. AFG has not provided and does not
intend to provide any financial support to these entities.

AFG’s maximum ultimate exposure to economic loss on its CLOs is limited to its investment in the CLOs, which had an aggregate fair value of
$196 million at June 30, 2012, and $98 million at December 31, 2011.

In February 2012, one of the AFG CLOs was substantially liquidated at the instruction of the holder of the majority of the most subordinate debt tranche, as
permitted by the CLO indentures. In March 2012, AFG formed a new CLO, which issued $410 million face amount of liabilities (including $39 million
face amount purchased by subsidiaries of AFG).

The revenues and expenses of the CLOs are separately identified in AFG’s Statement of Earnings, after the elimination of management fees and earnings
attributable to shareholders of AFG as measured by the change in the fair value of AFG’s investments in the CLOs. Selected financial information related
to the CLOs is shown below (in millions):

 

    
Three months ended

June 30,   
Six months ended

June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  

Gains (losses) on change in fair value of assets/liabilities (a):      
Assets    ($2)   ($12) $ 53  $ 17 
Liabilities    (19)   (10)  (103)   (72)

Management fees paid to AFG    4   5   8   8 
CLO earnings (losses) attributable to:      

AFG shareholders (b)    5   1   10   7 
Noncontrolling interests (b)    (18)   (20)  (46)   (55)

 
(a) Included in AFG’s “Revenues.”
(b) Included in AFG’s “Operating earnings before income taxes.”

The aggregate unpaid principal balance of the CLOs’ fixed maturity investments exceeded the fair value of the investments by $66 million and
$120 million at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011. The aggregate unpaid principal balance of the CLOs’ debt exceeded its fair value by $203 million
and $306 million at those dates. The CLO assets include $5 million and $2 million in loans (aggregate unpaid principal balance of $12 million and
$7 million, respectively) at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, for which the CLOs are not accruing interest because the loans are in default.
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I. Goodwill and Other Intangibles

There were no changes in the goodwill balance of $186 million during the six months ended June 30, 2012. Included in other assets in AFG’s Balance
Sheet is $35 million at June 30, 2012 and $41 million at December 31, 2011, in amortizable intangible assets related to property and casualty insurance
acquisitions. These amounts are net of accumulated amortization of $54 million and $47 million, respectively. Amortization of these intangibles was
$3 million in each of the second quarters of 2012 and 2011 and $7 million and $6 million in the first six months of 2012 and 2011, respectively. Other
assets also include $8 million in non-amortizable intangible assets related to property and casualty insurance acquisitions.

 
J. Long-Term Debt

The carrying value of long-term debt consisted of the following (in millions):
 

    
June 30,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
Direct obligations of AFG:     

9-7/8% Senior Notes due June 2019   $ 350   $ 350 
6-3/8% Senior Notes due June 2042    230    —    
7% Senior Notes due September 2050    132    132 
7-1/8% Senior Debentures due February 2034    115    115 
Other    3    3 

    
 

    
 

   830    600 
    

 
    

 

Subsidiaries:     
Obligations of AAG Holding (guaranteed by AFG):     

7-1/2% Senior Debentures due November 2033(*)    112    112 
7-1/4% Senior Debentures due January 2034(*)    86    86 

Notes payable secured by real estate due 2012 through 2016    64    64 
Secured borrowings ($16 and $17 guaranteed by AFG)    24    30 
National Interstate bank credit facility    22    22 

    
 

    
 

   308    314 
    

 
    

 

Payable to Subsidiary Trusts:     
AAG Holding Variable Rate Subordinated Debentures due May 2033    20    20 

    
 

    
 

  $1,158   $ 934 
    

 

    

 

 
(*) Called for redemption on July 13, 2012 at par value.

Scheduled principal payments on debt for the balance of 2012 and the subsequent five years were as follows: 2012 — $28 million; 2013 — $20 million;
2014 — $2 million; 2015 — $14 million; 2016 — $45 million and 2017 — none.

As shown below (in millions), the majority of AFG’s long-term debt is unsecured obligations of the holding company and its subsidiaries:
 

    
June 30,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
Unsecured obligations   $1,070   $ 840 
Obligations secured by real estate    64    64 
Other secured borrowings    24    30 

    
 

    
 

  $1,158   $ 934 
    

 

    

 

AFG can borrow up to $500 million under its revolving credit facility which expires in August 2013. Amounts borrowed under this agreement bear interest
at rates ranging from 1.75% to 3.00% (currently 2%) over LIBOR based on AFG’s credit rating. No amounts were borrowed under this facility at June 30,
2012.
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In June 2012, AFG issued $230 million in 6-3/8% Senior Notes due 2042 and used the proceeds to redeem the outstanding AAG Holding Company, Inc. (a
subsidiary of AFG) 7-1/2% Senior Debentures due 2033 and 7-1/4% Senior Debentures due 2034 at par value in July 2012.

 
K. Shareholders’ Equity

AFG is authorized to issue 12.5 million shares of Voting Preferred Stock and 12.5 million shares of Nonvoting Preferred Stock, each without par value.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax (“AOCI”) Comprehensive income is defined as all changes in Shareholders’ Equity except
those arising from transactions with shareholders. Comprehensive income includes net earnings and other comprehensive income (“OCI”), which consists
primarily of changes in net unrealized gains or losses on available for sale securities. The progression of the components of accumulated other
comprehensive income follows (in millions):

 
       OCI     

    

AOCI
Beginning
Balance   

Pre-
tax   Tax   

Non-
controlling

interests   Net   

AOCI
Ending
Balance 

Quarter ended June 30, 2012        
Net unrealized gains on securities   $ 705(a)  $101   ($35)  $ —     $ 66  $ 771(a) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    16   (8)   —      1   (7)   9 
Pension and other postretirement plans adjustments    (7)   —      —      —      —      (7)

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 714  $ 93   ($35)  $ 1  $ 59  $ 773 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Quarter ended June 30, 2011        
Net unrealized gains on securities   $ 509  $151   ($53)   ($2)  $ 96  $ 605 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    19   (2)   —      —      (2)   17 
Pension and other postretirement plans adjustments    (8)   1   —      —      1   (7)

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 520  $150   ($53)   ($2)  $ 95  $ 615 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Six months ended June 30, 2012        
Net unrealized gains on securities   $ 578(a)  $301   ($105)   ($3)  $193  $ 771(a) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    10   (1)   —      —      (1)   9 
Pension and other postretirement plans adjustments    (8)   1   —      —      1   (7)

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 580  $301   ($105)   ($3)  $193  $ 773 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Six months ended June 30, 2011        
Net unrealized gains on securities   $ 491  $179   ($63)   ($2)  $114  $ 605 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    12   5   —      —      5   17 
Pension and other postretirement plans adjustments    (8)   1   —      —      1   (7)

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 495  $185   ($63)   ($2)  $120  $ 615 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(a) Includes net unrealized losses of $1 million at June 30, 2012, $8 million at March 31, 2012 and $16 million at December 31, 2011 related to securities for

which only the credit portion of an other-than-temporary impairment has been recorded in earnings.

Stock Based Compensation Under AFG’s Stock Incentive Plan, employees of AFG and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive equity awards in the form of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and stock awards. In the first six months of 2012, AFG issued
131,731 shares of restricted Common Stock (fair value of $38.11 per share) and granted stock options for 1.1 million shares of Common Stock (at an
average exercise price of $38.11) under the Stock Incentive Plan. In addition, AFG issued 111,270 shares of Common Stock (fair value of $38.38 per share)
in the first quarter of 2012 under its Annual Co-CEO Equity Bonus Plan.
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AFG uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the “fair value” of its option grants. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility over
a period equal to the expected term. The expected term was estimated based on historical exercise patterns and post vesting cancellations. The weighted
average fair value of options granted during 2012 was $13.02 per share based on the following assumptions: expected dividend yield — 1.8%; expected
volatility — 39%; expected term — 7.3 years; risk-free rate — 1.4%.

Total compensation expense related to stock incentive plans of AFG and its subsidiaries was $9 million and $5 million in the second quarter and
$15 million and $10 million in the first six months of 2012 and 2011, respectively.

 
L. Income Taxes

Income (losses) attributable to noncontrolling interests related to AFG’s managed investment entities are non-taxable (non-deductible). Operating earnings
before income taxes includes $18 million and $20 million in the second quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively, and $46 million and $55 million in the first
six months of 2012 and 2011, respectively, of such non-deductible losses, thereby increasing AFG’s effective tax rate.

AFG has been involved in litigation with the IRS regarding the calculation of tax reserves for certain annuity reserves pursuant to Actuarial Guideline 33.
In 2010, the U.S. District Court in Southern Ohio issued a final summary judgment in favor of AFG. The IRS appealed the District Court decision to the
Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals, which heard oral arguments on March 7, 2012. Resolution of the case and closure of subsequent tax years could result in a
decrease in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits by up to $36 million and a decrease in related accrued interest of $16 million. These amounts do not
include tax and interest paid to the IRS in 2005 and 2006, for which the suit was filed, totaling $17 million. On May 4, 2012, the Sixth Circuit Court of
Appeals affirmed the summary judgment of the District Court in favor of AFG. See Note N — “Subsequent Event.”

During the first six months of 2012, there were no material changes to AFG’s liability for uncertain tax positions, which is discussed in Note L — “Income
Taxes,” to AFG’s 2011 Form 10-K.

 
M. Contingencies

There have been no significant changes to the matters discussed and referred to in Note M — “Contingencies” of AFG’s 2011 Form 10-K covering
property and casualty insurance reserves for claims related to environmental exposures, asbestos and other mass tort claims as well as environmental and
occupational injury and disease claims of former subsidiary railroad and manufacturing operations.

 
N. Subsequent Event As discussed in Note L — “Income Taxes,” AFG was involved in litigation with the IRS regarding the calculation of tax reserves for

certain annuity liabilities. On August 2, 2012, the 90 day period for the IRS to seek a discretionary appeal of the Sixth District Court of Appeals decision in
this case expired and the decision in favor of AFG became final. As a result, AFG recorded net earnings of approximately $28 million in the third quarter of
2012 representing the refund of taxes and interest paid to the IRS in 2005 and 2006 as well as a decrease in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits and
related accrued interest. AFG expects to record additional amounts as subsequent tax years are closed.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements. Some of the forward-looking statements can be
identified by the use of words such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “expects”, “projects”, “estimates”, “intends”, “plans”, “seeks”, “could”, “may”, “should”, “will”
or the negative version of those words or other comparable terminology. Such forward-looking statements include statements relating to: expectations concerning
market and other conditions and their effect on future premiums, revenues, earnings and investment activities; recoverability of asset values; expected losses and
the adequacy of reserves for long-term care, asbestos, environmental pollution and mass tort claims; rate changes; and improved loss experience.

Actual results and/or financial condition could differ materially from those contained in or implied by such forward-looking statements for a variety of reasons
including but not limited to:
 

 
•  changes in financial, political and economic conditions, including changes in interest and inflation rates, currency fluctuations and extended

economic recessions or expansions in the U.S. and abroad;
 

 •  performance of securities markets;
 

 
•  AFG’s ability to estimate accurately the likelihood, magnitude and timing of any losses in connection with investments in the non-agency residential

mortgage market;
 

 
•  new legislation or declines in credit quality or credit ratings that could have a material impact on the valuation of securities in AFG’s investment

portfolio;
 

 •  the availability of capital;
 

 •  regulatory actions (including changes in statutory accounting rules);
 

 •  changes in the legal environment affecting AFG or its customers;
 

 •  tax law and accounting changes;
 

 
•  levels of natural catastrophes and severe weather, terrorist activities (including any nuclear, biological, chemical or radiological events), incidents of

war or losses resulting from civil unrest and other major losses;
 

 
•  development of insurance loss reserves and establishment of other reserves, particularly with respect to amounts associated with asbestos and

environmental claims;
 

 •  availability of reinsurance and ability of reinsurers to pay their obligations;
 

 •  the unpredictability of possible future litigation if certain settlements of current litigation do not become effective;
 

 •  trends in persistency, mortality and morbidity;
 

 •  competitive pressures, including those in the bank annuity distribution channels, the ability to obtain adequate rates and policy terms; and
 

 •  changes in AFG’s credit ratings or the financial strength ratings assigned by major ratings agencies to AFG’s operating subsidiaries.

The forward-looking statements herein are made only as of the date of this report. The Company assumes no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking
statements.
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OVERVIEW

Financial Condition

AFG is organized as a holding company with almost all of its operations being conducted by subsidiaries. AFG, however, has continuing cash needs for
administrative expenses, the payment of principal and interest on borrowings, shareholder dividends, and taxes. Therefore, certain analyses are best done on a
parent only basis while others are best done on a total enterprise basis. In addition, because most of its businesses are financial in nature, AFG does not prepare its
consolidated financial statements using a current-noncurrent format. Consequently, certain traditional ratios and financial analysis tests are not meaningful.

Results of Operations

Through the operations of its subsidiaries, AFG is engaged primarily in property and casualty insurance, focusing on specialized commercial products for
businesses and in the sale of traditional fixed and indexed annuities and a variety of supplemental insurance products such as Medicare supplement (in May 2012,
AFG reached a definitive agreement to sell its core supplemental insurance operations in a transaction expected to close in the third quarter of 2012).

Net earnings attributable to AFG’s shareholders for the second quarter and first six months of 2012 were $99 million ($1.01 per share, diluted) and $212 million
($2.15 per share diluted), respectively, compared to $48 million ($.46 per share, diluted) and $136 million ($1.29 per share, diluted) reported in the same periods
of 2011. Improved operating results in the annuity and supplemental insurance group and improved underwriting results in the property and casualty insurance
operations were offset somewhat by lower investment income in AFG’s property and casualty insurance operations. Results for the second quarter and first six
months of 2011 include a special charge of $38 million ($.37 per share) to strengthen reserves for asbestos and other environmental (“A&E”) exposures, primarily
within the property and casualty run-off operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Significant accounting policies are summarized in Note A to the financial statements. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that can have a significant effect on amounts reported in the financial
statements. As more information becomes known, these estimates and assumptions change and thus impact amounts reported in the future. The areas where
management believes the degree of judgment required to determine amounts recorded in the financial statements make accounting policies critical are as follows:
 

 
•  the establishment of insurance reserves, especially asbestos and environmental-related reserves and reserves for AFG’s closed block of long-term

care business,
 

 •  the recoverability of reinsurance,
 

 •  the recoverability of deferred acquisition costs,
 

 •  the establishment of asbestos and environmental reserves of former railroad and manufacturing operations, and
 

 •  the valuation of investments, including the determination of “other-than-temporary” impairments.

For a discussion of these policies, see Management’s Discussion and Analysis — “Critical Accounting Policies” in AFG’s 2011 Form 10-K.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Ratios AFG’s debt to total capital ratio on a consolidated basis is shown below (dollars in millions).
 

    June 30,
2012(*)  

 December 31,  
   2011   2010  

Long-term debt   $1,158  $ 934  $ 952 
Total capital    5,180   4,860   4,894 
Ratio of debt to total capital:     

Including debt secured by real estate    22.4%  19.2%   19.5%
Excluding debt secured by real estate    21.4%  18.2%   18.4%

 
(*) Long-term debt and total capital include $199 million principal amount of subsidiary debt that was called for redemption in July 2012. The ratios of debt to

total capital at June 30, 2012, excluding the debt called for redemption, were 19.3% including debt secured by real estate and 18.2% excluding debt secured
by real estate. See Note J — “Long-Term Debt.”

The ratio of debt to total capital is a non-GAAP measure that management believes is useful for investors, analysts and independent ratings agencies to evaluate
AFG’s financial strength and liquidity and to provide insight into how AFG finances its operations. It is calculated by dividing AFG’s long-term debt by its total
capital, which includes long-term debt, noncontrolling interests and shareholders’ equity (excluding unrealized gains (losses) related to fixed maturity investments
and appropriated retained earnings related to managed investment entities).

AFG’s ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including annuity benefits as a fixed charge, was 2.00 for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 1.95 for the entire
year of 2011. Excluding annuity benefits, this ratio was 7.29 and 6.59, respectively. Although the ratio excluding annuity benefits is not required or encouraged to
be disclosed under Securities and Exchange Commission rules, it is presented because interest credited to annuity policyholder accounts is not always considered
a borrowing cost for an insurance company.

Parent and Subsidiary Liquidity

Parent Holding Company Liquidity Management believes AFG has sufficient resources to meet its liquidity requirements. If funds generated from operations,
including dividends, tax payments and borrowings from subsidiaries, are insufficient to meet fixed charges in any period, AFG would be required to utilize parent
company cash and marketable securities or to generate cash through borrowings, sales of other assets, or similar transactions.

AFG can borrow up to $500 million under its revolving credit facility which expires in August 2013. There were no borrowings under this agreement, or under
any other parent company short-term borrowing arrangements, during 2012. In June 2012, AFG issued $230 million of 6-3/8% Senior Notes due 2042 and used
the proceeds to redeem the outstanding AAG Holding Company, Inc. (a subsidiary of AFG) 7-1/2% Senior Debentures due 2033 and 7-1/4% Senior Debentures
due 2034 at par value in July 2012.

During the first six months of 2012, AFG repurchased 4.0 million shares of its Common Stock for $153 million. In July 2012, AFG repurchased approximately
1.1 million additional shares of its Common Stock for $42 million. During 2011, AFG repurchased 9.3 million shares of its Common Stock for $315 million.
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Under tax allocation agreements with AFG, its 80%-owned U.S. subsidiaries generally pay taxes to (or recover taxes from) AFG based on each subsidiary’s
contribution to amounts due under AFG’s consolidated tax return.

Subsidiary Liquidity Great American Life Insurance Company (“GALIC”), a wholly-owned annuity and supplemental insurance subsidiary, is a member of the
Federal Home Loan Bank of Cincinnati (“FHLB”). The FHLB makes advances and provides other banking services to member institutions, which provides the
annuity and supplemental insurance operations with a substantial additional source of liquidity. In the fourth quarter of 2011 the FHLB advanced GALIC
$240 million at interest rates ranging from .02% to .03% over LIBOR (average rate of .26% at June 30, 2012). While these advances must be repaid within 5 to 7
years, GALIC has the option to prepay all or a portion of the advances on a monthly basis. GALIC has invested the proceeds from the advances in fixed maturity
securities for the purpose of earning a spread over the interest payments due to the FHLB.

National Interstate Corporation, a 52%-owned property and casualty insurance subsidiary, can borrow up to $75 million, subject to certain conditions, under an
unsecured credit agreement expiring in December 2012. Amounts borrowed bear interest at rates ranging from .45% to .9% (currently .65%) over LIBOR based
on National Interstate’s credit rating. There was $22 million outstanding under this agreement at June 30, 2012. National Interstate expects to successfully replace
this credit agreement prior to its expiration.

The liquidity requirements of AFG’s insurance subsidiaries relate primarily to the liabilities associated with their products as well as operating costs and
expenses, payments of dividends and taxes to AFG and contributions of capital to their subsidiaries. Historically, cash flows from premiums and investment
income have generally provided more than sufficient funds to meet these requirements without requiring a sale of investments or contributions from AFG. Funds
received in excess of cash requirements are generally invested in additional marketable securities. In addition, the insurance subsidiaries generally hold a
significant amount of highly liquid, short-term investments.

The excess cash flow of AFG’s property and casualty group allows it to extend the duration of its investment portfolio somewhat beyond that of its claim
reserves.

In the annuity business, where profitability is largely dependent on earning a “spread” between invested assets and annuity liabilities, the duration of investments
is generally maintained close to that of liabilities. In a rising interest rate environment, significant protection from withdrawals exists in the form of temporary and
permanent surrender charges on AFG’s annuity products. With declining rates, AFG receives some protection (from spread compression) due to the ability to
lower crediting rates, subject to contractually guaranteed minimum interest rates (“GMIRs”). AFG began selling new policies with GMIRs below 2% in 2003;
almost all new business since late 2010 has been issued with a 1% GMIR. At June 30, 2012, the average crediting rate on AFG’s annuities was approximately
2.9%, while the average GMIR was approximately 2.3%. This margin provides AFG the flexibility to decrease its crediting rates by up to 60 basis points (on a
weighted average basis) on its $15 billion in annuities should market interest rates continue to remain low for a long period of time. The vast majority of such
decreases can be made within the next 12 months if necessary.
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AFG believes its insurance subsidiaries maintain sufficient liquidity to pay claims and benefits and operating expenses. In addition, these subsidiaries have
sufficient capital to meet commitments in the event of unforeseen events such as reserve deficiencies, inadequate premium rates or reinsurer insolvencies.
Nonetheless, changes in statutory accounting rules, significant declines in the fair value of the insurance subsidiaries’ investment portfolios or significant ratings
downgrades on these investments, could create a need for additional capital.

Investments AFG’s investment portfolio at June 30, 2012, contained $23.0 billion in “Fixed maturities” classified as available for sale and $1.1 billion in “Equity
securities,” all carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in a separate component of shareholders’ equity on an after-tax basis. In addition,
$447 million in fixed maturities were classified as trading with changes in unrealized holding gains or losses included in investment income.

Fair values for AFG’s portfolio are determined by AFG’s internal investment professionals using data from nationally recognized pricing services as well as non-
binding broker quotes. Fair values of equity securities are generally based on closing prices obtained from the pricing services. For mortgage-backed securities
(“MBS”), which comprise approximately 30% of AFG’s fixed maturities, prices for each security are generally obtained from both pricing services and broker
quotes. For the remainder of AFG’s fixed maturity portfolio, approximately 92% are priced using pricing services and the balance is priced primarily by using
non-binding broker quotes. When prices obtained for the same security vary, AFG’s internal investment professionals select the price they believe is most
indicative of an exit price.

The pricing services use a variety of observable inputs to estimate fair value of fixed maturities that do not trade on a daily basis. Based upon information
provided by the pricing services, these inputs include, but are not limited to, recent reported trades, benchmark yields, issuer spreads, bids or offers, reference
data, and measures of volatility. Included in the pricing of MBS are estimates of the rate of future prepayments and defaults of principal over the remaining life of
the underlying collateral. Due to the lack of transparency in the process that brokers use to develop prices, valuations that are based on brokers’ prices are
classified as Level 3 in the GAAP hierarchy unless the price can be corroborated, for example, by comparison to similar securities priced using observable inputs.

Valuation techniques utilized by pricing services and prices obtained from external sources are reviewed by AFG’s internal investment professionals who are
familiar with the securities being priced and the markets in which they trade to ensure the fair value determination is representative of an exit price. To validate
the appropriateness of the prices obtained, these investment managers consider widely published indices (as benchmarks), recent trades, changes in interest rates,
general economic conditions and the credit quality of the specific issuers. In addition, AFG communicates directly with the pricing service regarding the methods
and assumptions used in pricing, including verifying, on a test basis, the inputs used by the service to value specific securities. Prices obtained from a broker or
pricing service are adjusted only in cases where they are deemed not to be representative of an appropriate exit price (fewer than 1% of the securities).
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In general, the fair value of AFG’s fixed maturity investments is inversely correlated to changes in interest rates. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
of such fair values to reasonably likely changes in interest rates by illustrating the estimated effect on AFG’s fixed maturity portfolio that an immediate increase
of 100 basis points in the interest rate yield curve would have at June 30, 2012 (dollars in millions). Increases or decreases from the 100 basis points illustrated
would be approximately proportional.
 

Fair value of fixed maturity portfolio   $ 23,428 
Pretax impact on fair value of 100 bps increase in interest rates    ($1,031) 
Pretax impact as % of total fixed maturity portfolio    4.4% 

Approximately 87% of the fixed maturities held by AFG at June 30, 2012, were rated “investment grade” (credit rating of AAA to BBB) by nationally recognized
rating agencies. Investment grade securities generally bear lower yields and lower degrees of risk than those that are unrated and noninvestment grade.
Management believes that the high quality investment portfolio should generate a stable and predictable investment return.

MBS are subject to significant prepayment risk due to the fact that, in periods of declining interest rates, mortgages may be repaid more rapidly than scheduled as
borrowers refinance higher rate mortgages to take advantage of lower rates. Although interest rates have been low for the last few years, a weak housing market
and uncertain economic conditions have led to tighter lending standards, which have resulted in fewer buyers being able to refinance the mortgages underlying
much of AFG’s non-agency residential MBS portfolio.

Summarized information for AFG’s MBS (including those classified as trading) at June 30, 2012, is shown (in millions) in the table below. Agency-backed
securities are those issued by a U.S. government-backed agency; Alt-A mortgages are those with risk profiles between prime and subprime. The majority of the
Alt-A securities and substantially all of the subprime securities are backed by fixed-rate mortgages. The average life of both the residential and commercial MBS
is approximately 4 years.
 

Collateral type   
Amortized

Cost    Fair Value   
Fair Value as
% of  Cost   

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)  

% Rated
Investment

Grade  
Residential:         

Agency-backed   $ 268    $ 281     105%  $ 13   100%
Non-agency prime    2,296     2,393     104   97   53 
Alt-A    844     820     97   (24)   37 
Subprime    701     698     100   (3)   27 

Commercial    2,667     2,917     109   250   99 
Other    25     28     112   3   61 

    
 

    
 

     
 

 

  $ 6,801    $ 7,137     105%  $ 336   69%
    

 

    

 

     

 

 

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) assigns creditworthiness designations on a scale of 1 to 6 with 1 being the highest quality and 6
being the lowest quality. The NAIC retained a third-party investment management firm to assist in the determination of appropriate NAIC designations for
mortgage-backed securities based not only on the probability of loss (which is the primary basis of ratings by the major ratings firms), but also on the severity of
loss and statutory carrying value. At June 30, 2012, 97% (based on statutory carrying value of $6.7 billion) of AFG’s MBS securities had an NAIC designation of
1 or 2.

Municipal bonds represented approximately 18% of AFG’s fixed maturity portfolio at June 30, 2012. AFG’s municipal bond portfolio is high quality, with 99% of
the securities rated investment grade at that date. The portfolio is well diversified across the states of issuance and individual issuers. At June 30, 2012,
approximately 77% of the municipal bond portfolio was held in revenue bonds, with the remaining 23% held in general obligation bonds. State general obligation
securities of California, Illinois, New Jersey and New York collectively represented only 2% of this portfolio.
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Summarized information for the unrealized gains and losses recorded in AFG’s Balance Sheet at June 30, 2012, is shown in the following table (dollars in
millions). Approximately $129 million of available for sale “Fixed maturities” and $72 million of “Equity securities” had no unrealized gains or losses at June 30,
2012.
 

    

Securities
With

Unrealized
Gains   

Securities
With

Unrealized
Losses  

Available for Sale Fixed Maturities    
Fair value of securities   $ 20,798  $ 2,054 
Amortized cost of securities   $ 19,039  $ 2,205 
Gross unrealized gain (loss)   $ 1,759   ($151) 
Fair value as % of amortized cost    109%   93% 
Number of security positions    4,105   625 
Number individually exceeding

$2 million gain or loss    163   4 
Concentration of gains (losses) by type or

industry (exceeding 5% of unrealized):    
Mortgage-backed securities   $ 462   ($126) 
States and municipalities    313   (2) 
Gas and electric services    175   (2) 
Banks, savings and credit institutions    122   (5) 

Percentage rated investment grade    91%   49% 

Equity Securities    
Fair value of securities   $ 868  $ 181 
Cost of securities   $ 624  $ 201 
Gross unrealized gain (loss)   $ 244(*)   ($20) 
Fair value as % of cost    139%   90% 
Number of security positions    181   62 
Number individually exceeding

$2 million gain or loss    19   2 
 
(*) Includes $98 million on AFG’s investment in Verisk Analytics, Inc.

The table below sets forth the scheduled maturities of AFG’s available for sale fixed maturity securities at June 30, 2012, based on their fair values. Asset-backed
securities and other securities with sinking funds are reported at average maturity. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because certain
securities may be called or prepaid by the issuers.
 

    

Securities
With

Unrealized
Gains   

Securities
With

Unrealized
Losses  

Maturity    
One year or less    4%  1%
After one year through five years    26   14 
After five years through ten years    33   13 
After ten years    10   7 

    
 

   
 

   73   35 
Mortgage-backed securities (average life of approximately four years)    27   65 

    
 

   
 

   100%  100%
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The table below (dollars in millions) summarizes the unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity securities by dollar amount.
 

    

Aggregate
Fair

Value    

Aggregate
Unrealized
Gain (Loss)  

Fair
Value as

% of Cost
Basis  

Fixed Maturities at June 30, 2012      

Securities with unrealized gains:      
Exceeding $500,000 (1,008 securities)   $11,838   $ 1,310   112% 
$500,000 or less (3,097 securities)    8,960    449   105 

    
 

    
 

 

  $20,798   $ 1,759   109% 
    

 

    

 

 

Securities with unrealized losses:      
Exceeding $500,000 (87 securities)   $ 470    ($95)   83% 
$500,000 or less (538 securities)    1,584    (56)   97 

    
 

    
 

 

  $ 2,054    ($151)   93% 
    

 

    

 

 

The following table summarizes (dollars in millions) the unrealized loss for all securities with unrealized losses by issuer quality and length of time those
securities have been in an unrealized loss position.
 

    

Aggregate
Fair

Value    

Aggregate
Unrealized

Loss   

Fair
Value as

% of Cost
Basis  

Securities with Unrealized Losses at June 30, 2012      

Investment grade fixed maturities with losses for:      
Less than one year (139 securities)   $ 669    ($9)   99% 
One year or longer (115 securities)    332    (23)   94 

    
 

    
 

 

  $ 1,001    ($32)   97% 
    

 

    

 

 

Non-investment grade fixed maturities with losses for:      
Less than one year (168 securities)   $ 601    ($24)   96% 
One year or longer (203 securities)    452    (95)   83 

    
 

    
 

 

  $ 1,053    ($119)   90% 
    

 

    

 

 

Common equity securities with losses for:      
Less than one year (49 securities)   $ 146    ($16)   90% 
One year or longer (3 securities)    4    (1)   80 

    
 

    
 

 

  $ 150    ($17)   90% 
    

 

    

 

 

Perpetual preferred equity securities with losses for:      
Less than one year (5 securities)   $ 9    ($1)   90% 
One year or longer (5 securities)    22    (2)   92 

    
 

    
 

 

  $ 31    ($3)   91% 
    

 

    

 

 

When a decline in the value of a specific investment is considered to be “other-than-temporary,” a provision for impairment is charged to earnings (accounted for
as a realized loss) and the cost basis of that investment is reduced by the amount of the charge. The determination of whether unrealized losses are “other-than-
temporary” requires judgment based on subjective as well as objective factors as detailed in AFG’s 2011 Form 10-K under Management’s Discussion and
Analysis — “Investments.”
 

37



Table of Contents

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Continued

 
Based on its analysis, management believes (i) AFG will recover its cost basis in the securities with unrealized losses and (ii) that AFG has the ability and intent
to hold the securities until they recover in value and had no intent to sell them at June 30, 2012. Although AFG has the ability to continue holding its investments
with unrealized losses, its intent to hold them may change due to deterioration in the issuers’ creditworthiness, decisions to lessen exposure to a particular issuer
or industry, asset/liability management decisions, market movements, changes in views about appropriate asset allocation or the desire to offset taxable realized
gains. Should AFG’s ability or intent change with regard to a particular security, a charge for impairment would likely be required. While it is not possible to
accurately predict if or when a specific security will become impaired, charges for other-than-temporary impairment could be material to results of operations in
future periods. Significant declines in the fair value of AFG’s investment portfolio could have a significant adverse effect on AFG’s liquidity.

Uncertainties Management believes that the areas posing the greatest risk of material loss are the adequacy of reserves in its insurance operations and
contingencies arising out of its former railroad and manufacturing operations. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis — “Uncertainties” in AFG’s 2011
Form 10-K. AFG conducts comprehensive studies of its asbestos and environmental reserves with the aid of outside actuarial and engineering firms and specialty
outside counsel every two years with an in-depth internal review during the intervening years. AFG has scheduled its 2012 internal review of these liabilities to be
completed in the third quarter of 2012 (instead of the second quarter) in order to conform to the practice of most of its peers. See Management’s Discussion and
Analysis — “Results of Operations” — “Asbestos and Environmental Reserve Charges” in AFG’s 2011 Form 10-K.

AFG, as well as other companies that sell long-term care products, have accumulated relatively limited claims, lapse and mortality experience, making it difficult
to predict future claims. Long-term care claims tend to be much higher in dollar amount and longer in duration than other health care products such as Medicare
supplement. In addition, long-term care claims are incurred much later in the life of a policy than most other health products. These factors make it difficult to
appropriately price this product and were instrumental in AFG’s decision to stop writing new policies after December 2009. AFG’s outstanding long-term care
policies have level premiums and are guaranteed renewable. Premium rates can potentially be increased in reaction to adverse experience, however, any rate
increases would require regulatory approval.

Reserves for future policy benefits under long-term care policies are established (and related acquisition costs are amortized) over the life of the policies based on
policy benefit assumptions as of the date of issuance, including investment yields, mortality, morbidity, persistency and expenses. Once these assumptions are
established for a given policy or group of policies, they are not changed over the life of the policy unless a loss recognition event (premium deficiency) occurs.
Loss recognition occurs when, based on current expectations as of the measurement date, the existing contract liabilities plus the present value of future premiums
(including reasonably expected rate increases), are not expected to cover the present value of future claims payments, related settlement and maintenance costs,
and unamortized acquisition costs. Based on loss recognition testing at December 31, 2011, AFG’s long-term care reserves plus the present value of future
premiums exceeded claims costs and unamortized acquisition expenses by approximately $30 million. Adverse changes in any of the reserve assumptions in
future periods could result in loss recognition for AFG’s long-term care business. For example, a 1% change in claims costs or a 0.1% change in investment
yields in all future periods (excluding their effect on the ability to achieve future rate increases), would each impact the December 31, 2011, “excess” described
above by approximately $10 million. Once the “excess” is reduced to zero, the impact of adverse changes in assumptions is recorded as a charge to earnings as
either a reduction in unamortized acquisition costs or an increase to contract reserves, net of any reinsurance recoverable.
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Through June 30, 2012, experience on AFG’s long-term care business has generally emerged consistent with the assumptions from year-end 2011. Although
investment purchases have exceeded our expected yields in the first half of 2012, yields on future purchases could fall short of expectations if the recent declines
in market yields were to persist. Even though AFG’s new claims experience has been reasonably consistent with current assumptions, the small size of the long-
term care block, combined with its lack of maturity can cause significant period fluctuations. Furthermore, AFG has incurred only a small portion of the claims
that it will ultimately receive over the lifetime of these policies, and when combined with the block’s limited claims history, AFG’s 2012 experience may not be
indicative of future trends. AFG has engaged an external actuarial consulting firm to supplement its regular internal analysis of claim experience relative to
broader industry trends, and expects to complete that analysis in the third or fourth quarter of 2012.

At year end 2011, AFG’s long-term care and annuity actuarial assumptions related to future interest rates were based on a beginning 10-year U.S. Treasury rate of
2.00%, and a beginning 30-year U.S. Treasury rate of 3.00%. It was assumed that these rates would gradually increase each subsequent year. Through July 31,
2012, these rates have decreased by approximately 0.50%. Even though AFG has been able to maintain adequate investment yields to date, if this low interest rate
environment persists, and if it is forecasted to remain lower in the future than previously expected, AFG would likely have a material charge to earnings.
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MANAGED INVESTMENT ENTITIES

Accounting standards require AFG to consolidate its investments in collateralized loan obligation (“CLO”) entities that it manages and owns an interest in (in the
form of debt). See Note A — “Accounting Policies — Managed Investment Entities” and Note H — “Managed Investment Entities.” The effect of consolidating
these entities is shown in the tables below (in millions). The “Before CLO Consolidation” columns include AFG’s investment and earnings in the CLOs on an
unconsolidated basis.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
 

    
Before CLO

Consolidation   

Managed
Investment

Entities    
Consol.
Entries   

Consolidated
As Reported  

June 30, 2012        
Assets:        

Cash and investments   $ 27,497    $ —       ($196)(a)  $ 27,301  
Assets of managed investment entities    —       2,825    —      2,825  
Other assets    6,926     —       —      6,926  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 34,423    $ 2,825    ($196)  $ 37,052  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Liabilities:        
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses and unearned premiums   $ 7,814    $ —      $ —     $ 7,814  
Annuity, life, accident and health benefits and reserves    18,508     —       —      18,508  
Liabilities of managed investment entities    —       2,698    (196)(a)   2,502  
Long-term debt and other liabilities    3,453     —       —      3,453  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    29,775     2,698    (196)   32,277  

Shareholders’ Equity:        
Common Stock and Capital surplus    1,207     —       —      1,207  
Retained earnings:        

Appropriated — managed investment entities    —       127    —      127  
Unappropriated    2,515     —       —      2,515  

Accumulated other comprehensive income    773     —       —      773  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Total shareholders’ equity    4,495     127    —      4,622  
Noncontrolling interests    153     —       —      153  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total equity    4,648     127    —      4,775  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and equity   $ 34,423    $ 2,825    ($196)  $ 37,052  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

December 31, 2011        
Assets:        

Cash and investments   $ 25,675    $ —       ($98)(a)  $ 25,577  
Assets of managed investment entities    —       3,058    —      3,058  
Other assets    7,203     —       —      7,203  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 32,878    $ 3,058    ($98)  $ 35,838  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Liabilities:        
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses and unearned premiums   $ 8,004    $ —      $ —     $ 8,004  
Annuity, life, accident and health benefits and reserves    17,147     —       —      17,147  
Liabilities of managed investment entities    —       2,885    (98)(a)   2,787  
Long-term debt and other liabilities    3,343     —       —      3,343  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    28,494     2,885    (98)   31,281  

Shareholders’ equity:        
Common Stock and Capital surplus    1,219     —       —      1,219  
Retained earnings:        

Appropriated — managed investment entities    —       173    —      173  
Unappropriated    2,439     —       —      2,439  

Accumulated other comprehensive income    580     —       —      580  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Total shareholders’ equity    4,238     173    —      4,411  
Noncontrolling interests    146     —       —      146  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total equity    4,384     173    —      4,557  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and equity   $ 32,878    $ 3,058    ($98)  $ 35,838  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

 
(a) Elimination of the fair value of AFG’s investment in CLOs.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

 

    
Before CLO

Consolidation (a)  

Managed
Investment

Entities   
Consol.
Entries   

Consolidated
As Reported  

Six months ended June 30, 2012      
Revenues:      

Insurance premiums   $ 1,453  $ —     $ —     $ 1,453 
Investment income    664   —      (10)(b)   654 
Realized gains (losses) on securities    60   —      —      60 
Realized gains (losses) on subsidiaries    (1)   —      —      (1) 
Income (loss) of managed investment entities:      

Investment income    —      61   —      61 
Loss on change in fair value of assets/liabilities    —      (54)   4 (b)   (50) 

Other income    94   —      (8)(c)   86 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total revenues    2,270   7   (14)   2,263 

Costs and Expenses:      
Insurance benefits and expenses    1,698   —      —      1,698 
Expenses of managed investment entities    —      53   (14)(b)(c)   39 
Interest on borrowed money and other expenses    244   —      —      244 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total costs and expenses    1,942   53   (14)   1,981 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating earnings before income taxes    328   (46)   —      282 
Provision for income taxes    110   —      —      110 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net earnings, including noncontrolling interests    218   (46)   —      172 
Less: Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests    6   —      (46)(d)   (40) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Earnings Attributable to Shareholders   $ 212   ($46)  $ 46  $ 212 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Six months ended June 30, 2011      
Revenues:      

Insurance premiums   $ 1,425  $ —     $ —     $ 1,425 
Investment income    613   —      (7)(b)   606 
Realized gains (losses) on securities    19   —      —      19 
Realized gains (losses) on subsidiaries    (3)   —      —      (3) 
Income (loss) of managed investment entities:      

Investment income    —      51   —      51 
Loss on change in fair value of assets/liabilities    —      (57)   2 (b)   (55) 

Other income    97   —      (8)(c)   89 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total revenues    2,151   (6)   (13)   2,132 

Costs and Expenses:      
Insurance benefits and expenses    1,699   —      —      1,699 
Expenses of managed investment entities    —      49   (13)(b)(c)   36 
Interest on borrowed money and other expenses    235   —      —      235 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total costs and expenses    1,934   49   (13)   1,970 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating earnings before income taxes    217   (55)   —      162 
Provision for income taxes    78   —      —      78 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net earnings, including noncontrolling interests    139   (55)   —      84 
Less: Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests    3   —      (55)(d)   (52) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Earnings Attributable to Shareholders   $ 136   ($55)  $ 55  $ 136 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(a) Includes $10 million and $7 million for the first six months of 2012 and 2011, respectively, in investment income representing the change in fair value of

AFG’s CLO investments plus $8 million for each of the same periods in CLO management fees earned.
(b) Elimination of the change in fair value of AFG’s investments in the CLOs, including $6 million and $5 million in the first six months of 2012 and 2011,

respectively, in distributions recorded as interest expense by the CLOs.
(c) Elimination of management fees earned by AFG.
(d) Allocate losses of CLOs attributable to other debt holders to noncontrolling interests.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

General Results of operations as shown in the accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”).

AFG’s net earnings attributable to shareholders, determined in accordance with GAAP, include certain items that may not be indicative of its ongoing core
operations. The following table identifies such items and reconciles net earnings attributable to shareholders to core net operating earnings, a non-GAAP financial
measure that AFG believes is a useful tool for investors and analysts in analyzing ongoing operating trends (in millions, except per share amounts):
 

    
Three months ended

June  30,   
Six months ended

June 30,  
  2012    2011   2012    2011  

Core net operating earnings   $ 90   $ 74  $ 175   $ 165 
Special A&E charge (*)    —       (38)   —       (38) 
Realized gains (losses) (*)    9    12   37    9 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Net earnings attributable to shareholders   $ 99   $ 48  $ 212   $ 136 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Diluted per share amounts:        
Core net operating earnings   $ .91   $ .72  $1.77   $1.57 
Special A&E charge    —       (.37)   —       (.37) 
Realized gains (losses)    .10    .11   .38    .09 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Net earnings attributable to shareholders   $ 1.01   $ .46  $2.15   $1.29 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

 
(*) The tax effects of reconciling items are shown below (in millions):
 

Special A&E charge   $—     $21  $—     $21 
Realized gains (losses)    (5)   (7)   (21)   (7) 

In addition, realized gains (losses) are shown net of noncontrolling interests of ($1 million) in the second quarter and first six months of 2012.

Net earnings attributable to shareholders and core net operating earnings increased in the second quarter and first six months of 2012 compared to the same
periods in 2011. Increased earnings in the annuity and supplemental insurance operations and improved underwriting results in the property and casualty
operations were partially offset by lower investment income in the property and casualty insurance operations. Net earnings attributable to shareholders in 2011
was impacted by the second quarter special A&E charge. Both periods reflect the effect of share repurchases.

Property and Casualty Insurance — Underwriting AFG reports its Specialty insurance business in the following sub-segments: (i) Property and transportation,
(ii) Specialty casualty and (iii) Specialty financial.

Performance measures such as underwriting profit or loss and related combined ratios are often used by property and casualty insurers to help users of their
financial statements better understand the company’s performance. See Note C—“Segments of Operations” for detail of AFG’s operating profit by significant
business segment.

Underwriting profitability is measured by the combined ratio, which is a sum of the ratios of losses, loss adjustment expenses, underwriting expenses and
policyholder dividends to premiums. A combined ratio under 100% indicates an underwriting profit. The combined ratio does not reflect investment income,
other income or federal income taxes.
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Premiums, combined ratios and prior year development for AFG’s property and casualty insurance operations were as follows (dollars in millions):
 

    
Three months ended

June  30,   
Six months ended

June  30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  

Gross Written Premiums      
Property and transportation   $ 531  $ 496  $ 859  $ 814 
Specialty casualty    358   323   724   642 
Specialty financial    134   129   263   245 
Other    1   1   1   1 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

  $1,024  $ 949  $1,847  $1,702 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net Written Premiums      
Property and transportation   $ 369  $ 346  $ 619  $ 600 
Specialty casualty    244   211   491   425 
Specialty financial    102   96   195   194 
Other    17   16   34   34 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

  $ 732  $ 669  $1,339  $1,253 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Combined Ratios      
Property and transportation    98.1%   101.2%   94.0%   93.7% 
Specialty casualty    86.1   92.1   91.8   95.8 
Specialty financial    88.5   88.5   86.6   87.1 
Total Specialty    91.8   95.2   91.9   93.1 
Aggregate (including discontinued lines)    92.9%   103.4%   92.5%   97.2% 

Favorable (Unfavorable) Prior Year Development      
Property and transportation   $ 2  $ 4  $ 12  $ 26 
Specialty casualty    27   27   28   27 
Specialty financial    4   4   11   —    
Other specialty    1   2   2   5 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   34   37   53   58 
Other (primarily asbestos and environmental charges)    (8)   (50)   (8)   (50) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Aggregate (including discontinued lines)   $ 26   ($13)  $ 45  $ 8 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Gross and net written premiums increased in the second quarter and first six months of 2012 compared to the same 2011 periods due primarily to higher
premiums in the Specialty casualty segment and the impact of earlier crop planting on the timing of crop insurance premiums in the Property and transportation
segment. Overall average renewal rates increased approximately 3% during the second quarter and first six months of 2012 when compared to the same 2011
periods.

The Specialty insurance operations generated an underwriting profit of $52 million in the 2012 second quarter compared to $29 million in the second quarter of
2011. The higher profit in 2012 is primarily the result of improved underwriting results in the Specialty casualty segment and lower catastrophe losses.
Catastrophe losses were $11 million for the second quarter of 2012 compared to $23 million in the second quarter of 2011. Underwriting profit for the Specialty
insurance operations for the first six months of 2012 was $100 million compared to $84 million for the comparable 2011 period. These results include $14 million
of catastrophe losses in the first six months of 2012 compared to $31 million in the comparable 2011 period.
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Property and transportation gross and net written premiums for the second quarter and first six months of 2012 were higher than the comparable 2011 periods as
a result of higher premiums in the crop, property and inland marine and ocean marine businesses. The increase in crop premiums was due primarily to higher
winter wheat commodity prices and timing differences resulting from earlier plantings of corn and soybeans. This group reported an underwriting profit of $6
million in the second quarter of 2012, compared to an underwriting loss of $3 million in the second quarter of 2011. This increase is attributable to lower
catastrophe losses, primarily in the property and inland marine operations. The $10 million in catastrophe losses recorded by this group in the second quarter of
2012 was $8 million lower than losses experienced in the comparable 2011 period. Underwriting profit in the first six months of 2012 was flat when compared to
the first half of 2011. Average renewal rates were up approximately 4% for the quarter and 3% for the year to date in this group.

The extreme heat and dry conditions in the Midwest have affected corn and soybean crop prospects for many of America’s farmers. These drought conditions are
expected to adversely impact profitability in the Property and transportation segment in the second half of 2012. Any losses in the crop insurance operations
would be mitigated by quota share and stop loss reinsurance.

Specialty casualty gross and net written premiums for the second quarter and first six months of 2012 were higher than the 2011 periods as a result of higher
premiums in the workers’ compensation, excess and surplus and international operations. Increased business opportunities arising from larger exposures and
general market hardening have contributed to the increased premiums in this group. This group reported an underwriting profit of $33 million in the second
quarter of 2012, compared to $17 million in the second quarter of 2011. Underwriting profits for the first six months of 2012 were $19 million higher than the
comparable 2011 period. Higher favorable reserve development in the homebuilders’ general liability operations and improved profitability in the workers’
compensation operations were partially offset by higher underwriting losses in a run-off book of program business and lower favorable reserve development in
the excess and surplus lines and executive liability operations. Results for the first six months of 2012 also reflect higher profitability in the international
operations. Average renewal rates in this group were up approximately 4% for the second quarter and first six months of 2012.

Specialty financial gross written premiums for the second quarter and first six months of 2012 were higher than the 2011 periods. Net written premiums were up
for the second quarter and flat for the first six months of 2012 when compared to the prior year. Higher gross written premiums resulted primarily from a service
contract business initiated in the second quarter of 2011. All of these premiums were ceded under a reinsurance agreement. This group reported underwriting
profits of $11 million and $27 million in the second quarter and first six months of 2012, respectively. These amounts were virtually unchanged from the
comparable prior year periods. Average renewal rates in this group were flat for the second quarter and first six months of 2012.

2011 Special Asbestos and Environmental Reserve Charge During the second quarter of 2011, AFG completed a comprehensive study of its asbestos and
environmental exposures relating to the run-off operations of its property and casualty group and its exposures related to former railroad and manufacturing
operations and sites.
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As a result of the 2011 study, AFG recorded a $50 million special charge (net of reinsurance) to increase the property and casualty group’s asbestos reserves by
$28 million and its environmental reserves by $22 million. The property and casualty group’s asbestos reserve increase related primarily to exposures on business
assumed from other insurers. The increase in environmental reserves was attributed primarily to a small number of increases on specific environmental claims at
several sites. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis — “Uncertainties” — “Asbestos and Environmental-related (“A&E”) Insurance Reserves” in AFG’s
2011 Form 10-K.

In addition to the property and casualty group, the 2011 study encompassed reserves for asbestos and environmental exposures of AFG’s former railroad and
manufacturing operations. As a result of the study, AFG recorded a $9 million special charge (included in other expenses) to increase its asbestos reserves by
$3 million and environmental reserves by $6 million.

AFG has scheduled a customary in-depth internal review of its asbestos and environmental liabilities to be completed in the third quarter of 2012 in order to
conform to the practice of most of its peers.

Annuity and Supplemental Insurance Operations Operating earnings before income taxes for the annuity and supplemental insurance segment increased
$20 million (36%) in the second quarter and $33 million (30%) for the first six months of 2012 compared to the 2011 periods, due to higher earnings in the fixed
annuity and Medicare supplement operations. The higher profitability in the fixed annuity operations reflects a larger base of invested assets and AFG’s ability to
maintain spreads. The Medicare supplement results were significantly higher than the comparable periods of 2011 due primarily to improved loss experience and
lower policy lapses.

Statutory Annuity Premiums The following table summarizes AFG’s annuity sales (in millions):
 

    
Three months ended

June  30,    
Six months ended

June  30,  
  2012    2011    2012    2011  

403(b) Fixed and Indexed Annuities:         
First Year   $ 5   $ 5   $ 8   $ 11 
Renewal    41    46    81    88 
Single Sum    18    18    37    35 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Subtotal    64    69    126    134 
Non-403(b) Indexed Annuities    531    454    940    711 
Non-403(b) Fixed Annuities    34    62    76    122 
Bank Annuities    259    305    534    576 
Variable Annuities    17    16    32    35 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Annuity Premiums   $ 905   $ 906   $1,708   $1,578 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Bank annuities represent annuity premiums generated through banks by independent agents and brokers, as well as through direct relationships with certain
financial institutions.

The increase in annuity premiums for the first six months of 2012 compared to the same period in 2011 is attributable to increased sales of indexed annuities in
the non-403(b) single premium market. This increase reflects the industry trend towards indexed annuities and away from traditional fixed annuities, as well as
AFG’s introduction of new indexed products and features.
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Life, Accident and Health Premiums and Benefits The following table summarizes AFG’s life, accident and health premiums and benefits as shown in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings (in millions):
 

    
Three months ended

June  30,    
Six months ended

June  30,  
  2012    2011    2012    2011  

Premiums         
Supplemental insurance operations         

First year   $ 7   $ 10   $ 15   $ 21 
Renewal    92    92    184    184 

Life operations (in run-off)    6    5    11    12 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

  $ 105   $ 107   $ 210   $ 217 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Benefits         
Supplemental insurance operations   $ 73   $ 78   $ 155   $ 164 
Life operations (in run-off)    11    11    21    21 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $ 84   $ 89   $ 176   $ 185 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

In May 2012, AFG reached a definitive agreement to sell its Medicare supplement and critical illness businesses. See Note B – “Sale of Operations”

Investment Income In recent years, yields available in the financial markets on fixed maturity securities have generally declined, placing downward pressure on
AFG’s investment portfolio yield. The $26 million and $48 million increases in investment income for the second quarter and first six months of 2012 compared
to the same periods in 2011 reflect higher average invested assets, primarily related to growth in the annuity business.

Realized Gains (Losses) on Securities Net realized gains (losses) on securities consisted of the following (in millions):
 

    
Three months ended

June  30,   
Six months ended

June  30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  

Realized gains (losses) before impairments:      
Disposals   $ 27  $ 46  $ 73  $ 63 
Change in the fair value of derivatives    (4)   (6)   —      (11) 
Adjustments to annuity deferred policy acquisition costs and related items    —      —      (2)   (2) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   23   40   71   50 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Impairment charges:      
Securities    (8)   (27)   (14)   (41) 
Adjustments to annuity deferred policy acquisition costs and related items    1   6   3   10 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   (7)   (21)   (11)   (31) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

  $ 16  $ 19  $ 60  $ 19 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Realized gains on disposals include gains on sales of shares of Verisk Analytics, Inc. of $19 million and $46 million in the second quarter and first six months of
2012, respectively, and $33 million in the second quarter and first six months of 2011.
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The change in fair value of derivatives includes net losses of $1 million in the second quarter and net gains of $3 million in the first six months of 2012 and net
losses of less than $1 million in the second quarter and $3 million in the first six months of 2011 from the mark-to-market of MBS, primarily interest-only
securities with interest rates that float inversely with short-term rates. See Note F — “Derivatives.”

Annuity Benefits Annuity benefits reflect amounts accrued on annuity policyholders’ funds accumulated. On deferred annuities (annuities in the accumulation
phase), interest is generally credited to policyholders’ accounts at their current stated interest rates. Furthermore, for “two-tier” deferred annuities (annuities under
which a higher interest amount can be earned if a policy is annuitized rather than surrendered), additional reserves are accrued for (i) persistency and premium
bonuses and (ii) excess benefits expected to be paid for future deaths and annuitizations. Changes in investment yields, crediting rates, actual surrender, death and
annuitization experience or modifications in actuarial assumptions can affect these additional reserves and could result in charges (or credits) to earnings in the
period the projections are modified.

The $22 million and $36 million increases in annuity benefits in the second quarter and first six months of 2012 compared to the 2011 periods reflect growth in
the annuity business.

Annuity and Supplemental Insurance Acquisition Expenses Annuity and supplemental insurance acquisition expenses include amortization of annuity,
supplemental insurance and life business deferred policy acquisition costs (“DPAC”) as well as a portion of commissions on sales of insurance products. Annuity
and supplemental insurance acquisition expenses also include amortization of the present value of future profits of businesses acquired (“PVFP”).

The vast majority of this group’s DPAC asset relates to its annuity and life insurance lines of business. Unanticipated spread compression, decreases in the stock
market, adverse mortality experience, and higher than expected lapse rates could lead to write-offs of DPAC or PVFP in the future.

Other Operating and General Expenses The $9 million (5%) increase in other operating and general expenses for the first six months of 2012 compared to the
same 2011 period reflects the impact of a $10 million recovery in the first quarter of 2011 on a prior property and casualty extracontractual obligation claim.
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ITEM 3

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure of Market Risk

As of June 30, 2012, there were no material changes to the information provided in Item 7A — “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure of Market Risk” of
AFG’s 2011 Form 10-K.

ITEM 4

Controls and Procedures

AFG’s management, with participation of its Co-Chief Executive Officers and its principal financial officer, has evaluated AFG’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, AFG’s Co-CEOs and principal
financial officer concluded that the controls and procedures are effective. There have been no changes in AFG’s internal control over financial reporting during
the second fiscal quarter of 2012 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, AFG’s internal control over financial reporting.

In the ordinary course of business, AFG and its subsidiaries routinely enhance their information systems by either upgrading current systems or implementing
new systems. There has been no change in AFG’s business processes and procedures during the second fiscal quarter of 2012 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, AFG’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II
OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 2

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities AFG repurchased shares of its Common Stock during the first six months of 2012 as follows:
 

    

Total
Number
of Shares
Purchased    

Average
Price Paid
Per Share    

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased as
Part of Publicly

Announced Plans
or Programs    

Maximum Number
of Shares
that May

Yet be Purchased
Under the Plans
or Programs (a)  

First Quarter    1,473,789    $ 37.91     1,473,789     6,953,252 
April    356,681    $ 38.02     356,681     6,596,571 
May    965,000    $ 38.59     965,000     5,631,571 
June    1,190,000    $ 38.68     1,190,000     4,441,571 

 
(a) Represents the remaining shares that may be repurchased under the Plans authorized by AFG’s Board of Directors in August 2011 and February 2012. In

February 2012, AFG’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of five million additional shares.

ITEM 6

Exhibits
 
Number  Exhibit Description

10  Sale agreement between Great American Financial Resources, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries and Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company.

12  Computation of ratios of earnings to fixed charges.

31(a)  Certification of the Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31(b)  Certification of the Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31(c)  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32  Certification of the Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002.

101
 

The following financial information from American Financial Group’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 formatted in XBRL
(Extensible Business Reporting Language):

 (i)     Consolidated Balance Sheet
 (ii)    Consolidated Statement of Earnings
 (iii)  Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
 (iv)   Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
 (v)    Consolidated Statement of Changes in Cash Flows
 (vi)   Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Signature

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, American Financial Group, Inc. has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned duly authorized.
 

  American Financial Group, Inc.

August 8, 2012   BY:  s/ Keith A. Jensen
   Keith A. Jensen
   Senior Vice President
   (principal financial and accounting officer)
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AMONG

CERES GROUP, INC.,

CONTINENTAL GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

LOYAL AMERICAN HOLDING CORPORATION,

UNITED TEACHER ASSOCIATES INSURANCE COMPANY,

GREAT AMERICAN FINANCIAL RESOURCES, INC.,

CERES SALES, LLC,

AS SELLERS,

AND

CIGNA HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,

AS BUYER
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PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of May 10, 2012, by and among Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company, a Connecticut
corporation (“Buyer”), Great American Financial Resources, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“GAFRI”), Ceres Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Ceres”),
Continental General Insurance Company, an Ohio corporation (“CGIC”), Loyal American Holding Corporation, an Ohio corporation (“LAH”), United Teacher
Associates Insurance Company, a Texas corporation (“UTAIC”), and Ceres Sales, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Ceres Sales”) (each of GAFRI,
Ceres, CGIC, LAH, UTAIC and Ceres Sales, a “Seller” and collectively, “Sellers”). Buyer and Sellers are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and
collectively herein as the “Parties.”

RECITALS:

Ceres, LAH and Ceres Sales own directly or indirectly through intermediate subsidiaries all of the issued and outstanding Capital Stock of each of
American Retirement Life Insurance Company, an Ohio corporation; Central Reserve Life Insurance Company, an Ohio corporation (“Central Reserve”); Loyal
American Life Insurance Company, an Ohio corporation (“LAI”); Provident American Life & Health Insurance Company, an Ohio corporation; United Benefit
Life Insurance Company, an Ohio corporation (each, a “Target Insurance Company” and collectively, the “Target Insurance Companies”); and Ceres Sales of
Ohio, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company (“CSO”) (each of CSO and the Target Insurance Companies, a “Target” and CSO and the Target Insurance
Companies collectively, the “Targets”).

Each of Ceres, CGIC, LAH, UTAIC and Ceres Sales and Targets is a direct or indirect Subsidiary of GAFRI.

CGIC and UTAIC market and have in place Medicare supplement, supplemental health and critical illness insurance policies that have been included in the
Business (as hereinafter defined).

Buyer desires to acquire the Business through the purchase of the Transaction Shares (as hereinafter defined) from Sellers upon the terms and conditions
set forth herein, immediately following (a) the Transfer (as hereinafter defined) of the Transferred Assets (as hereinafter defined) to the Targets in accordance
with the terms and conditions set forth herein, and (b) the cession of certain Medicare supplement, supplemental health and critical illness insurance polices
included in the Business to the Targets pursuant to the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements (as hereinafter defined).

Now, therefore, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises herein made, and in consideration of the representations, warranties, and
covenants herein contained, the Parties agree as follows.

Section 1. Definitions.

“Acquisition Proposal” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(g).



“Action” means any civil, criminal or other claim, action, suit, litigation, arbitration, investigation, inquiry, hearing, charge, complaint, demand, notice or
other proceeding by or before any Governmental Authority or arbitral body.

“Actuarial Reports” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(h)(i).

“Adverse Consequences” means all actions, suits, proceedings, hearings, investigations, charges, complaints, claims, demands, injunctions, judgments,
orders, decrees, rulings, damages, dues, penalties, fines, costs, reasonable amounts actually paid in settlement, liabilities, obligations, Taxes, liens, losses,
expenses, and fees, including court costs and attorneys’ fees and expenses; provided, however, in no event shall Adverse Consequences include punitive damages
except to the extent payable to a third party; provided, further, that any Adverse Consequences based upon loss of income shall be calculated by reference to
demonstrably foreseeable damages (including reasonably expected income) rather than by reference to a multiple of income.

“Affiliate” has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 of the regulations promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act.

“Affiliate Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(ee)(i).

“Affiliated Group” means any affiliated group within the meaning of Code §1504(a) or any similar group defined under a similar provision of state, local,
or non-U.S. law.

“After-Acquired Business” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(i)(ii)(C).

“Agent Balances” means any amounts payable by any Producer to any Target, CGIC or UTAIC, as applicable, in connection with advances made by such
Person to such Producer.

“Aggregate After-Acquired Revenues” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(i)(ii)(C).

“Agreed Accounting Principles” means SAP applied consistently with its application in connection with the Statutory Statements, subject to the agreed
procedures, methodologies and exceptions set forth in Annex I attached hereto.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“Ancillary Agreements” means, collectively, the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements, the Transition Services Agreements, the Business Associate
Agreements, the Trust Agreements, the LifePRO License Agreement, the Employee Lease Agreement and the OnBase License Agreement.

“Applicable Rate” means, as of any date of determination, the United States Prime Rate as listed in the Eastern print edition of the Wall Street Journal on
such date, or, if such date is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day.

“Arbitrator” has the meaning set forth in Section 11(k)(iii).

“Award” has the meaning set forth in Section 11(k)(iv).
 

2



“Base Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c).

“Books and Records” means originals and copies of all books, ledgers, files, reports, customer lists, policy information, contracts, Permits, administrative
and pricing manuals, corporate records, claims records, sales records, underwriting records, financial records, compliance records (prepared for or filed with any
Governmental Authority), plans and operating records (in whatever form maintained), copies of Tax Returns (including work papers with respect to the Targets),
Tax records, employee records relating to the Business and all other documents and information related to the Business or the other business, operations or
conduct of the Targets, each in the possession or control of Sellers, the Targets or their respective Representatives, whether or not stored in hardcopy form or on
electronic, magnetic, optical or other media (to the extent not subject to licensing restrictions).

“Business” means the Medicare supplement, supplemental health, critical illness, accident, disability and dental insurance business marketed, sold, and
issued through the Targets and their respective Affiliates or assumed by the Targets and their Affiliates pursuant to any Reinsurance Agreements.

“Business Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(e).

“Business Associate Agreements” means the business associate agreements to be entered into pursuant to the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in Columbus, Ohio, Hartford, Connecticut or
New York, New York, are required or authorized by Law or executive order to be closed.

“Business Employee” means each Person who is an employee or independent contractor of a Target or any of its Affiliates whose duties relate primarily to
the Business, including any such Person who is absent from employment or service due to illness, vacation, military service or other authorized absence.

“Business Intellectual Property” shall mean the Intellectual Property included in the Business Assets that is used or held for use in the Business as currently
conducted.

“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“Buyer Disclosure Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 3(b).

“Buyer Employment Requirements” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(f)(i).

“Buyer Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 8(b)(i).

“Buyer Transition Services Agreement” means that certain transition services agreement in the form attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B-1.
 

3



“Capital and Surplus” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (a) the aggregate capital and surplus of Central Reserve and LAI (as
would be reflected in line 38, column 1 in the “Liabilities, Surplus and Other Funds” section of the balance sheet in each such Person’s Statutory Statements) as
of such date, plus (b) the aggregate asset valuation reserves of the Target Insurance Companies (as would be reflected in line 24.01, column 1 in the “Liabilities,
Surplus and Other Funds” section of the balance sheet in each such Person’s Statutory Statements) as of such date, minus (c) any deferred tax assets of the Target
Insurance Companies (as would be reflected in line 18.2, column 3 in the “Assets” section of the balance sheet in each such Person’s Statutory Statements) as of
such date, in each case, determined in accordance the Agreed Accounting Principles.

“Capital Stock” means capital stock of or other type of equity interest in a Person.

“Central Reserve” has the meaning set forth in the recitals above.

“Ceres” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“Ceres Sales” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“CGIC” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“Chancery Rules” has the meaning set forth in Section 11(k)(i).

“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(f).

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(f).

“COBRA” means the requirements of Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and Code §4980B and of any similar state law.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Competing After-Acquired Revenues” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(i)(ii)(C).

“Competing Business” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(i)(i).

“Confidential Information” means any information (including the Books and Records) concerning the Business and/or the business and affairs of the
Targets that is not already generally available to the public.

“Confidentiality Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(k).

“Consultation Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(iii).

“CSO” has the meaning set forth in the recitals above.
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“Data Laws” means any Laws applicable to data privacy, data security, and/or the collection and use of personal information, including the Federal Trade
Commission’s Fair Information Principles and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (and the Privacy Rule and the Security Rule
adopted thereunder), as well as industry standards applicable to the Targets.

“Delaware Court” has the meaning set forth in Section 11(k)(ix).

“Delaware Court of Chancery” has the meaning set forth in Section 11(k)(i).

“Dispute” has the meaning set forth in Section 11(k)(i).

“Employee Benefit Plan” means any “employee benefit plan” (as such term is defined in ERISA §3(3)) and any other compensation or employee benefit
plan, program, agreement or arrangement of any kind.

“Employee Lease Agreement” means the employee lease agreement in the form attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit G.

“Employee Leasing Period” means the period following the Closing Date during which a Business Employee remains employed by a Seller or an Affiliate
of Seller and is leased to Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer pursuant to the Employee Lease Agreement.

“Employee Pension Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §3(2).

“Employee Welfare Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §3(1).

“Employment Commencement Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(f)(i).

“Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirements” means all federal, state, local, and non-U.S. statutes, regulations, ordinances, and similar provisions
having the force or effect of law as of the Closing Date, all judicial and administrative orders and determinations, and all common laws concerning public health
and safety, worker health and safety, pollution, or protection of natural resources or the environment, including all those relating to the presence, use, production,
generation, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, distribution, labeling, testing, processing, discharge, release, threatened release, control,
exposure to, or cleanup of any hazardous materials, substances, wastes, chemical substances, mixtures, pesticides, pollutants, contaminants, toxic chemicals,
petroleum products or byproducts, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, noise, odor, mold or radiation.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” means each entity that is, or at any relevant time has been, treated as a single employer with any Target for purposes of Code §414.

“Estimated Capital and Surplus” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d)(ii).

“Estimated Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c).
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“Estimated Settlement Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d)(ii).

“Excess Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(vi).

“Excluded Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(b)(i).

“Excluded Business” means any business of the Targets other than the Business, including life insurance, annuity and long-term care insurance business.

“Excluded Business Employees” those Persons listed on Exhibit C attached hereto and incorporated herein and those Persons who are independent
contractors.

“Excluded Liabilities” means any liability or obligation, whether direct or indirect, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, and whether such liability or
obligation exists prior to, on or, except in the case of clauses (b) and (d) of this definition, after the Closing Date (a) relating to current or former employees of
Sellers, Targets or any of their Affiliates, other than Transferred Employees, (b) relating to Transferred Employees, (c) under or relating to any Affiliate Benefit
Plans or any other Employee Benefit Plans maintained by Sellers or any of their Affiliates, other than the Target Benefit Plans, (d) under or relating to any Target
Benefit Plans, or (e) relating to, arising from, or caused by (i) the Excluded Assets, (ii) the Excluded Business, or (iii) the GALAC SPA.

“Existing LifePRO Agreement” means that certain IBM Customer Agreement, Statement of Work for Project Support Services, LifePRO Solutions,
Agreement Number HQ12291, dated June 27, 1997, with Great American Life Insurance Company, as amended by that certain Enterprise License Letter, dated
August 10, 2004, from Professional Data Management Again, Inc., as licensor, to Great American Life Insurance Company, as licensee, as amended or
supplemented prior to the date hereof.

“Fiduciary” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §3(21).

“Final Capital and Surplus” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(iv).

“Final Settlement Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(iv).

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time, consistently applied.

“GAFRI” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“GALAC SPA” means that certain Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2012, by and among Presidential Life Corporation, GALAC
Holding Company and LAI.

“Governmental Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 3(b)(ii).

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, local, county, municipal or other governmental, quasi-governmental, legislative, judicial or
administrative body, agency, department, board, commission, instrumentality, court, tribunal or authority (including regulatory authority) of the United States or
any foreign nation or any self-regulatory authority having jurisdiction over a Person or the assets or business of a Person.
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“Governmental Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, declaration, decree, stipulation, determination, award, agreement or permitted practice
entered by or with any Governmental Authority.

“Great American Names and Marks” means the name “GREAT AMERICAN” or any cognates thereof, including “Great American Supplemental Benefits
Group,” or any trade names, trademarks, Internet domain names, tag-lines, identifying logos or service marks related thereto or employing the same (including all
registrations and applications relating thereto).

“Hart-Scott-Rodino Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

“Hazardous Substance” means (a) any petroleum or petroleum products, asbestos, urea formaldehyde insulation or polychlorinated biphenyls and (b) any
pollutant, contaminant, waste, material or substance defined in, regulated under or for which liability or standards of care are imposed by any applicable
Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirement.

“HSI” means Hyland Software, Inc.

“Improvements” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(n)(iv).

“Income Tax” means any federal, state, local, or non-U.S. Tax imposed upon or in respect of income, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto,
whether disputed or not.

“Income Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return or statement, or other similar statement relating to Income
Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“Indemnified Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 8(e).

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8(d)(i).

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 8(d)(i).

“Independent Expert” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(iv).

“Insurance Contract” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(v)(i).

“Insurance Regulator” means, with respect to any jurisdiction, the Governmental Authority responsible for administering the insurance laws of such
jurisdiction and regulating insurance companies domiciled or doing business in such jurisdiction.
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“Intellectual Property” means all of the following in any jurisdiction throughout the world: (a) all inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and
whether or not reduced to practice), all improvements thereto, and all patents, patent applications, and patent disclosures, together with all reissuances,
continuations, divisions, continuations-in-part, revisions, extensions, and reexaminations thereof, (b) all trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos, slogans,
trade names, corporate names, Internet domain names, other source identifiers, and rights in telephone numbers, together with all translations, adaptations,
derivations, and combinations thereof and including all goodwill associated therewith, and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith,
(c) all copyrightable works, all copyrights, and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, (d) all mask works and all applications,
registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, (e) all trade secrets and confidential, technical, and business information (including ideas, research and
development, know-how, formulas, algorithms, compositions, manufacturing and production processes and techniques, business methods, technical data, designs,
drawings, specifications, agent, customer and supplier lists, pricing and cost information, and business and marketing plans and proposals), (f) all computer
software (including source code, executable code, data, databases, and related documentation), (g) all material advertising and promotional materials, (h) all other
proprietary rights, and (i) all copies and tangible embodiments thereof (in whatever form or medium).

“Intercompany Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(ii)(i).

“Intercompany Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(ii)(ii).

“Investment Assets” means any investment assets (whether or not required by SAP to be reflected on a balance sheet) beneficially owned (within the
meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act) by any Target Insurance Company or, that will be transferred by any Seller Insurance Company to any
Target Insurance Company pursuant to the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements, including bonds, notes, debentures, mortgage loans, real estate and all other
instruments of indebtedness, stocks, partnership or joint venture interests and all other equity interests, certificates issued by or interests in trusts, derivatives and
all other assets acquired for investment purposes.

“Knowledge” means the actual knowledge of those individuals listed in Section 1(a) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule in addition to the knowledge that
such individual or individuals could be expected to obtain after reasonable inquiry of such individual’s or individuals’ direct reports. For purposes of the
foregoing, the phrase “reasonable inquiry” shall be deemed to exclude:

(a) any requirement to retain or engage third party consultants, and

(b) any requirements to review materials not in the possession or control of Sellers or their Representatives.

“LAH” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“LAI” has the meaning set forth in the recitals above.
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“Law” means any foreign, United States federal, state or local laws, statutes, rules, codes, ordinances, treaties, conventions, common law and any rules,
regulations, standards, judgments, orders, writs, injunctions, rulings, degrees, arbitration awards, agency requirements, licenses or permits enacted, adopted,
issued or promulgated by any Governmental Authority.

“Lease Consents” has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a)(xiii).

“Leased Real Property” means all leasehold or subleasehold estates and other rights to use or occupy any land, buildings, structures, improvements,
fixtures, or other interest in real property held by any of the Targets.

“Leases” means all leases, subleases, licenses, concessions and other agreements (written or oral), including all amendments, extensions, renewals,
guaranties, and other agreements with respect thereto, pursuant to which any of the Targets holds any Leased Real Property, including the right to all security
deposits and other amounts and instruments held by or on behalf of any of the Targets thereunder.

“Licensed Business Intellectual Property” means Intellectual Property that (a) is not Owned Business Intellectual Property or Shared Business Intellectual
Property, (b) a Seller or one of its Affiliates (including any Target) has the right to use, and (c) is used in, or presently contemplated for use in, the operation or
conduct of the Business.

“Licensed Name” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(g)(ii).

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance, charge, deed of trust, hypothecation, security interest or claim of any kind.

“LifePRO License Agreement” means the sold affiliate license agreement, in form and substance substantially similar to Exhibit F attached hereto, or other
such form of license agreement reasonably satisfactory to Buyer evidencing the grant by PDMA to the Target Insurance Companies of a license permitting each
Target Insurance Company to use the LifePRO Software in accordance with Section 5(q), dated as of a date no later than the Closing Date, between PDMA, as
licensor, and one or more of the Target Insurance Company, as licensees.

“LifePRO Software” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(q).

“Master OnBase Agreement” means that certain Master Software License, Services and Support Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2005, by and
between HSI, as licensor, and American Financial Group, Inc., as licensee, as amended or supplemented prior to the date hereof.
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“Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse Change” means any effect, event, development, condition or change that, individually or in the aggregate
with other effects, events, developments, conditions or changes, either (a) is or could reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the assets, liabilities,
business, results of operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Targets, taken as a whole, or the Business; provided, that none of the following shall be
deemed to constitute, and none of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been, a Material Adverse Effect or Material Adverse
Change: (i) any adverse change, event, development, or effect (whether short-term or long-term) to the extent arising from (A) general business or economic
conditions, (B) national or international political conditions or social unrest, including the engagement by the United States in hostilities, whether or not pursuant
to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack upon the U.S., or any of its territories, possessions, or
diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or personnel of the U.S., (C) financial, banking, or securities markets (including any
disruption thereof and any decline in any market index), (D) changes in GAAP or SAP, (E) the announcement of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, (F) changes in Law, or (G) the identity of Buyer, except, in the case of (A), (B), (C), (D), (E) and (F), such changes, events, developments and effects
that disproportionately impact the Targets or the Business, (ii) any failure to meet or change in a forecast (whether internal or published) of revenue, earnings or
cash flow for any period, but not the facts and circumstances underlying such failure or change, or (b) impairs or could reasonably be expected to impair the
ability of any Party to consummate timely the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements or perform its obligations hereunder or
thereunder.

“Material Contract” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(q).

“Most Recent Balance Sheet” means the balance sheet contained in the most recent Statutory Statement for each Target Insurance Company and Seller
Insurance Company referred to in Section 4(g).

“Multiemployer Plan” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §3(37).

“Non-Compete Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(i)(i).

“Notice of Disagreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(ii).

“OnBase License Agreement” means the license agreement, containing terms and conditions substantially similar to the terms and conditions of the Master
OnBase Agreement, evidencing the grant by HSI to the Target Insurance Companies of a license permitting each Target Insurance Company to use the OnBase
Software in accordance with Section 5(q), dated as of a date no later than the Closing Date, between HSI, as licensor, and one or more of the Target Insurance
Company, as licensees.

“OnBase Software” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(q).

“Ordinary Course of Business” means, with respect to any Person, the ordinary course of such Person’s business consistent with such Person’s past custom
and practice (including with respect to quantity and frequency).

“Organizational Documents” means the articles of incorporation, certificate of incorporation, charter, bylaws, articles of formation, certificate of formation,
regulations, operating agreement, certificate of limited partnership, partnership agreement and all other similar documents, instruments or certificates executed,
adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation or organization of a Person, including any amendments thereto.
 

10



“Owned Business Intellectual Property” means Business Intellectual Property that is either (a) owned by a Target and is not included in the Excluded
Assets, or (b) owned by a Seller or one of its Affiliates and included in the Transferred Assets, and for the avoidance of doubt excludes any Business Intellectual
Property that is owned or controlled by a third party.

“Owned Real Property” means all land, together with all buildings, structures, improvements, and fixtures located thereon, and all easements and other
rights and interests appurtenant thereto, owned by any of the Targets.

“Party” and “Parties” have the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

“PDMA” means Professional Data Management Again, Inc.

“Permits” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(z)(i).

“Permitted Encumbrances” means (a) liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or for Taxes that the taxpayer is contesting in good faith through appropriate
proceedings, (b) purchase money liens and liens securing rental payments under capital lease arrangements, and (c) liens granted to Governmental Authorities in
connection with the operations of the Targets.

“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an
unincorporated organization, any other business entity, or a Governmental Authority (or any department, agency, or political subdivision thereof).

“Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(ee)(vii).

“Pre-Closing Confidentiality Agreement” means those agreements by and between any Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Targets), on the one
hand, and Persons expressing an interest in acquiring an ownership interest (whether by merger, sale or purchase of capital stock, sale or purchase of assets,
reinsurance or otherwise) in the capital stock or assets of the Targets, on the other hand, with respect to the confidentiality of information about the Targets or the
Business.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).

“Preliminary Allocation Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 9(i)(ii).

“Producers” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(x)(i).

“Prohibited Transaction” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §406 and Code §4975.

“Proposed Final Capital and Surplus” means the Capital and Surplus as of the Closing Date determined in accordance with the Agreed Accounting
Principles, after adjustment to reflect (a) the Transfer of the Excluded Assets from the Targets to Sellers pursuant to Section 2(b)(i), (b) the Transfer of the
Transferred Assets from Sellers to the Targets pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii), (c) the transactions contemplated as part of the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements to
occur immediately prior to the Closing, including the transfer of the Reinsurance Settlement Amounts, and (d) all other transactions contemplated hereby and by
the Ancillary Agreements to occur on or prior to the Closing Date, as reflected in the Proposed Final Settlement Statement.
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“Proposed Final Settlement Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(i).

“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c).

“Real Property Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(n)(v).

“Registered Intellectual Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(o)(ii).

“Reinsurance Adjustment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(vii).

“Reinsurance Agreements” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(w)(i).

“Reinsurance Settlement Amount” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit A-1 or Exhibit A-2, as applicable.

“Representatives” as to any Person, means such Person’s directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, representatives (including financial advisors, attorneys,
accountants and auditors) or agents.

“Retained Policies” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(g)(ii).

“Review Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(ii).

“SAP” means, with respect to an insurance company, the statutory accounting practices and procedures prescribed or permitted by the Insurance Regulator
in the state in which the insurance company is domiciled.

“Section 338 Taxes” means any Taxes that would not have been imposed but for the elections under Code §338(h)(10), or any elections under state, local or
other Tax Law that are required to be made or deemed to have been made as a result of any such Code §338(h)(10) elections.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Securities Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Seller Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 8(c).

“Seller Insurance Companies” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(g)(i).

“Sellers” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“Sellers Disclosure Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 3(a).
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“Sellers Transition Services Agreement” means that certain transition services agreement in the form attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B-
2.

“Settlement Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(vi).

“Shared Assets List” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(p).

“Shortfall Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e)(vi).

“Statutory Statements” has the meaning specified in Section 4(g)(i).

“Straddle Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 9(b).

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, or other business entity of which (a) if
a corporation, a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of
directors, managers, or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that
Person or a combination thereof or (b) if a limited liability company, partnership, association, or other business entity (other than a corporation), a majority of the
partnership or other similar ownership interests thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that
Person or a combination thereof and for this purpose, a Person or Persons own a majority ownership interest in such a business entity (other than a corporation) if
such Person or Persons shall be allocated a majority of such business entity’s gains or losses or shall be or control any managing director or general partner of
such business entity (other than a corporation). The term “Subsidiary” shall include all Subsidiaries of such Subsidiary.

“Systems” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(hh).

“Target” and “Targets” have the meaning set forth in the recitals above.

“Target Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(ee)(i).

“Target Capital and Surplus” means $55,000,000.

“Target Insurance Company” and “Target Insurance Companies” have the meaning set forth in the recitals above.

“Tax” or “Taxes” means (a) any federal, state, local, or non-U.S. income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation,
premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Code §59A), customs duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or
similar), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, or estimated
tax, escheat payments, or any other tax, custom, duty, governmental fee or other like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty,
or addition thereto, whether disputed or not, and (b) any liability for the payment of amounts determined by reference to amounts described in clause (a) as a
result of being or having been a member of any group of corporations that files, will file, or has filed Tax Returns on a combined, consolidated or unitary basis, as
a result of any obligation under any agreement or arrangement (including any Tax Sharing Arrangement), as a result of being a transferee or successor, or
otherwise.
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“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return or statement, or other similar statement relating to Taxes, including
any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“Tax Sharing Arrangement” means any written or unwritten agreement or arrangement providing for the allocation or payment of Tax liabilities or payment
for Tax benefits between or among members of any group of corporations filing Tax Returns that files, will file, or has filed Tax Returns on a combined,
consolidated or unitary basis.

“Third-Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 8(d)(i).

“Transaction Agreements” means, collectively, this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

“Transaction Reinsurance Agreements” means the two (2) reinsurance agreements in the forms attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits A-1 and
A-2.

“Transaction Shares” means all of the outstanding Capital Stock of Central Reserve, LAI and CSO.

“Transfer” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(b)(i).

“Transferred Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(b)(ii).

“Transferred Employees” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(f)(ii).

“Transition Services Agreements” means, collectively, the Buyer Transition Services Agreement and the Sellers Transition Services Agreement.

“Trust Agreements” means the two (2) trust agreements in substantially the forms attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits E-1 and E-2, together
with such changes requested by the trustee specified therein as are reasonably acceptable to Buyer and Sellers.

“UTAIC” has the meaning set forth in the preface above.

“WARN Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(j)(xxi).

“Wire Transfer” means a payment in immediately available funds by wire transfer in lawful money of the United States of America to such account or
accounts as shall have been designated by notice to the paying party.
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Section 2. Purchase and Sale of Transaction Shares; Asset Transfers.

(a) Purchase and Sale. On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Sellers shall sell, convey, assign, transfer and deliver to
Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase, acquire and accept from Sellers, all of the Transaction Shares free and clear of all Liens and restrictions on transfer (other than
restrictions under the Securities Act and state securities Laws or state insurance Laws of general applicability) for the consideration specified below in this
Section 2.

(b) Excluded Assets; Transferred Assets.

(i) Immediately prior to the Closing, each Seller shall cause the Targets directly or indirectly owned by it to distribute, assign, convey, deliver or
otherwise transfer (“Transfer”), to such Seller and/or one or more of its Affiliates (other than the Targets) all right, title and interest in, to or under all the
assets, properties or rights of every kind and description (other than those assets, properties and rights addressed in the Transaction Reinsurance
Agreements, which shall be addressed in accordance with the terms of such documents) that are owned by the Targets and that are used exclusively or
primarily in the operation or conduct of the Excluded Business, including those assets set forth in Section 2(b)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule
(collectively, the “Excluded Assets”); provided that in no event shall any Agent Balances payable to any Target be an Excluded Asset. Such Transfers shall
be made without any representations, warranties or other obligations or duties on the part of any of the Targets. All such Transfers shall be pursuant to
instruments of Transfer in a form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer and the applicable Seller. For the avoidance of doubt, the Transfer of the
Excluded Assets from the Targets to Sellers pursuant to this Section 2(b)(i) will be taken into account for purposes of the preparation of the Estimated
Settlement Statement, the Proposed Final Settlement Statement and the calculation of the Estimated Capital and Surplus and the Proposed Final Capital and
Surplus.

(ii) Immediately prior to the Closing, each Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates (other than the Targets) to, Transfer to the Target or Targets
designated by Buyer all right, title and interest in, to or under (A) all the assets, properties or rights of every kind and description (other than those assets,
properties and rights addressed in the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements, which shall be addressed in accordance with the terms of such documents) that
are owned by such Seller and/or its Affiliates (other than the Targets) and that are used exclusively or primarily in the operation or conduct of the Business,
including those assets set forth in Section 2(b)(ii)(A) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, and (B) all Agent Balances payable to CGIC or UTAIC
(collectively, the “Transferred Assets”); provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall any asset set forth in Section 2(b)(ii)(B) of the
Sellers Disclosure Schedule be a Transferred Asset. Such Transfers shall be made without any representations, warranties or other obligations or duties on
the part of Sellers or their Affiliates (other than those set forth herein). All such Transfers shall be pursuant to instruments of Transfer in a form and
substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer and the applicable Seller. For the avoidance of doubt, the Transfer of the Transferred Assets from Sellers to the
Targets pursuant to this Section 2(b)(ii) will be taken into account for purposes of the preparation of the Estimated Settlement Statement, the Proposed
Final Settlement Statement and the calculation of the Estimated Capital and Surplus and the Proposed Final Capital and Surplus.
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(c) Purchase Price. The purchase price payable by Buyer to Sellers for the Transaction Shares shall be an amount of cash equal to (i) $295,150,000 (the
“Base Purchase Price”), (ii) (A) minus the excess, if any, of (I) the Target Capital and Surplus over (II) the Estimated Capital and Surplus, or (B) plus the excess,
if any, of (I) the Estimated Capital and Surplus over (II) the Target Capital and Surplus. The Base Purchase Price, as adjusted pursuant to this Section 2(c), is
hereinafter referred to as the “Estimated Purchase Price”. The Estimated Purchase Price shall be paid pursuant to Section 7. The Estimated Purchase Price as
adjusted pursuant to Section 2(e), is hereinafter referred to as the “Purchase Price”. The Purchase Price shall be allocated among Sellers in accordance with the
instructions delivered by Sellers to Buyer no later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date.

(d) Pre-Closing Deliverables. At least five (5) Business Days prior to the anticipated Closing Date, Sellers shall deliver to Buyer:

(i) instructions designating the account or accounts to which the Estimated Purchase Price shall be deposited by Wire Transfer on the Closing Date;

(ii) a statement substantially in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto (the “Estimated Settlement Statement”) containing (A) a pro forma combined
balance sheet of Central Reserve and LAI as of the anticipated Closing Date, including supporting work papers, which shall (I) be derived from and
consistent with the Books and Records, (II) be prepared in good faith and in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles, and (III) set forth, in
reasonable detail, the Estimated Capital and Surplus, and (B) a reinsurance settlement statement as of the anticipated Closing Date, including supporting
work papers, which shall (I) be derived from and consistent with the books and records of each party to the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements, (II) be
prepared in good faith and in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles, (III) set forth in reasonable detail, Sellers’ good faith estimate of the
Reinsurance Settlement Amounts for each Transaction Reinsurance Agreement, and (IV) include a list of the assets to be Transferred in connection with the
initial settlement under each Transaction Reinsurance Agreement, which list shall specify the fair market value of each such asset as of the date of delivery
thereof, determined in accordance with the methodologies set forth in Annex II. For purposes of this Agreement, “Estimated Capital and Surplus” means
Sellers’ good faith determination of the Capital and Surplus as of the anticipated Closing Date, after adjustment to reflect (w) the Transfer of the Excluded
Assets from the Targets to Sellers pursuant to Section 2(b)(i), (x) the Transfer of the Transferred Assets from Sellers to the Targets pursuant to Section 2(b)
(ii), (y) the transactions contemplated as part of the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements to occur on the Closing Date, including the transfer of the
estimated Reinsurance Settlement Amounts as reflected in the Estimated Settlement Statement, and (z) all other transactions contemplated hereby and by
the Ancillary Agreements to occur on or prior to the Closing Date. Sellers shall consult with Buyer with respect to the preparation of the Estimated
Settlement Statement, and shall consider in good faith any comments to the Estimated Settlement Statement that may be provided by Buyer; provided, that
Sellers shall have no obligation whatsoever to accept or act upon any such comment; and
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(iii) a certificate, duly executed on behalf of GAFRI by the Chief Financial Officer of GAFRI, certifying that the Estimated Settlement Statement
was prepared in accordance with this Agreement.

(e) Purchase Price Adjustment; Payments on the Settlement Date.

(i) Within one hundred twenty (120) days following the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Sellers a statement (the “Proposed Final
Settlement Statement”) in substantially the same form as the Estimated Settlement Statement containing (A) a combined balance sheet of Central Reserve
and LAI setting forth a reasonably detailed calculation of the Proposed Final Capital and Surplus, and (B) a reinsurance settlement statement setting forth
(x) the Reinsurance Settlement Amount for each Transaction Reinsurance Agreement as of the Closing Date and (y) a list of the assets Transferred on the
Closing Date in connection with the initial settlement under each Transaction Reinsurance Agreement, which list shall specify the fair market value of each
such asset as of the Closing Date, determined in accordance with the methodologies set forth in Annex II. The Proposed Final Settlement Statement shall
be prepared in good faith and in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles. In connection with Buyer’s preparation of the Proposed Final
Settlement Statement, to the extent that Buyer does not have all relevant information in its possession, Buyer and its Representatives will be permitted to
review Sellers’ or any of Sellers’ Affiliates’ work papers and any work papers of Sellers’ and Sellers’ Affiliates’ independent accountants relating to the
preparation of the Proposed Final Settlement Statement, and each Seller will, and will cause its Affiliates to make reasonably available the individuals then
in its employ, if any, responsible for and knowledgeable about the information to be reflected in the Proposed Final Settlement Statement, in order to
respond to the reasonable inquiries of Buyer; provided, however, that the independent accountants and actuaries of Sellers will not be obligated to make
any work papers available to Buyer unless and until Buyer has signed a customary agreement relating to such access to work papers in form and substance
reasonably acceptable to such accountants or actuaries, as applicable. Buyer shall consult with Sellers with respect to the preparation of the Proposed Final
Settlement Statement and shall consider in good faith any comments to the Proposed Final Settlement Statement that may be provided by Sellers; provided,
that Buyer shall have no obligation whatsoever to accept or act upon any such comment.

(ii) Sellers will notify Buyer in writing (the “Notice of Disagreement”) within thirty (30) days following Buyer’s delivery of the Proposed Final
Settlement Statement (the “Review Period”) if Sellers disagree with the Proposed Final Settlement Statement by virtue of such document not being
prepared in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles and this Agreement; provided that Sellers shall not be permitted to dispute any line item of
the Proposed Final Settlement Statement on any basis other than that such line item or calculation, as applicable, contains mathematical errors or has not
been prepared in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles. To be complete, the Notice of Disagreement shall set forth in reasonable detail the
basis for such dispute, the amounts involved and Sellers’ good faith calculation of such disputed amounts. If Buyer has not received a Notice of
Disagreement that substantially complies with this Section prior to the expiration of the Review Period, then the Proposed Final Settlement Statement will
be deemed to have been accepted by Sellers in all respects and will become final and binding upon the Parties in accordance with Section 2(e)(iv).
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(iii) During the thirty (30) day period immediately following the delivery of a Notice of Disagreement (the “Consultation Period”), Sellers and Buyer
will negotiate in good faith to attempt to resolve any differences that they may have with respect to the matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement.

(iv) If, at the end of the Consultation Period, Sellers and Buyer have been unable to resolve any differences that they may have with respect to the
matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement, then Sellers and Buyer will submit all matters that remain in dispute with respect to the Notice of
Disagreement (along with a copy of the Proposed Final Settlement Statement marked to indicate those line items that are in dispute) to KPMG LLP (or to
such other independent certified public accounting firm in the United States of national recognition with appropriate actuarial expertise that is mutually
agreeable to Sellers and Buyer) (the “Independent Expert”). Within thirty (30) days after the submission of such matters to the Independent Expert, or as
soon as practicable thereafter, the Independent Expert will make a final determination, binding on the Parties, of the appropriate amount of each of the line
items in the Proposed Final Settlement Statement as to which Sellers and Buyer disagree as set forth in the Notice of Disagreement. With respect to each
disputed line item, such determination, if not in accordance with the position of either Sellers or Buyer, shall not be more favorable to Sellers than the
amounts advocated by Sellers in the Notice of Disagreement or more favorable to Buyer than the amounts advocated by Buyer in the Proposed Final
Settlement Statement with respect to such disputed line item. For the avoidance of doubt, (A) the Independent Expert’s review of the Proposed Final
Settlement Statement shall be limited to a determination of whether such statement was prepared without mathematical errors and in accordance with the
Agreed Accounting Principles and this Agreement, and (B) the Independent Expert shall not review any line items or make any determination with respect
to any matters not subject to a dispute specifically identified in the Notice of Disagreement. The Proposed Final Settlement Statement, and the Proposed
Final Capital and Surplus, as determined either through (x) agreement of the Parties pursuant to Section 2(e)(i) or 2(e)(iii), (y) the failure to timely deliver a
Notice of Disagreement pursuant to Section 2(e)(ii) or (z) through the action of the Independent Expert pursuant to this Section 2(e)(iv), are referred to as
the “Final Settlement Statement”, and the “Final Capital and Surplus”, respectively.

(v) The cost of the Independent Expert’s review and determination will be borne equally by Sellers and Buyer. During the Independent Expert’s
review, Buyer and Sellers will each make available to the Independent Expert interviews with such individuals, and such information, books and records
and work papers, as may be reasonably required by the Independent Expert to fulfill its obligations under Section 2(e)(iv); provided, however, that the
independent accountants and actuaries of Sellers or Buyer will not be obligated to make any work papers available to the Independent Expert unless and
until the Independent Expert has signed a customary agreement relating to such access to work papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such
accountants or actuaries, as applicable. In acting under this Agreement, the Independent Expert will be entitled to the privileges and immunities of an
arbitrator.
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(vi) If the Final Capital and Surplus is less than the Estimated Capital and Surplus, then Sellers shall pay to Buyer an amount equal to the excess of
the Estimated Capital and Surplus over the Final Capital and Surplus (the “Excess Amount”) by Wire Transfer, and if the Final Capital and Surplus is
greater than the Estimated Capital and Surplus, then Buyer shall pay to Sellers an amount equal to the excess of the Final Capital and Surplus over the
Estimated Capital and Surplus (the “Shortfall Amount”) by Wire Transfer. The Shortfall Amount or the Excess Amount, as applicable, shall be due and
payable on the second (2 ) Business Day after the Final Settlement Statement and the Final Capital and Surplus become such in accordance with
Section 2(e)(iv) (the “Settlement Date”). The Shortfall Amount or the Excess Amount, as applicable, (plus interest on such amount from the Closing Date
up to but excluding the Settlement Date at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable Rate as of the Closing Date), shall be paid by Wire Transfer on the
Settlement Date. The Parties acknowledge and agree that all payments under this Section 2(e)(vi) shall be treated as adjustments to Purchase Price for Tax
purposes, unless otherwise required by applicable Law.

(vii) After the Final Settlement Statement is determined, payments with respect to the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements (each such payment, a
“Reinsurance Adjustment”) shall be made by the applicable party(ies) to such Transaction Reinsurance Agreements to the applicable other party(ies) to
such Transaction Reinsurance Agreements in an amount equal to the net overpayment or underpayment, as applicable, as reflected in the Final Settlement
Statement. If any Reinsurance Adjustment is payable by a Target Insurance Company, Buyer shall cause the applicable Target Insurance Company(ies) to
pay to the applicable Affiliate(s) of Sellers such Reinsurance Adjustment, and if any Reinsurance Adjustment is payable by any Affiliate of Sellers, Sellers
shall cause their applicable Affiliate(s) to pay to the applicable Target Insurance Company(ies) such Reinsurance Adjustment. Any such Reinsurance
Adjustment will be paid by Wire Transfer within five (5) Business Days after the Final Settlement Statement is determined, together with interest thereon
from the Closing Date up to but excluding the date such Reinsurance Adjustment is paid at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable Rate as of the Closing
Date.

(f) Closing. Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated pursuant to Section 10(a), and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of each of the conditions
set forth in Section 7, the closing of the purchase and sale of the Transaction Shares (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of UTAIC in Austin, Texas,
commencing at 9:00 a.m. local time on the first Business Day of the month immediately following the month in which all of the conditions set forth in Section 7
are satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those
conditions at the Closing) or such other date, time or place as Buyer and Sellers may mutually determine. The actual date and time of the Closing are referred to
herein as the “Closing Date”. The Closing shall be effective as of 12:02 a.m. on the Closing Date.
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(g) Deliveries at Closing. At the Closing; (i) Sellers will deliver to Buyer the various certificates, instruments, stock certificates, and documents referred to
in Section 7(a) below and such other certificates, documents and instruments as Buyer may reasonably request or as may otherwise be necessary to consummate
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Agreements, and (ii) Buyer will deliver to Sellers the various certificates, instruments,
and documents referred to in Section 7(b) below and such other certificates, documents and instruments as Sellers may reasonably request or as may otherwise be
necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Agreements.

Section 3. Representations and Warranties Concerning Transaction.

(a) Sellers’ Representations and Warranties. Each Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that the statements contained in this Section 3(a) are correct and
complete as of the date of this Agreement and will be correct and complete as of the Closing Date (as though made then and as though the Closing Date were
substituted for the date of this Agreement throughout this Section 3(a)) with respect to itself, except as set forth in the disclosure schedule delivered by Sellers to
Buyer on the date hereof and initialed by the Parties (the “Sellers Disclosure Schedule”). The Sellers Disclosure Schedule will be arranged in paragraphs
corresponding to the lettered and numbered paragraphs contained in this Agreement.

(i) Organization of Sellers. Each Seller is (A) duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its
organization and has all requisite organizational power and authority to operate its business as now conducted, and (B) duly qualified as a foreign
corporation or other entity to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of its owned, operated or leased properties or the
nature of its activities makes such qualification necessary.

(ii) Authorization of Transaction. Seller and each applicable Affiliate of Seller (including each Target) has full power and authority (including full
corporate or other similar organizational power and authority) to execute and deliver each Transaction Agreement to which it is a party and to perform its
obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution and delivery by Seller and each applicable Affiliate of Seller (including each Target) of each of the
Transaction Agreements to which it is or will be a party, and the consummation by Seller and each applicable Affiliate of Seller (including each Target) of
the transactions contemplated by, and the performance by Seller and each applicable Affiliate of Seller (including each Target) of its obligations under, such
Transaction Agreements have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate or other similar organizational action on the part of Seller and each such
Affiliate of Seller (including each Target). Each of the Transaction Agreements to which Seller or any Affiliate of Seller (including each Target) is a party
has been, or upon execution and delivery thereof, will be, duly executed and delivered by Seller and each such Affiliate of Seller (including each Target).
Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by each of the other parties hereto or thereto, each of the Transaction Agreements to which Seller or
any Affiliate of Seller (including each Target) is a party constitutes, or upon execution and delivery thereof, will constitute, the valid and legally binding
obligation of Seller and each applicable Affiliate of Seller (including each Target), enforceable in accordance with its terms and conditions.
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(iii) Non-contravention. The execution and delivery by Seller (or any applicable Affiliate of Seller (other than the Targets)) of, the performance by
Seller (or any applicable Affiliate of Seller (other than the Targets)) of, and the consummation by Seller (or any applicable Affiliate of Seller (other than the
Targets)) of the transactions contemplated by, the Transaction Agreements to which Seller or such applicable Affiliate of Seller (other than the Targets) is
or will be a party do not and will not (A) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 4(c)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, violate or
conflict with any Law, Governmental Order, or other restriction of any Governmental Authority to which Seller (or any applicable Affiliate of Seller
(including the Targets)) is subject or, any provision of the Organizational Documents of Seller (or any applicable Affiliate of Seller (including the Targets)),
(B) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default (or an event that, with or without the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a
default) under, result in the acceleration, termination, modification, or cancellation of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify, or
cancel, or require any consent, approval or notice, under any agreement, contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement to which Seller or any
Affiliate of Seller (including the Targets) is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets or the Transferred Assets are subject, or (C) result in
the imposition or creation of a Lien upon or with respect to the Transaction Shares or any of the Transferred Assets.

(iv) Brokers’ Fees. Except for obligations to Goldman, Sachs & Co., for which Sellers (but not the Targets) shall be solely responsible, there are no
fees, commissions or any other amounts payable to any investment banker, broker, finder, agent or other intermediary with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

(v) Transaction Shares. The applicable Seller holds of record and owns beneficially the number of Transaction Shares set forth next to its name in
Section 3(a)(v) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, free and clear of any restrictions on transfer (other than any restrictions under the Securities Act and
state securities laws and under state insurance laws of general applicability), Taxes, Liens, options, warrants, purchase rights, contracts, commitments,
equities, claims, and demands. The applicable Seller has the full and unrestricted power and authority to sell, convey, assign, transfer and deliver the
Transaction Shares set forth next to its name in Section 3(a)(v) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule as provided in this Agreement, and the sale, conveyance,
assignment, transfer and delivery of such Transaction Shares will convey to Buyer good title to such Transaction Shares, free and clear of all restrictions on
transfer (other than any restrictions under the Securities Act and state securities laws and under state insurance laws of general applicability), Taxes, Liens,
options, warrants, purchase rights, contracts, commitments, equities, claims, and demands. No such Seller is a party to any option, warrant, purchase right,
or other contract or commitment (other than this Agreement) that could require such Seller to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any of the Transaction
Shares. No Seller is a party to any voting trust, proxy, or other agreement or understanding with respect to the voting, transfer or dividend rights of any of
the Transaction Shares.
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(b) Buyer’s Representations and Warranties. Buyer represents and warrants to Sellers that the statements contained in this Section 3(b) are correct and
complete as of the date of this Agreement and will be correct and complete as of the Closing Date (as though made then and as though the Closing Date were
substituted for the date of this Agreement throughout this Section 3(b)), except as set forth in the disclosure schedule delivered by Buyer to Sellers on the date
hereof and initialed by the Parties (the “Buyer Disclosure Schedule”). The Buyer Disclosure Schedule will be arranged in paragraphs corresponding to the lettered
and numbered paragraphs contained in this Agreement.

(i) Organization of Buyer. Buyer is (A) a corporation (or other entity) duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the Laws of the
jurisdiction of its incorporation (or other formation) and has all requisite corporate power and authority to operate its business as now conducted, and
(B) duly qualified as a foreign corporation to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of its owned, operated or leased
properties or the nature of its activities makes such qualification necessary.

(ii) Authorization of Transaction. Buyer has full power and authority (including full corporate or other entity power and authority) to execute and
deliver each Transaction Agreement to which it is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution and delivery by Buyer of
each of the Transaction Agreements to which it is or will be a party, and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated by, and the
performance by Buyer of its obligations under, such Transaction Agreements have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of
Buyer. Each of the Transaction Agreements to which Buyer is a party has been, or upon execution and delivery thereof, will be, duly executed and
delivered by Buyer. Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto or thereto, each of the Transaction Agreements to
which Buyer is a party constitutes, or upon execution and delivery thereof, will constitute, the valid and legally binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable in
accordance with its terms and conditions. Except as set forth in Section 3(b)(ii) of the Buyer Disclosure Schedule, the execution and delivery by Buyer of
the Transaction Agreements to which it is or will be a party do not, and the performance by Buyer of, and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions
contemplated by, such Transaction Agreements will not, require any consent, approval, license, permit, order, qualification, authorization of, or registration
or other action by, or any filing with or notification to, any Governmental Authority (each, a “Governmental Approval”).
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(iii) Non-contravention. The execution and delivery by Buyer of, the performance by Buyer of, and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions
contemplated by, the Transaction Agreements to which Buyer is or will be a party do not and will not (A) assuming compliance with the matters referred to
in Section 3(b)(ii) of the Buyer Disclosure Schedule, violate or conflict with any Law, Governmental Order, or other restriction of any Governmental
Authority to which Buyer is subject or any provision of the Organizational Documents of Buyer or (B) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a
default (or an event that, with or without the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default) under, result in the termination,
cancellation or acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or require any consent, approval or notice under, any
agreement, contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement to which Buyer is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets are
subject, except, in each case, any such violations, conflicts, breaches or defaults as would not materially impair or delay the ability of Buyer to consummate
the transactions contemplated by, or perform its obligations under, the Transaction Agreements to which Buyer is or will be a party.

(iv) Brokers’ Fees. Buyer has no liability or obligation (contingent or otherwise) to pay any fees, commissions or any other amounts to any
investment banker, broker, finder, agent or other intermediary with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements.

(v) Investment Purpose. Buyer is acquiring the Transaction Shares solely for its own account for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for
offer or sale in connection with, any distribution thereof in violation of any securities Law. Buyer acknowledges that the Transaction Shares are not
registered under the Securities Act, or any state securities laws, and that the Transaction Shares may not be transferred or sold except pursuant to the
registration provisions of the Securities Act, or pursuant to an applicable exemption therefrom and subject to state securities laws and regulations and state
insurance Laws of general applicability, as applicable. Buyer is able to bear the economic risk of holding the Transaction Shares (including total loss of its
investment). Buyer (either alone or together with its advisors) has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable
of evaluating the merits and risk of its investment in the Transaction Shares.

(vi) Sufficiency of Funds. Buyer has sufficient cash on hand or other sources of immediately available funds to enable it to make payment of the
Purchase Price and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(vii) Tax Matters. Buyer has no plan or intention to take any action with respect to the Targets subsequent to the Closing that would cause the
transactions contemplated hereby to constitute part of a transaction that is the same as, or substantially similar to, the “Intermediary Transaction Tax
Shelter” described in Internal Revenue Service Notices 2001-16 and 2008-111.

 
23



(viii) Independent Investigation. Buyer has conducted its own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business, results of operations,
prospects, condition (financial or otherwise) or assets of the Business. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, (A) no investigation by
Buyer shall affect the representations or warranties contained in Section 3(a) and Section 4, and (B) such representations and warranties shall not be
affected or deemed waived by reason of the fact that Buyer knew or should have known that any of the same is or might be inaccurate in any respect.

Section 4. Representations and Warranties Concerning the Business.

Sellers represent and warrant to Buyer that the statements contained in this Section 4 are correct and complete as of the date of this Agreement and will be
correct and complete as of the Closing Date (as though made then and as though the Closing Date were substituted for the date of this Agreement throughout this
Section 4), except as set forth in the Sellers Disclosure Schedule.

(a) Organization, Qualification, and Corporate Power.

(i) Each of the Targets is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization. Each Target is
duly authorized to conduct business and is in good standing (or the local law equivalent) under the Laws of each jurisdiction where such qualification is
required. Each Target has full organizational power and authority to carry on the business in which it is engaged and to own and use the assets and
properties owned and used by it.

(ii) Sellers have made available to Buyer (A) true and complete copies of the Organizational Documents of each Target, as amended to the date of
this Agreement, and (B) true and complete copies of the stock transfer books and minute books or similar records of each Target.

(iii) Section 4(a)(iii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule lists the name of and all titles held by each director and officer of each Target as of the date of
this Agreement.

(b) Capitalization.

(i) The authorized capitalization of each Target and the number of outstanding shares (or other applicable units) of each class of authorized Capital
Stock of each Target are set forth in Section 4(b)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule and, except as set forth in Section 4(b)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure
Schedule, no shares (or other applicable units) of Capital Stock of any Target are issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. All of the issued and
outstanding shares (or other applicable units) of each class or series of Capital Stock of the Targets (A) have been duly authorized, (B) are validly issued,
fully paid, and non-assessable, (C) were not issued in violation of any preemptive or subscription rights, and (D) are held of record by the respective Seller
or Target as set forth in Section 4(b)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule free and clear of all restrictions on transfer (other than any restrictions under the
Securities Act and state securities laws and under state insurance laws of general applicability), Taxes, Liens, options, warrants, purchase rights, contracts,
commitments, equities, claims, and demands. There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights, conversion
rights, exchange rights, or
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other rights, contracts, commitments or arrangements that could require the issuance, sale, purchase, return or redemption of any shares (or other applicable units)
of Capital Stock of any Target. There are no outstanding securities convertible or exchangeable for any shares (or other applicable units) of Capital Stock of any
Target and no such securities or obligations evidencing such rights are outstanding. There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation rights, phantom
stock plans, securities with profit participation rights or features, or similar rights, plans, obligations or commitments of any Target. The Transaction Shares and
the outstanding shares (or other applicable units) of Capital Stock of each Target Subsidiary have not been issued in violation of any applicable Law or such
Person’s Organizational Documents. None of the Targets has issued any debt securities. There are no voting trusts, stockholder or member agreements, proxies, or
other rights, agreements or understandings with respect to the voting, transfer or dividend rights of the Capital Stock of any Target, including the Transaction
Shares.

(ii) Except as set forth in Section 4(b)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, none of the Targets have any Subsidiaries or directly or indirectly
control any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other entity.

(c) Non-contravention. Except as set forth in Section 4(c)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, the execution and delivery by each Target (or any
applicable Affiliate of the Targets) of, the performance by each Target (or any applicable Affiliate of the Targets) of, and the consummation by each Target (or any
applicable Affiliate of the Targets) of the transactions contemplated by, the Transaction Agreements to which such Target or such applicable Affiliate of the
Targets is or will be a party do not and will not (i) violate or conflict with any Law, Governmental Order, or other restriction of any Governmental Authority to
which any Target or any of its Affiliates is subject or any provision of the Organizational Documents of any Target or any of its Affiliates, or (ii) conflict with,
result in a breach of, constitute a default (or an event that, with or without the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default) under, result in
or permit the termination, modification or cancellation of, or any acceleration of remedies, penalty, increase in material benefits payable by any Target or any of
its Affiliates or decrease in material benefits payable to any Target or any of its Affiliates under, or require any consent, approval or notice under any agreement,
contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement to which any Target or any of its Affiliates is a party or by which any Target or any of its Affiliates is
bound or to which any of its assets or the Transferred Assets, are subject (or result in the imposition of any Lien, other than a Permitted Encumbrance, upon any
of its assets or the Transferred Assets), except where the violation, conflict, breach, default, acceleration, termination, modification, cancellation, failure to give
notice, or Lien would not have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in Section 4(c)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, the execution and delivery by
each Seller and each applicable Affiliate of Sellers (including each Target) of the Transaction Agreements to which any of them is or will be a party do not, and
the performance by each Seller and each applicable Affiliate of Sellers (including each Target) of, and the consummation by each Seller and each applicable
Affiliate of Sellers (including each Target) of the transactions contemplated by, such Transaction Agreements will not, require Governmental Approval.
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(d) Brokers’ Fees. No Target has any liability or obligation (contingent or otherwise) to pay any fees, commissions or any other amounts to any investment
banker, broker, finder, agent or other intermediary with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

(e) Title to or Right to Use Business Assets. The Targets and their Affiliates have good, valid and marketable title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, or
otherwise have the right to use pursuant to a valid and enforceable license or similar contractual arrangement, all properties and assets, tangible or intangible,
used in the Business, located on their premises, or shown on the Most Recent Balance Sheet or acquired after the date thereof, including the Transferred Assets
and the Investment Assets, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Encumbrances), except for properties and assets disposed of in the Ordinary Course of
Business since the date of the Most Recent Balance Sheet (collectively, the “Business Assets”). At the Closing, the Targets will have good, valid and marketable
title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, or otherwise have the right to use pursuant to a valid and enforceable license or similar contractual arrangement, all
Business Assets.

(f) Sufficiency of Business Assets. The Business Assets (excluding the Investment Assets) and the right to receive the services listed in the Sellers
Transition Services Agreement, taken as a whole, comprise all of the properties, assets and rights necessary for Buyer to conduct the Business immediately after
the Closing in substantially the same manner as it is presently being conducted by Sellers and their Affiliates.

(g) Statutory and GAAP Statements.

(i) Sellers have delivered to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of the following annual and quarterly statutory statements, in each case together
with the exhibits, schedules and notes thereto: (A) the annual statement of each Target Insurance Company and each Affiliate of Sellers (other than the
Targets) that has issued insurance policies in connection with the Business and/or that will be a party to any Transaction Reinsurance Agreement (such
Affiliates of Sellers, the “Seller Insurance Companies”) as of and for the annual periods ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, in each case, as filed
with the Insurance Regulator of the jurisdiction of domicile of such Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company, as applicable, (B) the audited
statutory financial statements of each Target Insurance Company and each Seller Insurance Company as of and for the annual periods ended December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008, including any actuarial opinions, memorandums, affirmations or certifications, in each case, as filed with the Insurance Regulator of
the jurisdiction of domicile of such Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company, as applicable, and (C) as and when available, the audited
statutory financial statements of each Target Insurance Company and Seller Insurance Company as of the annual period ended December 31, 2011 and the
quarterly statements of each Target Insurance Company and Seller Insurance Company as of and for each quarterly period ended since December 31, 2011,
in each case as filed with the Insurance Regulator of the jurisdiction of domicile of such Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company, as
applicable, (together with any statutory quarterly statement of each Target Insurance Company and Seller Insurance Company for any quarterly periods
ended after the date hereof, in any case filed with or submitted to the applicable Insurance Regulator on or after the date of this Agreement and on or prior
to the Closing Date, the “Statutory Statements”).
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(ii) Each Statutory Statement (A) was derived from and is consistent with the Books and Records of the applicable Target Insurance Company or
Seller Insurance Company, (B) was prepared in accordance with all applicable Laws and SAP, (C) was timely filed with or submitted to the applicable
Insurance Regulator on forms prescribed or permitted by such Insurance Regulator, (D) was prepared in compliance with the internal controls procedures
of the applicable Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company, and (E) fairly presents, in all material respects, in accordance with SAP, the
statutory financial position, results of operations, assets, liabilities, capital and surplus, changes in statutory surplus and cash flows of the applicable Target
Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company at the date of, and for the periods referred to therein. No material deficiencies have been asserted in
writing by any Governmental Authority with respect to any Statutory Statement which has not been cured, waived, or otherwise resolved to the material
satisfaction of the Governmental Authority.

(iii) Section 4(g)(iii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth an unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet and statement of income of Central
Reserve and LAI as of December 31, 2011, which (A) was derived from and consistent with the Books and Records, (B) was prepared in good faith and in
accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles, and (C) sets forth, in reasonable detail, the Capital and Surplus as of December 31, 2011, after
adjustment to reflect (I) the contemplated Transfer of the Excluded Assets from the Targets to Sellers pursuant to Section 2(b)(i), (II) the contemplated
Transfer of the Transferred Assets from Sellers to the Targets pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii), and (III) the transactions contemplated by the Transaction
Reinsurance Agreements to occur immediately prior to the Closing, in each case, as if the Closing Date and all transfers contemplated in clauses (I) through
(III) of this Section 4(g)(iii) occurred on December 31, 2011.

(iv) Section 4(g)(iv) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth an unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet and statement of income of Central
Reserve, LAI and CSO as of December 31, 2011, which (A) was derived from and consistent with the Books and Records, (B) was prepared in good faith
using procedures and methodologies not materially inconsistent with GAAP, and (C) sets forth, in reasonable detail, the financial position, assets and
liabilities of Central Reserve, LAI and CSO as of December 31, 2011, after adjustment to reflect (I) the contemplated Transfer of the Excluded Assets from
the Targets to Sellers pursuant to Section 2(b)(i), (II) the contemplated Transfer of the Transferred Assets from Sellers to the Targets pursuant to
Section 2(b)(ii), and (III) the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements to occur immediately prior to the Closing Date, in each
case, as if the Closing Date and all transfers contemplated in clauses (I) through (III) of this Section 4(g)(iv) occurred on December 31, 2011.
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(v) The aggregate amount of CSO’s assets determined in accordance with GAAP (applied consistently with CSO’s past practice) equals or exceeds
the aggregate amount of CSO’s liabilities determined in accordance with GAAP (applied consistently with CSO’s past practice).

(vi) Section 4(g)(vi) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth an unaudited balance sheet and statement of income of CSO as of and for the
annual period ended December 31, 2011 and as of and for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012. Each balance sheet and statement of income of CSO
set forth in Section 4(g)(vi) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule (A) was derived from and is consistent with the Books and Records of CSO, (B) was
prepared in accordance with applicable Law and GAAP consistently applied, (C) was prepared in compliance with the internal controls and procedures of
CSO, and (D) fairly presents, in all material respects, in accordance with GAAP, the financial position, results of operations, assets, liabilities and cash
flows of CSO at the date of, and for the periods referred to therein.

(h) Actuarial Report; Reserves; Risk-Based Capital.

(i) Sellers have delivered or made available to Buyer a complete and correct copy of each actuarial opinion, memorandum, affirmation and
certification that was filed with an Insurance Regulator with respect to any Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company since January 1, 2009,
and all attachments, addenda, supplements and modifications thereto (the “Actuarial Reports”). The information and data furnished by the Target Insurance
Companies, Sellers or their Affiliates to their respective actuaries in connection with the preparation of each Actuarial Report were complete and accurate
in all material respects as of the date so delivered, and the Actuarial Reports were based upon inventories of policies for the Target Insurance Companies,
Sellers and their Affiliates at their respective times of preparation.

(ii) The reserves and other liability amounts established or reflected on each Statutory Statement, including reserves and other liability amounts in
respect of the Insurance Contracts (A) were determined in accordance with SAP applied on a consistent basis for the periods presented, (B) were computed
based on reasonable actuarial assumptions in accordance with generally accepted actuarial standards applied on a consistent basis for the periods presented,
(C) are fairly stated in all material respects in accordance with sound actuarial principles, and (D) are in compliance in all material respects with all
applicable Laws.

(iii) Sellers have made available to Buyer complete and correct copies of all analyses and reports submitted by any of the Target Insurance
Companies to any insurance regulatory authority during the twenty-four (24) months prior to the date hereof relating to their respective risk-based capital
calculations. All such analyses and reports are true and correct in all material respects.
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(i) Internal Controls.

(i) Each Target and, solely with respect to the Business, each Seller Insurance Company, maintains internal accounting controls which provide
reasonable assurance that (A) transactions are executed only with management’s authorization; (B) transactions are recorded as necessary to maintain
accountability for its assets and permit preparation of (I) in the case of the Target Insurance Companies, its financial and statutory statements in conformity
in all material respects with SAP and (II) in the case of CSO, its financial statements in conformity in all material respects with GAAP; (C) access to its
assets is only permitted in accordance with management’s authorization; and (D) the reporting of its assets is compared with existing assets at regular
intervals and appropriate actions are taken with respect to any differences.

(ii) Neither the Targets nor the Seller Insurance Companies nor any of their respective directors or officers nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers, any of
their respective non-officer or director employees, auditors, accountants or Representatives has received any written non-frivolous complaint, allegation,
assertion or claim, regarding (A) the accounting, reserving or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of the Targets, the Seller Insurance
Companies or their respective internal accounting controls, including any complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that any Target or Seller Insurance
Company has engaged in questionable accounting, reserving or auditing practices; (B) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the design or
operation of any Target’s or Seller Insurance Company’s internal controls over financial reporting which is reasonably likely to adversely affect such
Target’s or Seller Insurance Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; or (C) any fraud, whether or not material,
that involves management or other employees of any Target, Seller Insurance Company or any of their respective Affiliates who have a significant role in
such Target’s or Seller Insurance Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

(j) Events Subsequent to Most Recent Fiscal Year End. Except as set forth in Section 4(j) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2011,
(A) each Target and, solely with respect to the Business, each of its Affiliates, has conducted the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business, and (B) there has
not occurred any event or events that, individually or in the aggregate, have resulted in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Change.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and specifically excepting the sale of Great American Life Assurance Company pursuant to the GALAC SPA
(which Buyer acknowledges), since that date:

(i) no Target or any of its Affiliates has sold, leased, transferred, or assigned any Business Assets outside the Ordinary Course of Business;

(ii) no Target or any of its Affiliates has entered into any Material Contracts or any other material agreement, contract, lease, or license in connection
with the Business outside the Ordinary Course of Business;

(iii) no Target or any of its Affiliates has accelerated, terminated, made material modifications to, waived or released any material rights or claims
under, or canceled any Material Contract or any other material agreement, contract, lease, or license to which it is a party or by which it is bound in
connection with the Business outside the Ordinary Course of Business;
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(iv) none of the Targets or, solely with respect to the Business, their Affiliates, have made any change in, to the extent applicable, its underwriting,
reinsurance, claim processing and payment, selling, reserving, financial accounting or investment policies, guidelines, practices or principles (other than
any change required by applicable Laws, or in respect of underwriting or claims administration, in the Ordinary Course of Business);

(v) no Target has entered into any new line of business;

(vi) no Target or any of its Affiliates has incurred any Lien (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon any Business Assets;

(vii) no Target has made any capital expenditures in excess of $50,000, individually or in excess of $200,000 in the aggregate;

(viii) no Target has made any material capital investment in, or any material loan to, any other Person;

(ix) no Target has made a loan to or guaranteed the obligations of any other Person or created, incurred, or assumed more than $50,000 in aggregate
indebtedness for borrowed money and capitalized lease obligations;

(x) no Target or any of its Affiliates has transferred, assigned, or granted any license or sublicense of any rights under or with respect to any Business
Intellectual Property;

(xi) there has been no change made or authorized in the Organizational Documents of any Target;

(xii) no Target or any of its Affiliates has issued, delivered, transferred, sold, pledged or otherwise disposed of or encumbered any Capital Stock of
any Target or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any such Capital Stock, or granted any options, warrants, or other rights to purchase or
obtain (including upon conversion, exchange, or exercise) any such Capital Stock;

(xiii) no Target has declared, set aside, or paid any dividend or made any distribution with respect to its Capital Stock (whether in cash or in kind) or
redeemed, purchased, or otherwise acquired any shares (or other applicable units) of its Capital Stock or other securities, and none of the Targets or their
Affiliates have effected any recapitalization, reclassification, stock split or like change in the capitalization of any Target;

(xiv) no Target has experienced any material damage, destruction, or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) to its property, and no Affiliate of
the Targets has experienced any material damage, destruction, or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) to any Transferred Asset;

(xv) no Target or any of its Affiliates has made any loan to any Business Employee, or entered into any other transaction with any Business
Employee;
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(xvi) no Target or any of its Affiliates has entered into, modified the terms of or terminated any employment or service contract, written or oral, with
any Business Employee or modified the terms of any existing such contract;

(xvii) no Target or any of its Affiliates has increased the compensation or benefits of any Business Employees, other than annual increases in base
compensation in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xviii) no Target or any of its Affiliates has made any material change in the terms of employment or service for any Business Employee (other than
changes required by applicable Laws);

(xix) no Target or any of its Affiliates has adopted, amended or terminated any Employee Benefit Plan (other than changes required by applicable
Laws);

(xx) no Target or any of its Affiliates has hired or terminated any officers or key employees with respect to the Business;

(xxi) no Target or any of its Affiliates has implemented any employee layoffs with respect to Business Employees requiring notice under the Worker
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended, or any similar state, local, or non-U.S. law, regulation, or ordinance (collectively the
“WARN Act”);

(xxii) no Target or, solely with respect to the Business, any of its Affiliates, has settled or compromised or agreed to the dismissal of any Action or
threatened Action (in each case, except in the case of the Target Insurance Companies for claims under any Insurance Contracts within applicable policy
limits), other than settlements or compromises that involved solely cash payments of less than $50,000 in the aggregate; and

(xxiii) no Target or any of its Affiliates has committed to any of the foregoing.

(k) Undisclosed Liabilities. No Target or, solely with respect to the Business, Seller Insurance Company, has any liabilities or obligations (whether known
or unknown, whether asserted or unasserted, whether absolute or contingent, whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due
or to become due), in each case, of the type that would be required by SAP or GAAP to be specifically reflected on a balance sheet of the Business, other than:
(i) liabilities specifically set forth on the face of the Most Recent Balance Sheet; (ii) liabilities that have arisen after the date of the Most Recent Balance Sheet in
the Ordinary Course of Business; (iii) liabilities that would not reasonably be expected to cause or effect, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse
Change; and (iv) liabilities reflected in Section 4(k) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule.
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(l) Legal Compliance. Except as set forth in Section 4(l) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, each Target and, solely with respect to the Business, each
Seller Insurance Company, has complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws (including rules, regulations, codes, plans, injunctions, judgments,
orders, decrees, rulings, and charges thereunder and including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 78dd-1 et seq.) of federal, state, local, and non-U.S.
Governmental Authorities (and all agencies thereof), and no Action has been filed or commenced against any of them alleging any failure so to comply. None of
the Targets or, solely with respect to the Business, the Seller Insurance Companies (i) has received, since January 1, 2009, any written notice or other written
communication from any Governmental Authority regarding any actual or alleged material violation of, or material failure on the part of, the Targets or the Seller
Insurance Companies to comply with any Laws or Governmental Orders applicable to it or its assets, properties or businesses (including any Laws regulating the
insurance business), or (ii) is a party to, or bound by, any Governmental Order that is material to the Business. None of the Targets is relying on any exemption
from or deferral of any Law or Permit that would not be available to the Targets after Buyer acquires the Transaction Shares. Each Target has filed all reports,
statements, documents, registrations, filings or submissions it was required under applicable Law to file with any Governmental Authority, and all such reports,
statements, documents, registrations, filings and submissions were in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws when filed or as amended or
supplemented and contained no untrue statement of a material fact and did not omit to state any material fact required to be stated or incorporated by reference
therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No material violations
or material deficiencies have been asserted by any such Governmental Authority with respect to such reports, registrations, statements, documents, filings or
submissions that have not been resolved to the satisfaction of the Governmental Authority that noted such material violation or material deficiency.

(m) Tax Matters.

(i) All Income Tax Returns and all other material Tax Returns required to be filed by or on behalf of any Target or with respect to the Transferred
Assets have been filed. All such Tax Returns as so filed disclose all Taxes required to be paid for the periods covered thereby. All material Taxes due and
owing by each Target, in respect of the Business or any Transferred Asset, or with respect to the assets held by CSO (in each case whether or not shown on
any Tax Return) have been paid. Except as set forth in Section 4(m)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, no Target currently is the beneficiary of any
extension of time within which to file any Tax Return. There are no Liens for Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable) upon any Business Assets
or any other assets of any Target. Each Target has withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or
owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder, or other third party, and all Forms W-2 and 1099 required with respect thereto have
been properly completed and timely filed.

(ii) Except as set forth in Section 4(m)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule there is no material dispute or claim concerning any Tax liability of any
Target or in respect of the Business or any Transferred Asset either (A) claimed or raised by any Governmental Authority in writing or (B) as to which any
of Sellers and the directors and officers of any Target has Knowledge based upon personal contact with any agent of such Governmental Authority. No
claim has ever been made by a Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where a Target has never paid Taxes or filed Tax Returns asserting that such Target
is or may be subject to Taxes assessed by such jurisdiction.
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(iii) Section 4(m)(iii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule lists all federal, state, local, and non-U.S. Tax Returns filed with respect to the Targets for
taxable periods ended on or after December 31, 2009, indicates those Tax Returns that have been audited, and indicates those Tax Returns that currently are
the subject of audit. Except as set forth in Section 4(m)(iii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, there is no other Action, audit, or assessment pending or
proposed or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened with respect to Taxes for which a Target may be liable. Sellers have made available to Buyer copies of
all federal Income Tax Returns, examination reports, and statements of deficiencies assessed against, or agreed to by the Targets since December 31, 2008.
All such deficiencies or assessments have been paid in full or otherwise finally resolved. Unless disclosed in Section 4(m)(iii) of the Sellers Disclosure
Schedule, no waiver of any statute of limitations relating to Taxes for which a Target may be liable is in effect, and no written request for such a waiver is
outstanding. No agreement to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency for which any Target may be liable is in effect. There
are no Tax rulings, requests for rulings, or closing agreements relating to Taxes for which any Target may be liable that could affect any Target’s liability
for Taxes for any taxable period ending after the Closing Date.

(iv) No Target is a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement, or plan that has resulted or would result, separately or in the aggregate, in the
payment of any “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of Code §280G (or any corresponding provision of state, local, or non-U.S. Tax law). No
transaction contemplated by this Agreement is subject to withholding under Code §1445 (related to “FIRPTA”). The Targets (other than CSO) have been
members of an Affiliated Group filing a consolidated federal Income Tax Return (as described in Section 4(m)(iv) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule). No
Target has any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than such Target) under Reg. §1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of Law), as a transferee or
successor, by contract, or otherwise. All Tax Sharing Arrangements and Tax indemnity arrangements relating to each Target (other than this Agreement)
will terminate on the Closing Date and no Target will have any liability thereunder for any taxable year commencing after the Closing Date. No Target has
or has had any direct or indirect ownership interest in any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other entity (other than another Target). No election
under Treasury Regulation §1.7701-3 with respect to the federal income tax classification of CSO has been made.

(v) The unpaid Taxes of each Target (A) did not, as of the last day of the immediately preceding calendar month, exceed the reserve for Tax liability
(rather than any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) set forth on the face of the Most Recent
Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes thereto) and (B) will not exceed that reserve as adjusted for operations and transactions through the Closing Date in
accordance with the past custom and practice of the Targets in filing their Tax Returns.
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(vi) No Target will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or
portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any:

(A) change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date;

(B) “closing agreement” as described in Code §7121 (or any corresponding or similar provision of income Tax Law) executed on or prior to
the Closing Date;

(C) intercompany transactions or any excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Code §1502 (or any corresponding or
similar provision of income Tax Law);

(D) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date;

(E) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date; or

(F) election under Code §108(i).

(vii) No Target has distributed Capital Stock of another Person, or has had its Capital Stock distributed by another Person, in a transaction that was
purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Code §355 or Code §361.

(viii) No Target is or has been a party to any “reportable transaction,” as defined in Reg. §1.6011-4(b)(1).

(ix) Any powers of attorney granted by any Target prior to the Closing relating to Taxes will terminate and be of no effect following the Closing.

(x) Except as set forth in Section 4(m)(x) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, no Target owns an entity which is disregarded as an entity separate from
its owner for federal income tax purposes.

(xi) The sale of the Transaction Shares pursuant to this Agreement is not subject to the rules of Reg. §1.1502-36.

(xii) No Target is, or during the past 12-month period has been, a United States shareholder (within the meaning of Code §951(b)) of a controlled
foreign corporation (within the meaning of Code §957).

(xiii) There are no tax credits, grants or similar amounts that are or could be subject to clawback or recapture as a result of (A) the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, or (B) a failure by any Target to satisfy one or more requirements on which the credit, grant or similar amount is or was
conditioned.
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(n) Real Property.

(i) None of the Targets owns any parcels of Owned Real Property. The Targets have no outstanding options or obligations, rights of first offer or
rights of first refusal to purchase any real property.

(ii) Section 4(n)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth the address of each parcel of Leased Real Property, and a true and complete list of all
Leases for each such Leased Real Property (including the date and name of the parties to such Lease document). Sellers have delivered to Buyer a true and
complete copy of each such Lease document (including any amendments, renewals, extensions, guarantees and SNDAs related thereto), and in the case of
any oral Lease, a written summary of the material terms of such Lease. Except as set forth in Section 4(n)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, with
respect to each of the Leases:

(A) each of the applicable Targets has the right to use the Leased Real Property for the full term of each such Lease (and any renewal option
relating thereto);

(B) each of the applicable Targets has a valid leasehold interest in the real property subject to a Lease included in the Leased Real Property,
free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Encumbrances;

(C) such Lease is legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect;

(D) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement do not require the consent of any other party to such Lease (except for those Leases for
which Lease Consents (as hereinafter defined) are obtained), will not result in a breach of or default under such Lease, and will not otherwise cause
such Lease to cease to be legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect on identical terms following the Closing;

(E) none of the applicable Target’s possession and quiet enjoyment of the Leased Real Property under such Lease has been disturbed and there
are no disputes with respect to such Lease;

(F) neither the applicable Target, nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers, any other party to the Lease is in breach of or default under such Lease, and
no event has occurred or circumstance exists that, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute such a breach or default,
or permit the termination, modification or acceleration of rent under such Lease;

(G) no security deposit or portion thereof deposited with respect to such Lease has been applied in respect of a breach of or default under such
Lease that has not been redeposited in full;
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(H) the applicable Target does not owe, or will not owe in the future, any brokerage commissions or finder’s fees with respect to such Lease;

(I) the other party to such Lease is not an Affiliate of, and otherwise does not have any economic interest in, any Target or Seller;

(J) the applicable Target has not subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy the Leased Real Property or any
portion thereof; and

(K) the applicable Target has not collaterally assigned or granted any other Lien in such Lease or any interest therein.

(iii) The Leased Real Property identified in Section 4(n)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule comprise all of the real property used in the business
of the Targets; and no Target is a party to any agreement or option to purchase any real property or interest therein.

(iv) The buildings, structures, fixtures, building systems and equipment, and all components thereof, included in the Leased Real Property (the
“Improvements”) are, taken as a whole, in good condition and repair and sufficient for the operation of the business of the Targets. There are no facts or
conditions affecting any of the Improvements that would, individually or in the aggregate, interfere in any material respect with the use or occupancy of the
Improvements in the operation of the business of the Targets as currently conducted thereon.

(v) To the Knowledge of Sellers, the Leased Real Property is in material compliance with all applicable building, zoning, subdivision, health and
safety and other land use Laws, including The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, and all insurance requirements affecting the Leased
Real Property (collectively, the “Real Property Laws”). No Target has received any notice of violation of any Real Property Law.

(o) Intellectual Property.

(i) The conduct of the Business, and none of the Targets or any of its or their respective businesses as presently conducted, has or will interfere with,
infringe upon, dilute, misappropriate, or otherwise come into conflict with, any Intellectual Property rights of third parties; there are no facts indicating a
likelihood of the foregoing; and none of Sellers or any of their Affiliates has ever received any charge, complaint, claim, demand, or notice alleging any
such interference, infringement, dilution, misappropriation, or conflict (including any claim that a Target must license or refrain from accessing or using
any Intellectual Property rights of any third party). To the Knowledge of Sellers, no third party has interfered with, infringed upon, diluted,
misappropriated, or otherwise come into conflict with, any Owned Business Intellectual Property.
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(ii) Section 4(o)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule (A) sets forth, as of the date hereof, a true and correct list of all registered copyrights,
registered trademarks and service marks, Internet domain names, issued patents, and pending applications for any of the foregoing, included in the Owned
Business Intellectual Property (“Registered Intellectual Property”) and each owner thereof and (B) identifies each material item of Intellectual Property that
any third party owns and is used in the Business pursuant to license, sublicense, agreement, covenant not to sue, or permission. Sellers have delivered to
Buyer correct and complete copies of all such licenses, sublicenses, agreements, covenants not to sue, and permissions (as amended to date). With respect
to each item of Intellectual Property required to be identified in Section 4(o)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule:

(A) the license, sublicense, agreement, covenant not to sue, or permission covering the item is legal, valid, binding, enforceable, and in full
force and effect in all material respects;

(B) no party to the license, sublicense, agreement, covenant not to sue, or permission is in material breach or default, and no event has occurred
that with notice or lapse of time would constitute a material breach or default or permit termination, modification, or acceleration thereunder;

(C) no party to the license, sublicense, agreement, covenant not to sue, or permission has repudiated any material provision thereof;

(D) no Target has granted any sublicense or similar right with respect to the license, sublicense, agreement, covenant not to sue, or permission;
and

(E) no loss or expiration of the item is threatened, pending, or reasonably foreseeable.

(iii) None of the employees, agents, consultants, contractors or others who have contributed to or participated in the discovery, creation or
development of any Intellectual Property on behalf of any Seller or any of their Affiliates that is used in connection with the operation of the Business or
has any right, title or interest in or to any Owned Business Intellectual Property.

(iv) Except as set forth in Section 4(o)(iv) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of Sellers, no open source code, freeware, libraries
or any computer software source code subject to the GNU General Public License or any similar open source license, has been (A) used to create any
computer software that is included in the Owned Business Intellectual Property, or (B) distributed to any Person, in either case in a manner whereby such
incorporation, distribution or use would require the disclosure of any material source code included in the Owned Business Intellectual Property or the
license of any of the material proprietary computer software included in the Owned Business Intellectual Property.
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(p) Tangible Assets. The tangible Transferred Assets and the buildings, machinery, equipment, and other tangible assets that the Targets own or lease are,
taken as a whole, free from material defects (patent and latent), have been maintained in accordance with normal industry practice, and are, taken as a whole, in
good operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear).

(q) Contracts. Section 4(q) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule lists the following contracts and other agreements to which any Target is a party or by or to
which any Target or any of its respective assets is bound or subject, or which are Transferred Assets (each, a “Material Contract”):

(i) any agreement (or group of related agreements) for the lease of personal property to or from any Person providing for lease payments in excess of
$50,000 per annum;

(ii) any agreement (or group of related agreements) for the purchase or sale of raw materials, commodities, supplies, products, or other personal
property, or for the furnishing or receipt of services, the performance of which will extend over a period of more than 1 year or involve consideration in
excess of $50,000, in either case, as of the date of this Agreement;

(iii) any agreement concerning a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, strategic alliance or other similar agreement or arrangement
(including any agreement providing for joint research, development or marketing);

(iv) any agreement (or group of related agreements) under which it has created, incurred, assumed, or guaranteed any indebtedness for borrowed
money, or any capitalized lease obligation, in excess of $50,000 or under which it has imposed a Lien on any of its assets, tangible or intangible;

(v) any agreement that (A) limits the freedom of any Target to engage in any line or type of business in any particular geographic area or any
particular medium, to compete with any Person, to solicit for employment, hire or obtain the services of any Person, (B) contains exclusivity obligations or
restrictions binding on any Target or that would be binding on Buyer or any of its Affiliates after the Closing, or (C) provides for a preferred or “most
favored nations” status for any party thereto;

(vi) any agreement granting a right of first refusal or first offer or similar rights to any Person;

(vii) any Reinsurance Agreement;

(viii) any material agreement concerning confidentiality;

(ix) any Intercompany Agreement;

(x) any profit sharing, stock option, stock purchase, stock appreciation, deferred compensation, severance, or other plan, program, agreement or
arrangement for the benefit of any current or former directors, officers, employees, or independent contractors of the Business;
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(xi) any collective bargaining agreement or similar agreement;

(xii) any agreement for the employment or retention (A) as an employee or a contractor of any individual or entity on a full-time, part-time,
consulting, or other basis, or (B) of any Business Employee;

(xiii) any agreement under which it has advanced or loaned any amount to any Business Employees;

(xiv) any agreement under which the consequences of a default or termination by any party thereto could have a Material Adverse Effect;

(xv) any agreement with any Governmental Authority;

(xvi) any agreement under which any Target has advanced or loaned any Person an amount exceeding $50,000;

(xvii) any other agreement (or group of related agreements) the performance of which involves consideration in excess of $50,000; or

(xviii) any hospital network, prescription benefit management and similar agreements.

Sellers have delivered to Buyer a correct and complete copy of each written agreement listed in Section 4(q) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule (as amended to
date) and a written summary setting forth the material terms and conditions of each oral agreement referred to in Section 4(q) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule.
With respect to each such agreement: (A) the agreement is a legal, valid, and binding obligation of each party thereto and is enforceable against each such party in
accordance with its terms and is in full force and effect in all material respects; (B) neither the applicable Target nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers, any other party
to such agreement is in violation or breach of or in default under the agreement (or is alleged to be in violation or breach of or in default under the agreement);
(C) no event has occurred that with notice or lapse of time would constitute a material breach or default thereunder by any party, or permit termination,
modification, or acceleration of the agreement by any party; (D) no party thereto has provided any notice of any intention to terminate the agreement; (E) the
agreement does not contain any provisions providing that the agreement may be terminated or modified or that performance thereunder may be accelerated by
reason of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements; and (F) neither the applicable Target nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers,
any other party to such agreement has repudiated any material provision of the agreement.
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(r) Books and Records; Notes and Accounts Receivable.

(i) The Books and Records of each Target are true, complete and correct in all material respects and have been maintained in accordance with sound
business practices and in accordance in all material respects with all applicable Law.

(ii) All notes and accounts receivable of the Targets are reflected properly on their Books and Records, are valid receivables subject to no setoffs or
counterclaims, are current and collectible, and will be collected in accordance with their terms at their recorded amounts, subject only to the reserve for bad
debts set forth on the face of the Most Recent Balance Sheet or the notes thereto as adjusted for operations and transactions through the Closing Date in
accordance with the past custom and practice of the Targets.

(s) Powers of Attorney. There are no outstanding powers of attorney executed on behalf of any Target.

(t) Insurance. Section 4(t) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each insurance policy and binder
(including policies providing property, casualty, liability, directors’ and officers’ liability, errors and omissions liability, business interruption, and workers’
compensation coverage and bond and surety arrangements) that covers any portion of the Business or any Transferred Asset, or with respect to which any Target
is a party, a named insured, or otherwise the beneficiary of coverage:

(i) the name of the insurer and the name of the policyholder;

(ii) the policy number and the period of coverage; and

(iii) the scope (including an indication of whether the coverage is on a claims made, occurrence, or other basis) and amount (including a description
of how deductibles and ceilings are calculated and operate) of coverage.

With respect to each such insurance policy: (A) the policy is legal, valid, binding, enforceable, and in full force and effect in all material respects (and all
premiums due and payable thereon have been paid in full on a timely basis); (B) neither the applicable Target, nor any other party to the policy is in material
breach or default (including with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notices), and no event has occurred that, with notice or the lapse of time,
would constitute such a material breach or default, or permit termination, modification, or acceleration, under the policy; (C) no Target party or any other party
thereto has provided any notice of any intention to terminate, cancel or revoke the policy; and (D) no party to the policy has repudiated any material provision
thereof. Section 4(t) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule describes any material self-insurance arrangements affecting any Target, the Business or any Transferred
Asset.
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(u) Litigation. Section 4(u) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth each instance in which the Business, the Transferred Assets or any Target (i) is
subject to any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge or (ii) is a party to or the subject of or, to the Knowledge of any Seller, is
threatened to be made a party to or the subject of any Action. There is no Action pending against or, to the Knowledge of any Seller, threatened against or
affecting any Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Targets), any of their respective properties or assets or the Business or the Transferred Assets that in any
manner challenges or seeks to prevent, enjoin, alter or materially delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements.

(v) Insurance Contracts.

(i) Except as set forth in Section 4(v)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, all insurance policies, and all riders, amendments and applications to such
policies, issued by any Target Insurance Company or issued by any Seller Insurance Company relating to the Business (each, an “Insurance Contract”) are,
to the extent required by applicable Law, on forms approved by all applicable Governmental Authorities or filed with and not objected to by such
Governmental Authorities within the period provided by applicable Law for objection, subject to such exceptions as would not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as indicated in Section 4(v)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, all
Insurance Contracts comply in all material respects with, and have been administered in all material respects in accordance with, applicable Law. All
premium rates relating to the business of the Target Insurance Companies and each applicable Seller Insurance Company (including with respect to the
Insurance Contracts) that are required to be filed with or approved by any insurance regulatory authorities have been so filed or approved and the premiums
charged conform thereto, and such premiums comply with all applicable Laws. As of the date hereof, each Insurance Contract is in full force and effect and
is valid and enforceable against the applicable Target Insurance Company or Affiliate of Seller that issued such Insurance Contract and, to the Knowledge
of Sellers, each such other party in accordance with its terms.

(ii) Except as set forth in Section 4(v)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, the Insurance Contracts have been marketed, sold and issued in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws, including applicable Laws relating to (A) suitability of sales and replacement of policies,
(B) the disclosure of the nature of insurance products as policies of insurance, (C) the use of unfair methods of competition and deceptive acts or practices
relating to the advertising, sales and marketing of insurance, annuities or guaranteed investment contracts, (D) all applicable disclosure, filing and other
requirements with respect to any variation in premiums or other charges resulting from time to time at which such premiums or charges are paid, and (E) all
applicable requirements regulating the underwriting, rating, non-renewal, cancellation or replacement of insurance policies.

(iii) All benefits claimed by, or paid, payable or credited to, any Person under any Insurance Contract have in all material respects been paid or
credited (or provision as required under SAP for payment thereof has been made) in accordance with the terms of the applicable Insurance Contract, and
such payments, credits or provisions were not materially delinquent and were paid or credited (or will be paid or credited) without fines or penalties
(excluding interest), except for any such claim for benefits for which there is a reasonable basis to contest payment.
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(w) Reinsurance Agreements.

(i) Section 4(w)(i)(A) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all reinsurance and retrocession agreements (A) to
which any Target Insurance Company is a party (other than the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements), or (B) to which any Seller Insurance Company is a
party and which relates to the Business (collectively, the “Reinsurance Agreements”), true and correct copies of which have been made available to Buyer.
All reinsurance premiums due under the Reinsurance Agreements have been paid in full or were adequately accrued or reserved for by the Target Insurance
Companies or the Seller Insurance Companies, as applicable. No Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company is in default and, to the
Knowledge of Sellers, no other party to any Reinsurance Agreement is in default as to any provision of any such Reinsurance Agreement. Except as set
forth in Section 4(w)(i)(B) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, Actions with respect to any
Reinsurance Agreements. Except as set forth in Section 4(w)(i)(C) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, each Target Insurance Company or applicable Seller
Insurance Company was entitled to take credit in its most recent statutory statement in accordance with SAP for that portion of such Reinsurance
Agreement as to which credit was taken in such statements. The transactions contemplated by the Transaction Agreements shall not affect the obligations
(if any) of the other parties to the Reinsurance Agreements to make payments to the applicable Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company
party thereto.

(ii) Except as set forth in Section 4(w)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2009, none of Sellers nor any of their Affiliates
(including the Targets) has received any written notice from any party to a Reinsurance Agreement or otherwise has reason to believe that any amount of
reinsurance ceded thereunder will be uncollectible or otherwise defaulted upon.

(iii) Section 4(w)(iii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth a correct and complete list of all Liens, collateral or security arrangements,
including by means of a credit for reinsurance trust or letter of credit, to or for the benefit of any cedent under any Reinsurance Agreement.

(x) Producers.

(i) Except as set forth in Section 4(x)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2009, CSO and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, each other
Person performing the duties of insurance producer, agency, agent, managing general agent, third party administrator, wholesaler, broker, solicitor, adjuster,
marketer, underwriter, distributor or customer representative for the Business (collectively, “Producers”) was duly licensed and appointed as an insurance
producer, agency, agent, managing general agent, third party administrator, broker, solicitor or adjuster, as applicable (for the type of business written, sold
or produced by such Producer at the time such Producer wrote, sold or produced business or performed such other act for or on behalf of the Target or other
Affiliate of Sellers that may require a producer’s, agency’s, agent’s, managing general agent’s, third party administrator’s, solicitor’s, broker’s or other
insurance license), as may be required by any applicable Law.
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(ii) Except as set forth in Section 4(x)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of Sellers, (A) all licenses and appointments that are
required for the Producers to continue writing, selling or producing the Business following the Closing are in full force and effect, (B) there are no
investigations or proceedings pending or threatened against a Producer that would reasonably be expected to result in the suspension or revocation of any
license or appointment required for such Producer to continue writing, selling or producing the Business following the Closing, and (C) no Producer has
indicated in writing to any Seller or any Target, and no Seller or Target has any reason to believe, that any Producer will be unable or unwilling to continue
its relationship with any of the Targets after the Closing.

(iii) CSO is duly registered with and/or licensed as an insurance agent, managing general agent, wholesaler, broker, solicitor, distributor or other
producer in each jurisdiction where it conducts business of a nature requiring such registration and/or license and has been duly appointed by each
insurance company for which it offers or sells insurance products or services. All such registrations, licenses and appointments are in full force and effect,
and none of Sellers or the Targets has received written notice of any investigation or proceeding that would reasonably be expected to result in the
suspension or revocation of any such registration, license or appointment.

(iv) CSO has marketed and sold all insurance policies and other insurance products in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws,
including applicable Laws relating to (A) suitability of sales and replacement of policies, (B) the disclosure of the nature of insurance products as policies
of insurance, (C) the use of unfair methods of competition and deceptive acts or practices relating to the advertising, sales and marketing of insurance,
annuities or guaranteed investment contracts, (D) all applicable disclosure, filing and other requirements with respect to any variation in premiums or other
charges resulting from time to time at which such premiums or charges are paid, and (E) all applicable requirements regulating the underwriting, rating,
non-renewal, cancellation or replacement of insurance policies.

(y) Guaranty Fund Assessments. The Target Insurance Companies have (i) timely paid all guaranty association assessments that are due, or claimed or
asserted by any state guaranty association or by any insurance regulatory authority to be due and (ii) provided for all such assessments in the statutory statements
to the extent necessary to be in conformity with SAP.

(z) Permits.

(i) Each Target and, to the extent related to the Business, each Seller Insurance Company possesses all material governmental qualifications,
registrations, filings, licenses, permits, approvals and authorizations necessary for the conduct of the Business and its other businesses, as now conducted
(collectively, the “Permits”). The business of each Target and, to the extent related to the Business, each Seller Insurance Company is being conducted in
compliance, in all material respects, with all such Permits. All such Permits are valid and in full force and effect, and there is no proceeding or investigation
pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened with respect to the cancellation, suspension, revocation or non-renewal of such Permits. Subject to
obtaining the consents set forth in Section 4(c)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, none of the Permits will be subject to cancellation, suspension,
revocation or non-renewal as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.
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(ii) Except for limitations imposed by applicable Law that are applicable to industry participants generally, there is no Governmental Order between
any of the Targets and any Governmental Authority that would be binding on any of the Targets following the Closing that (A) prohibits or restricts the
payment of dividends or other distributions by any of the Targets, (B) restricts the authority of any Target to conduct the Business or could reasonably be
expected to adversely impact the operations of the Business, or (C) requires the maintenance of any employees or physical location.

(aa) Rating Agencies. Except as set forth in Section 4(aa) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2009, no rating agency has imposed
conditions (financial or otherwise) on retaining any currently held financial strength or claims paying ability rating assigned to any Seller Insurance Company or
Target which is rated as of the date of this Agreement or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, indicated that it is considering the downgrade of any rating assigned to any
such Seller Insurance Company or Target or the placement of such Seller Insurance Company or Target on negative watch (other than any surveillance or review
arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement). Each such Seller Insurance Company and Target has as of the date of this Agreement the A.M.
Best Company, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business ratings set forth in Section 4(aa) of the Sellers
Disclosure Schedule.

(bb) Financial and Market-Conduct Examinations. The Sellers have made available to Buyer true, correct and complete copies of all reports (or the most
recent drafts thereof, to the extent any final reports are not available) reflecting the results of any financial examinations, market conduct examinations or any
other examinations of any of the Targets conducted by any Governmental Authority since January 1, 2009. All material deficiencies or violations noted in the
examination reports described above have been resolved to the reasonable satisfaction of the Governmental Authority that noted such deficiencies or violations.
None of the Targets is “commercially domiciled” under the Laws of any jurisdiction or is otherwise treated as domiciled in a jurisdiction other than its respective
jurisdiction of organization.

(cc) Portfolio Investments. All Investment Assets comply in all material respects with the applicable insurance laws and regulations of the respective state
of domicile of the applicable Target Insurance Company or Seller Insurance Company. Section 4(cc) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and
correct list of the Investments Assets at the last day of the calendar quarter immediately preceding the date hereof. Except as set forth in Section 4(cc) of the
Sellers Disclosure Schedule, as of December 31, 2011, none of the Investment Assets is in default in the payment of principal or interest or dividends. Except as
set forth in Section 4(cc) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, none of the Targets is a party to any derivative transaction which, pursuant to its terms and without
any additional investment decision on the part of such Target, could result in an additional payment by such Target.
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(dd) Employees.

(i) Set forth in Section 4(dd)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule is a true and complete list of all Business Employees as of the date of this
Agreement.

(ii) To the Knowledge of Sellers, no executive, key Business Employee, or group of Business Employees plans to terminate employment with any
Target or its Affiliates during the next twelve (12) months. No Target or any of its Affiliates is a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement
or similar agreement with any labor organization covering Business Employees, nor has any of them experienced any strike or material grievance, claim of
unfair labor practices, or other collective bargaining dispute within the past five (5) years. No Target or any of its Affiliates has committed any unfair labor
practice with respect to the Business. No Sellers have any Knowledge of any organizational effort being made or threatened within the past five (5) years
by or on behalf of any labor union with respect to Business Employees. Within the past three (3) years, no Target or any of its Affiliates has implemented
any plant closing or layoff of employees with respect to the Business requiring notice under the WARN Act, and no such action will be implemented
without advance notification to, and the written consent of, Buyer.

(iii) The Targets and their Affiliates are not and have not been, with respect to the Business: (A) “contractors” or “subcontractors” (as defined by
Executive Order 11246), (B) required to comply with Executive Order 11246, or (C) required to maintain an affirmative action plan.

(iv) Except as set forth in Section 4(dd)(iv) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, none of the Targets or any of their Affiliates has received with respect
to the Business (A) notice of any unfair labor practice charge or complaint with respect to it which is still pending before the National Labor Relations
Board or any other Governmental Authority against it, (B) notice of any charge or complaint with respect to it before the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission or any other Governmental Authority responsible for the prevention of unlawful employment practices which is still pending, (C) notice of the
intent of any Governmental Authority responsible for the enforcement of labor, employment, wages and hours of work, child labor, immigration, or
occupational safety and health laws to conduct an investigation with respect to it or notice that such investigation is in progress in either case which is still
pending, or (D) notice of any Action pending in any forum by or on behalf of any present or former employee of any Target or any of their Affiliates, any
applicant for employment or classes of the foregoing alleging breach of any express or implied contract of employment, any applicable Law governing
employment or the termination thereof or other discriminatory, wrongful or tortuous conduct in connection with the employment relationship.
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(ee) Employee Benefits.

(i) Section 4(ee)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule lists each Employee Benefit Plan that any Target maintains, to which any Target contributes or
has any current or contingent obligation to contribute, or with respect to which any Target has any current or contingent liability or obligation (each such
Employee Benefit Plan, a “Target Benefit Plan”). Section 4(ee)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule separately lists each Employee Benefit Plan
maintained by an Affiliate of a Target that covers any Business Employees (each such Employee Benefit Plan, an “Affiliate Benefit Plan”).

(A) Each Target Benefit Plan (and each related trust, insurance contract, or fund) has been maintained, funded and administered in accordance
with the terms of such Target Benefit Plan and complies in form and in operation in all material respects with the applicable requirements of ERISA,
the Code, and other applicable Laws.

(B) All required reports and descriptions (including Form 5500 annual reports, summary annual reports, and summary plan descriptions) have
been timely filed and/or distributed in accordance with the applicable requirements of ERISA and the Code with respect to each such Target Benefit
Plan. The requirements of COBRA have been met in all material respects with respect to each such Target Benefit Plan and each Employee Benefit
Plan maintained by an ERISA Affiliate that is an Employee Welfare Benefit Plan subject to COBRA and that has covered any current or former
Business Employee.

(C) All contributions (including all employer contributions and employee salary reduction contributions) that are due have been made within
the time periods prescribed by ERISA and the Code to each such Target Benefit Plan that is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan and all contributions
for any period ending on or before the Closing Date that are not yet due have been made to each such Employee Pension Benefit Plan or accrued in
accordance with the past custom and practice of the Targets. All premiums or other payments for all periods ending on or before the Closing Date
have been paid with respect to each Target Benefit Plan that is an Employee Welfare Benefit Plan.

(D) Each Target Benefit Plan and Affiliate Benefit Plan that covers any current or former Business Employee and is intended to meet the
requirements of a “qualified plan” under Code §401(a) is maintained pursuant to a prototype document approved by the Internal Revenue Service or
has received a determination from the Internal Revenue Service that such Target Benefit Plan or Affiliate Benefit Plan, as applicable, is so qualified,
and Sellers are not aware of any facts or circumstances that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any such Target
Benefit Plan or Affiliate Benefit Plan, as applicable.
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(ii) With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan that any Target, or any ERISA Affiliate maintains, to which any of them contributes or has any
obligation to contribute, or with respect to which any of them has any liability or potential liability:

(A) No Target has incurred or has any contingent liability or obligation to the PBGC or otherwise under Title IV of ERISA or under the Code
with respect to any such Employee Benefit Plan that is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan. At no time have any of the Targets or the ERISA
Affiliates maintained, contributed to or had any liability or obligation with respect to an Employee Pension Benefit Plan that is subject to Title IV of
ERISA, ERISA §302 or Code §412.

(B) There have been no Prohibited Transactions with respect to (I) any Target Benefit Plan or (II) any Employee Benefit Plan maintained by an
ERISA Affiliate that has covered any current or former Business Employees. No Fiduciary has any liability for material breach of fiduciary duty or
any other material failure to act or comply in connection with the administration or investment of the assets of any such Employee Benefit Plan. No
Action with respect to any such Employee Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits) is pending or, to the Knowledge of any Seller,
threatened.

(iii) With respect to each Target Benefit Plan, Sellers have delivered to Buyer correct and complete copies of the plan documents, including
amendments thereto, and summary plan descriptions or other written explanations of each such plan provided to participants, the most recent determination
letter received from the Internal Revenue Service, the three (3) most recent annual reports (Form 5500, with all applicable attachments), all related
administrative agreements, all related trust agreements, insurance contracts, and other funding arrangements which implement each such Target Benefit
Plan and all correspondence with the IRS, the Department of Labor, the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any other Governmental Authority
relating to any outstanding controversy or audit. With respect to each Affiliate Benefit Plan, Sellers have delivered to Buyer correct and complete copies of
either (A) the written plan document or agreement and all amendments thereto, or (B) the most recent summary plan description or other written
explanation of such plan provided to participants.

(iv) Neither the Targets, nor any ERISA Affiliate contributes to, has any obligation to contribute to, or has any liability (including withdrawal
liability as defined in ERISA §4201) under or with respect to any Multiemployer Plan.

(v) No Target maintains, contributes to or has an obligation to contribute to, or has any liability or potential liability with respect to, any Employee
Welfare Benefit Plan or other arrangement providing health or life insurance or other welfare-type benefits for current or future retired or terminated
employees (or any spouse or other dependent thereof) of any Target or its ERISA Affiliates other than in accordance with COBRA.
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(vi) None of the execution of this Agreement, stockholder approval of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement will (either alone or together with any other event) accelerate the time of the payment, vesting or funding of, or increase the amount of any
Employee Benefit Plan or otherwise, or restrict the right of the Targets and their Affiliates to amend or terminate any Employee Benefit Plan. None of the
Business Employees will be entitled to severance pay or similar benefits solely as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or as a result
of the transfer of such Business Employee’s employment pursuant to Section 6(f).

(vii) Section 4(ee)(vii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule lists each agreement, contract, or other arrangement—whether or not an Employee Benefit
Plan (collectively a “Plan”)—to which any Target or that covers any Business Employee is a party that, to the Knowledge of Sellers is a “nonqualified
deferred compensation plan” subject to Code §409A. Each such Plan has been maintained in documentary and operational compliance with Code §409A
and the regulations thereunder and no amounts under any such Plan are or have been subject to the interest and additional tax set forth under Code
§409A(a)(1)(B). No Target has any actual or potential obligation to reimburse or otherwise “gross-up” any Person for the interest or additional tax set forth
under Code §409A(a)(1)(B).

(viii) No amount paid or payable (whether in cash, in property, or in the form of benefits) by the Targets or any of their Affiliates in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereby (either alone or in conjunction with any other event) will be an “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of
Code §280G, or would constitute an “excess parachute payment” if such amounts were subject to the provisions of Code § 280G. No Person is entitled to
receive any additional payment from Sellers or any of their Affiliates as a result of the imposition of a Tax under Code §4999.

(ix) None of the Target Benefit Plans is subject to any Law under any jurisdiction outside of the United States.

(ff) Guaranties. No Target is a guarantor or otherwise is responsible for any liability or obligation (including indebtedness) of any other Person.

(gg) Environmental, Health, and Safety Matters.

(i) Each of the Targets has been and is in compliance, in each case in all material respects, with all Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirements.

(ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Target, has obtained and is in possession of, has for the past three (3) years complied, and is
in compliance with, in each case in all material respects, all material permits, licenses and other authorizations that are required pursuant to Environmental
Health, and Safety Requirements for the occupation of its facilities and the operation of its business.

(iii) No Action is pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened against any Target arising under any Environmental, Health, and Safety
Requirements. No Target has received any written notice, report, request for information, or other information regarding any actual or alleged violation of
Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirements, or any liabilities or potential liabilities, or any claim based upon the release of or exposure to Hazardous
Substances, including personal injury, wrongful death or property damage, including any investigatory, remedial, or corrective obligations, relating to any
Target, their business, or their past or current facilities arising under Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirements.
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(iv) There has been no release, discharge or disposal of Hazardous Substances at, on, under or from the Leased Real Property, or arising out of the
operations of any Target, which, in each case, requires investigation or remediation by Sellers or any of their Affiliates (including the Targets) under
applicable Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirements or would otherwise reasonably be expected to result in the imposition of any material liability
to any Target under any Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirements.

(v) To the Knowledge of Sellers, there is no asbestos-containing material present in or on any Leased Real Property, and none of Sellers or any of
their Affiliates (including the Targets) has received a claim or demand relating to the presence of asbestos in or at any Leased Real Property.

(vi) The representations and warranties set forth in this Section 4(gg) are Sellers’ sole and exclusive representations and warranties regarding
Environmental, Health and Safety matters.

(hh) Business Continuity. None of the computer software, computer hardware (whether general or special purpose), telecommunications capabilities
(including all voice, data and video networks) and other similar or related items of automated, computerized, and/or software systems and any other networks or
systems and related services that are used by or relied on by the Target or its Affiliates in the conduct of the Business (collectively, the “Systems”) have
experienced bugs, failures, breakdowns, or continued substandard performance in the past twelve (12) months that has caused any substantial disruption or
interruption in or to the use of any such Systems by the Targets. The Targets are covered by business interruption insurance in scope and amount customary and
reasonable to ensure the ongoing business operations of the Targets’ business.

(ii) Certain Business Relationships with the Targets.

(i) Except as set forth in Section 4(ii)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, none of Sellers or their Affiliates or any of their respective directors,
officers or employees, or any Person related by blood or marriage to such directors, officers or employees, is, or within the past twelve (12) months has
been, involved in any contract, agreement, lease, license or other business arrangement or relationship with any of the Targets (an “Intercompany
Agreement”) within the past twelve (12) months.

(ii) Except as set forth in Section 4(ii)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, there are no loans, notes, advances, receivables, payables or other
obligations between Sellers or any of their Affiliates (other than the Targets), on the one hand, and any Target, on the other hand (“Intercompany
Obligations”).
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(iii) The Shared Assets List will (A) contain a true, correct and complete list of each material asset, tangible or intangible, that is either, (I) used in
the Business or other business or operations of the Targets and owned, leased or licensed by any Seller or any of their respective Affiliates (other than the
Targets) or (II) used in the business of Sellers or any of their Affiliates and owned, leased or licensed by any Target and (B) specify each asset listed
thereon that will be Transferred to Targets prior to the Closing.

(jj) Data Privacy and Security. The conduct of the Business and the Targets’ respective businesses, have complied in all material respects with and, as
presently conducted, are in compliance in all material respects with, all Data Laws except, in each case, to the extent that a failure to comply would not have a
Material Adverse Effect. The conduct of the Business and Targets respective businesses have complied with, and are presently in compliance with, in all material
respects, its and their respective policies applicable to data privacy, data security, and/or personal information except, in each case, to the extent that a failure to
comply would not have a Material Adverse Effect. Neither a Seller or any of its Affiliates (in the conduct of the Business) nor a Target in the conduct of any
business has experienced any incident in which personal information or other sensitive data was or may have been stolen or improperly accessed, and none of the
Sellers is aware of any facts suggesting the likelihood of the foregoing, including without limitation, any breach of security or receipt of any notices or complaints
from any Person regarding personal information or other data.

(kk) LifePro License Agreement. PDMA has not granted a software license to any former Affiliate of Sellers pursuant to a “Sold Affiliate License
Agreement”, and neither Sellers nor any of their respective Affiliates have requested that PDMA grant a software license to any of their respective former
Affiliates pursuant to a “Sold Affiliate License Agreement.”

Section 5. Pre-Closing Covenants. The Parties agree as follows with respect to the period between the execution of this Agreement and the Closing:

(a) General. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, each of the Parties will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Closing
conditions set forth in Section 7 below to be satisfied as soon as reasonably practicable. Each Party shall keep the other Parties reasonably apprised of the status
of the matters relating to the completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including with respect to the satisfaction of the Closing conditions
set forth in Section 7 below.

(b) Notices and Consents. Sellers will, and will cause each of the Targets to, at Sellers’ expense, give any notices to third parties, and will use their
reasonable best efforts, and will cause each Target to use its reasonable best efforts, at Sellers’ expense, to obtain all third-party consents, including those referred
to in Section 4(c) above, the Lease Consents, and the items set forth in Section 5(b) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule. Each of the Parties will (and Sellers will
cause each Target to) (A) give any notices to, and make any filings with, any Governmental Authorities, and use its reasonable best efforts to obtain any
Governmental Approvals, in each case, that are required in connection with the execution of this Agreement and the other Transaction Agreements and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and (B) reasonably cooperate
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with the other Parties, and furnish the other Parties with such necessary information and reasonable assistance as such other Parties may reasonably request, in
connection with the preparation of any such notices and filings and obtaining such Governmental Approvals. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
each of the Parties will file (and Sellers will cause each Target to file) any required Notification and Report Forms and related material that it may be required to
file with the Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, will use its reasonable best
efforts to obtain (and Sellers will cause each Target to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain) a waiver of the applicable waiting period thereunder, and will
make (and Sellers will cause each Target to make) any further filings pursuant thereto that may be necessary, proper or advisable in connection therewith. Each of
the Parties shall use its reasonable best efforts to: (I) resolve any objections of any Governmental Authority with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby
(including objections under antitrust or competition laws); (II) prevent the entry of and have vacated, lifted, reversed or overturned, any order of any
Governmental Authority or other tribunal that would prevent, prohibit, restrict or delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; and (III)
comply fully with all restrictions and conditions imposed or requested by any Governmental Authority in connection with granting any necessary consent or
approval, including asset divestitures or conduct-limiting conditions.

(c) Operation of Business. Sellers will cause each Target, CGIC and UTAIC not to engage in any practice, take any action, or enter into any transaction
outside the Ordinary Course of Business other than (i) in the case of CGIC and UTAIC, the sale of their long-term care insurance business and (ii) the sale of
Great American Life Assurance Company pursuant to the GALAC SPA. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Sellers will cause each Target, CGIC
and UTAIC not to engage in any practice, take any action, or enter into any transaction of the sort described in Section 4(j) above. Notwithstanding the foregoing
or any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Sellers may cause (A) any Target Insurance Company to declare and pay dividends or make distributions
to Sellers (directly or indirectly) provided that such dividends or distributions do not result in Targets’ failure to have, as of the Closing Date, at least the Target
Capital and Surplus and (B) CSO to declare and pay dividends or make distributions to Sellers (directly or indirectly) provided that such dividends or
distributions do not result in the aggregate amount of CSO’s liabilities (determined in accordance with GAAP applied consistently with CSO’s past practice) to
exceed the aggregate amount of CSO’s assets (determined in accordance with GAAP applied consistently with CSO’s past practice).

(d) Preservation of Business. Sellers will cause each Target and each of CGIC and UTAIC to (i) conduct the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business,
(ii) keep available the services of officers and key employees, consultants and agents of the Business and (iii) keep their businesses and properties substantially
intact, including their present operations, physical facilities, working conditions, insurance policies, and relationships (contractual or otherwise) and goodwill
with lessors, licensors, suppliers, customers, employees, consultants, agents, service providers and regulators.
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(e) Full Access. Each Seller will permit, and Sellers will cause each Target and each of CGIC and UTAIC to permit, Buyer and its representatives
(including legal counsel and accountants) to have full access at all reasonable times, and in a manner so as not to interfere with the normal business operations of
the Targets or the Business, to all premises, properties, personnel, books, records (including tax records), contracts, and documents of or pertaining to each Target
or the Business. Buyer will treat and hold any Confidential Information it receives from any of Sellers or the Targets in the course of the reviews contemplated by
this Section 5(e) in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement. Sellers shall provide Buyer with reasonable access to Business Employee information. Sellers
agree to supply any assistance and information (including initial employment dates, termination dates, reemployment dates, hours of service for purposes of the
Family and Medical Leave Act, regular work schedule, compensation and Tax withholding history in a form that shall be usable by Buyer) as may be reasonably
requested by Buyer in connection with the foregoing.

(f) Notice of Developments.

(i) Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, Sellers shall promptly notify Buyer in writing if any of them becomes aware of (A) any fact
or condition that causes or constitutes a breach of any of the representations and warranties in Section 3(a) or Section 4 hereof made as of the date of this
Agreement or (B) the occurrence after the date of this Agreement of any fact or condition that would or would be reasonably likely to (except as expressly
contemplated by this Agreement) cause or constitute a breach of any such representation or warranty had that representation or warranty been made as of
the time of the occurrence of, or any Seller’s discovery of, such fact or condition. Should any such fact or condition require any change to the Sellers
Disclosure Schedule, Sellers shall promptly deliver to Buyer a supplement or revision to the Sellers Disclosure Schedule specifying such change; provided
that such delivery shall not affect any rights of Buyer under Sections 7, 8 or 9 hereof. During the same period, Sellers also shall promptly notify Buyer of
the occurrence of any event that may make the satisfaction of the conditions in Section 7 impossible or unlikely.

(ii) Subject to Section 3(b)(viii), between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, Buyer shall notify Sellers in writing if it becomes aware of the
occurrence after the date of this Agreement of any fact or condition to which Buyer reasonably believes Sellers do not otherwise have Knowledge that
would cause or constitute a breach of any of the representations and warranties in Section 3(a) or Section 4 hereof had that representation or warranty been
made as of the time of the occurrence of, or Buyer’s discovery of, such fact or condition.

(g) Exclusivity. No Seller will (and Sellers will cause each Target not to) (i) solicit, initiate, or encourage the submission of any proposal or offer from any
Person relating to the acquisition of all or any portion of the Business, including the Transferred Assets or any capital stock or other voting securities, or any
substantial portion of the assets, of any Target (whether structured as a merger, consolidation, share exchange, reinsurance transaction or otherwise) (an
“Acquisition Proposal”) or (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, furnish any information with respect to, assist or participate in, or facilitate
in any other manner any effort or attempt by any Person to do or seek any Acquisition Proposal. In the event that Sellers or any of their Affiliates (including the
Targets) receive an Acquisition Proposal, Sellers shall promptly, but in no event later
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than forty-eight hours thereafter, notify Buyer in writing of such proposal and provide a copy thereof (if in written or electronic form) or, if in oral form, a written
summary of the terms and conditions thereof, including the names of the interested parties. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Section 5(g) shall prohibit
Sellers from engaging in any activity described in this Section 5(g) in connection with the sale of (A) their long-term care insurance business or (B) Great
American Life Assurance Company pursuant to the GALAC SPA.

(h) Maintenance of Leased Real Property. Sellers will cause each Target to maintain the Leased Real Property, including all of the Improvements in
substantially the same condition as existed on the date of this Agreement, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and shall not demolish or remove any of the existing
Improvements, or erect new improvements on the Leased Real Property or any portion thereof, without the prior written consent of Buyer.

(i) Leases. Sellers will not cause or permit any Lease to be amended, modified, extended, renewed or terminated without the prior written consent of Buyer
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), nor shall any Target enter into any new lease, sublease, license or other agreement for
the use or occupancy of any Real Property without the prior written consent of Buyer.

(j) Tax Matters. Without the prior written consent of Buyer, no Target shall request any ruling or similar guidance with respect to Taxes, make or change
any election, change an annual accounting period, adopt or change any accounting method, file any amended Tax Return, enter into any closing agreement, settle
any Tax claim or assessment relating to any Target, surrender any right to claim a refund of Taxes, consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period
applicable to any Tax claim or assessment relating to any Target, or take any other similar action relating to the filing of any Tax Return or the payment of any
Tax, if such election, adoption, change, amendment, agreement, settlement, surrender, consent or other action would have the effect of increasing the Tax liability
of any Target for any period ending after the Closing Date or decreasing any Tax attribute of any Target existing on the Closing Date.

(k) Confidentiality. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the confidentiality agreement dated August 10, 2011 (the “Confidentiality Agreement”), by and
between GAFRI and Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, remains in full force and effect and, in addition, covenants and agrees to keep confidential, in
accordance with the provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, information provided to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. If this Agreement is, for any reason,
terminated prior to the Closing, the Confidentiality Agreement and the provisions of this Section 5(k) shall nonetheless continue in full force and effect.

(l) Books and Records. Sellers shall, and shall cause each Target and, solely with respect to the Business, each of Sellers’ other Affiliates to, preserve and
maintain the Books and Records in all material respects in the same manner and with the same care that the Books and Records have been maintained prior to the
execution of this Agreement. Prior to the Closing Date, the Parties shall develop and implement a plan that will result in the delivery or transfer, subject to
compliance with applicable Law, of the Books and Records to Buyer (or a Person designated by Buyer) at the Closing in the manner (and in the case of physical
Books and Records, at the location(s)) reasonably requested by Buyer to the extent not located at an office of the Targets.
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(m) Pre-Closing Confidentiality Agreements. Sellers shall request that all third parties who executed a Pre-Closing Confidentiality Agreement return to
Sellers or the Targets or destroy all Confidential Information heretofore furnished to such third parties by or on behalf of Sellers or any of their Affiliates
(including the Targets) as promptly as practicable following the date hereof, subject to the terms of such agreements. Effective as of the Closing Date, Sellers (on
behalf of themselves and their Affiliates) hereby assign to Buyer all of their rights under each Pre-Closing Confidentiality Agreement. At the Closing, Sellers will
deliver to Buyer a copy of each Pre-Closing Confidentiality Agreement.

(n) Intercompany Obligations and Intercompany Agreements.

(i) Sellers shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, take such actions and make such payments as may be necessary (including executing one or more
releases in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer) so that, immediately prior to the Closing, the Targets, on the one hand, and Sellers and
their Affiliates (other than the Targets), on the other hand, shall settle, discharge, offset, pay, repay in full, terminate or extinguish all Intercompany
Obligations, regardless of their maturity, for the amount due, including any accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the date of payment, fees and other
amounts due or outstanding thereunder; provided, however, that if each such item is not paid in full in cash, the method of discharge must be reasonably
satisfactory to Buyer.

(ii) On or prior to the Closing Date, Sellers shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, take such actions as may be necessary (including executing one
or more instruments evidencing such termination and one or more releases, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer) to
terminate and release the Targets from any and all liabilities and obligations arising in connection with all Intercompany Agreements other than the
Intercompany Agreements listed in Section 5(n)(ii) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule, after giving effect to Section 5(n)(i).

(o) Ancillary Agreements. Immediately prior to the Closing, each Party shall, and shall cause its applicable Affiliates to, execute and deliver each of the
Ancillary Agreements to which it will be a party.

(p) Shared Assets. Sellers shall promptly, but in no event later than thirty (30) days after the date hereof, provide to Buyer a true, correct and complete list
of each material asset, tangible or intangible, that is either, (i) used in the Business or other business or operations of the Targets and owned, leased or licensed by
any Seller or any of their respective Affiliates (other than the Targets) or (ii) used in the business of Sellers or any of their Affiliates and owned, leased or licensed
by any Target (such list, the “Shared Assets List”). Sellers shall specify on the Shared Assets List each asset listed thereon that will be Transferred to Targets prior
to the Closing.
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(q) License Agreements. As promptly as practicable following the date hereof, Sellers shall, at Sellers’ sole cost and expense, take all necessary actions to
cause (i) PDMA to grant to the Target Insurance Companies a license permitting each Target Insurance Company to use the software products owned or licensed
to PDMA and known as LifePRO, including any modifications, enhancements and updates thereto (the “LifePRO Software”), on terms and conditions
substantially similar to the Existing LifePRO Agreement, and (ii) HSI to grant to the Target Insurance Companies a license permitting each Target Insurance
Company to use the Software and Work Products (as such terms are defined in the Master OnBase Agreement), including any modifications, enhancements and
updates thereto (the “OnBase Software”), on terms and conditions substantially similar to the Master OnBase Agreement.

Section 6. Post-Closing Covenants. The Parties agree as follows with respect to the period following the Closing:

(a) General. In case at any time after the Closing any further actions are necessary to carry out the purposes of this Agreement or any other Transaction
Agreement or otherwise make effective the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including (i) transferring to Sellers any Excluded Asset that was held by
the Targets at the Closing and (ii) transferring to Buyer or its designee any Transferred Asset that was not transferred to the Targets prior to the Closing, each of
the Parties will, without further consideration, take such further actions (including the execution and delivery of such further conveyances, notices, instruments
and documents) as any other Party may reasonably request. Sellers acknowledge and agree that from and after the Closing Buyer will be entitled to possession of
all Books and Records.

(b) Access to Information. Subject to applicable privileges (including the attorney-client privilege), Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand,
shall promptly afford the other Parties and their respective Representatives reasonable access, upon reasonable prior written notice and during normal business
hours, to their respective books and records and financial data relating to the Targets or the Business with respect to periods prior to the Closing Date and, in the
case of Buyer and its representatives, to Sellers’ and their Affiliates’ employees and auditors (including making such employees available as witnesses in hearings
or trials), in each case, to the extent necessary or useful for the Party requesting such access in connection with (i) any audit, investigation, dispute or litigation
and (ii) the preparation of financial statements, filings and other submissions with Governmental Authorities and Tax Returns; provided, that the Party requesting
such access agrees to reimburse the other Parties promptly for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with any
such request (unless the requesting Party is entitled to indemnification therefor under Section 8 below); provided, further, that the auditors and accountants of
Sellers, Buyer or their respective Affiliates shall not be obligated to make any work papers available to any Person unless and until such Person has signed a
customary agreement relating to such access to work papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such auditors or accountants.
 
(c) Transition. The Parties shall perform their respective obligations under the Transition Services Agreements.
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(d) Confidentiality. Sellers will (and will cause their Affiliates to) treat and hold as such all of the Confidential Information, and refrain from using any of
the Confidential Information except in connection with this Agreement. In the event that Sellers or any of their Affiliates are requested or required pursuant to
oral or written question or request for information or documents in any legal proceeding, interrogatory, subpoena, civil investigative demand, or similar process to
disclose any Confidential Information, such Person will notify Buyer promptly of the request or requirement so that Buyer may seek an appropriate protective
order or waive compliance with the provisions of this Section 6(d). If, in the absence of a protective order or the receipt of a waiver hereunder, Sellers or their
Affiliates are, on the advice of counsel, compelled to disclose any Confidential Information to any tribunal or else stand liable for contempt, such Person may
disclose the Confidential Information to the tribunal; provided, however, that Sellers shall (and shall cause their Affiliates to) use reasonable best efforts to obtain,
at the reasonable request of Buyer, an order or other assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to such portion of the Confidential Information
required to be disclosed as Buyer shall designate.

(e) Removal of “Great American” Identifiers. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Closing Date, but in no event later than ninety (90) days after the
Closing Date, Buyer shall cause the Targets to cease using the Great American Names and Marks as an identifier in the conduct of the Business as conducted by
Buyer; provided, that in the event Buyer or any Target is required to obtain the approval of any Governmental Authority prior to taking the actions contemplated
in this Section 6(e), Buyer and/or such Target shall use its reasonable best efforts to seek all such approvals as promptly as practicable after the Closing Date,
including causing any required filings or notices with any Governmental Authorities to be made within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, and shall take all
actions contemplated in this Section 6(e) as soon as reasonably practicable after obtaining such approvals, but in no event later than ninety (90) days after the date
such approvals are received.

(f) Business Employees.

(i) Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer shall offer employment to each Business Employee, other than the Excluded Business Employees, effective upon
the expiration of such Business Employee’s Employee Leasing Period (the “Employment Commencement Date”) on terms described in Section 6(f)(iii)
below, and on the condition that such Business Employees (A) accept the employment offer in a timely fashion, and (B) meet Buyer’s reasonable
employment requirements with respect to satisfactory results of background checks, drug tests, immigration verification and similar requirements (the
“Buyer Employment Requirements”). A Business Employee who chooses to accept such offer of employment must respond in writing to Buyer’s offer
within seven (7) Business Days after receipt of the offer. Buyer shall be under no obligation to employ any Business Employee who fails to accept Buyer’s
offer of employment in a timely fashion or who fails to meet the Buyer Employment Requirements. Sellers shall use their best efforts to assist Buyer in its
efforts to make offers of employment and to hire the employees receiving such offers under this Section 6(f)(i) and Sellers will not take, and will cause
each of their Affiliates not to take, any action which would impede, hinder, interfere or otherwise compete with such efforts. Buyer shall determine whether
to offer employment to any independent contractor who is a Business Employee and the terms of such offer.

 
56



(ii) Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer shall employ any Business Employee (other than an independent contractor) who (A) accepts the offer of
employment in a timely fashion, and (B) meets the Buyer Employment Requirements (hereinafter a “Transferred Employee”). Transferred Employees shall
become employees of Buyer or one of its Affiliates upon the Employment Commencement Date. A Business Employee who meets conditions (A) and
(B) above but is on an approved leave of absence for any reason or on short-term or long-term disability on the Employment Commencement Date shall
become an employee of Buyer or one of its Affiliates (and a Transferred Employee) only upon his or her return from such leave of absence or following
such short-term or long-term disability and only if such Business Employee applies for employment with Buyer within ninety (90) days after the
Employment Commencement Date. Complete copies of the personnel files of Transferred Employees shall be transferred to Buyer on or prior to ten
(10) days after the later of the Closing Date or the Transferred Employee’s date of hire, including all performance reviews.

(iii) For the period beginning on the Employment Commencement Date and ending on December 31, 2013, Buyer shall ensure that (A) the base
salary and annual incentive bonus opportunity for a Transferred Employee is, in the aggregate, substantially comparable to the Transferred Employee’s base
salary and annual incentive bonus opportunity as of the date of this Agreement and (B) the employee benefits (including severance benefits, but excluding
any equity-based compensation) enjoyed by Transferred Employees are, in the aggregate, substantially comparable to those enjoyed by such Business
Employees as of the date of this Agreement. Buyer shall give each Transferred Employee credit for purposes of participation and vesting, but not benefit
accrual, under and in accordance with the terms of Buyer’s employee benefit plans for years served with Target or Target Affiliates prior to the
Employment Commencement Date; provided that no such service credit shall be recognized for purposes of pension and retiree health benefits or in a
manner that would result in a duplication of benefits. Within thirty (30) days after the Employment Commencement Date, Sellers shall provide to Buyer
accurate information about each Transferred Employee’s service with Target and any Target Affiliates.

(iv) The Excluded Business Employees, any Business Employees who fail to meet conditions (A) and (B) listed in Section 6(f)(ii) and all current and
former employees, independent contractors and directors of the Targets, Sellers or their Affiliates other than the Business Employees, shall remain the sole
responsibility of Sellers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Sellers nor their Affiliates shall pay any severance benefits or make any similar payments
to any Business Employee who does not accept an offer from Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer pursuant to Section 6(f)(i).
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(v) As of the Closing, the Targets shall terminate their participation in each Affiliate Benefit Plan, and in no event shall any Transferred Employee be
entitled to accrue any benefits under any such Affiliate Benefit Plan with respect to services rendered or compensation paid on or after the Transferred
Employee’s Employment Commencement Date. Sellers and their Affiliates shall retain all rights, obligations and liabilities under each Affiliate Benefit
Plan, and neither Buyer nor the Targets shall assume any of such rights, obligations or liabilities. Except as expressly provided in the Employee Lease
Agreement, Sellers and their Affiliates shall retain or assume all obligations and liabilities with respect to employees whose employment with Sellers,
Targets or any of their Affiliates has terminated at or prior to the Employment Commencement Date, including without limitation any severance or retiree
health benefits. As soon as practicable after the date on which a Transferred Employee terminates employment with a Seller or an Affiliate of Seller, such
Seller or Affiliate shall pay to such Transferred Employee any unused vacation or paid time off in accordance with Sellers’ vacation or paid time off policy
and applicable Law.

(vi) Except as expressly provided in the Employee Lease Agreement, Sellers and their Affiliates shall retain all liabilities and obligations for, and the
responsibility for payment of, all covered medical, dental, life insurance, salary continuation, severance, disability and other welfare claims or expenses
arising from events occurring at or prior to the Employment Commencement Date, and neither Buyer nor any of the Targets shall assume or be responsible
for any liability or obligation with respect to such claims or expenses. For purposes of this Section, a claim is deemed incurred when the services that are
the subject of the claim are performed; in the case of life insurance, when the death occurs; in the case of long-term disability benefits, when the disability
begins; in the case of a hospital stay, when the employee or covered dependent first enters the hospital, and in the case of severance, when the employee is
notified of his or her termination of employment.

(vii) Sellers and their Affiliates shall be responsible for providing the continuation of group health coverage required by COBRA to any current or
former employees of the Targets whose “qualifying event,” within the meaning of Code §4980B(f), occurred at or prior to the Employment
Commencement Date (and such former employees’ “qualified beneficiaries,” within the meaning of Code §4980B(f)), subject to Buyer’s reimbursement
obligations under the Employee Lease Agreement.

(viii) Except as expressly provided in the Employee Lease Agreement, Sellers and their Affiliates shall retain the obligation and liability for any
workers’ compensation or similar workers’ protection claims of any current or former employee of the Targets or their Affiliates incurred prior to the
Employment Commencement Date.

(ix) Nothing herein is intended to limit the right of Buyer or the Targets (A) to terminate the employment or service of any employee or independent
contractor at any time, (B) to change or modify any incentive compensation or employee benefit plan or arrangement at any time and in any manner, or
(C) to change or modify the terms or conditions of employment or service for any of their employees or independent contractors. Nothing in this
Agreement shall be construed (I) to confer on any Person (including but not limited to Business Employees and current and former employees and
independent contractors of Sellers, the Targets or their Affiliates), other than the Parties, their successors and permitted assigns, any benefit under or right
to enforce the provisions of this Section 6(f), (II) to cause any Person (including Business Employees and current and former employees and independent
contractors of Sellers, Targets or their Affiliates) to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement, or (III) as an amendment or waiver of any Employee
Benefit Plan.
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(x) Neither Sellers nor any of their Affiliates shall make any written or oral communications to any Business Employees pertaining to compensation
or benefit matters relating to the period of time after the Employment Commencement Date without the prior written consent of Buyer.

(g) Discontinuation of Use of Transferred Assets.

(i) Except as provided in Section 6(g)(ii) below, from and after the Closing, Sellers and their Affiliates shall retain no rights in the Transferred Assets
and shall not use or retain any copies of any Transferred Assets. For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the Closing Sellers and their Affiliates shall not
use or retain any copies of, any Owned Business Intellectual Property (including any Transferred Assets included therein), and Sellers and their Affiliates
retain no rights in the Owned Business Intellectual Property (including any Transferred Assets included therein).

(ii) Effective as of the Closing Date, Buyer grants to UTAIC a worldwide, non-exclusive, non-transferrable, non-sublicensable, royalty-free right to
continue to use “UNITED TEACHER ASSOCIATES” (the “Licensed Name”) in UTAIC’s corporate name, and solely in connection with the
administration of the existing runoff of insurance policies that were written and administered under the Licensed Name prior to the Closing (the “Retained
Policies”). For the avoidance of doubt, UTAIC shall have no right to use the Licensed Name in connection with the marketing, issuance, underwriting or
administration of new insurance policies, or for any other purpose. At such time as the last of the Retained Policies is no longer in effect, UTAIC shall
cease all uses of the Licensed Name and shall file with the applicable Governmental Authorities the appropriate documents to change its name. UTAIC
shall use the Licensed Name in the same manner as it was used prior to the Closing. All activities that UTAIC undertakes in association with the Licensed
Name shall be in accordance with the same standards and practices that were used by UTAIC prior to the Closing. If requested by Buyer, UTAIC shall
modify or discontinue, as necessary, any use of the Licensed Name or activity that does not comply with the foregoing. All uses of the Licensed Name shall
inure to the benefit of Buyer.

(h) Non-Solicitation. For a period of twenty-four (24) months following the Closing Date (i) Sellers shall not, and shall cause their Affiliates not to, directly
or indirectly, solicit for employment or hire any Person who is currently, or within the prior twelve (12) month period has been, the highest manager directly and
exclusively responsible for the Business, or any employee reporting directly to such manager and (ii) Buyer shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly
or indirectly, solicit for employment or hire any Person listed on Section 6(h) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule; provided, however, that nothing in this
Section 6(h) shall prohibit Buyer, Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates from engaging in general advertising not directed at any such employees or former
employees.
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(i) Non-Competition.

(i) Except as contemplated by the Transaction Agreements, for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the Closing Date (the “Non-Compete
Period”), Sellers agree not to, and shall cause each of their Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, engage, as a principal or jointly with others or otherwise,
in the business of writing, issuing, selling, administrating, marketing or reinsuring any insurance policies of the types written or issued in connection with
the Business within the United States (a “Competing Business”). Sellers shall cause any and all obligations under this Section 6(i)(i) with respect to any
Affiliate that ceases to be an Affiliate of Sellers during the Non-Compete Period to continue in full force and effect with respect to such Affiliate for the
then remaining balance of the Non-Compete Period.

(ii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in Section 6(i)(i), and without implication that the following activities otherwise would be
subject to the provisions of this Section 6(i), nothing in this Agreement shall preclude, prohibit or restrict Sellers from engaging, or require Sellers to cause
any of their Affiliates not to engage, in any manner in any of the following:

(A) making investments in the Ordinary Course of Business in Persons engaging in a Competing Business, provided that each such investment
is a passive investment where Sellers and their Affiliates: (I) do not have the right to designate a majority of the members of the board of directors or
other governing body of such entity or to otherwise influence or direct the operation or management of any such entity, (II) are not participants with
any other Person in any group (as such term is used in Regulation 13D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) with such intention or
right, and (III) own less than five percent (5%) of the outstanding voting securities (including convertible securities) of such entity;

(B) providing reinsurance to any Person engaging in a Competing Business, so long as Sellers and their Affiliates are not engaged in the
marketing, production or administration of such reinsured business; or

(C) acquiring, merging or combining with any business that would otherwise violate this Section 6(i) that is acquired from any Person after the
Closing Date (an “After-Acquired Business”); provided, that, either (I) at the time of such acquisition, merger or combination, the revenues derived
from the Competing Business by the After-Acquired Business (the “Competing After-Acquired Revenues”) constitute no more than fifteen percent
(15%) of the gross revenues of the After-Acquired Business in the most recently completed fiscal year immediately prior to the date of such
acquisition, merger or combination (the “Aggregate After-Acquired Revenues”), or (II) if at the time of such acquisition, merger or combination, the
Competing After-Acquired Revenues constitute more than fifteen percent (15%) of the Aggregate After-Acquired Revenues then, within six
(6) months after such acquisition, merger or combination, (x) Sellers and/or their Affiliates sign a definitive agreement to dispose, and subsequently
dispose of, the relevant portion of the business or securities of such After-Acquired Business, (y) Sellers and/or their Affiliates otherwise modify the
After-Acquired Business such that the Competing After-Acquired Revenues constitute not more than fifteen percent (15%) of the Aggregate After-
Acquired Revenues, or (z) the business of such After-Acquired Business otherwise complies with this Section 6(i); in each case, only if none of the
trademarks, service marks, trade names or other designations of Sellers are used in connection with such After-Acquired Business.

 
60



(j) Additional Obligations Regarding Transferred Assets and Excluded Assets.

(i) If, on the Closing Date, any consent required to effect the Transfer of the Transferred Assets from Sellers to the Targets pursuant to Section 2(b)
(ii) is not obtained, or if an attempted Transfer thereof would be ineffective or a violation of applicable Law or would in the reasonable judgment of Buyer
adversely affect the rights of the Targets thereto or thereunder so that the Targets would not in fact receive all such rights, then such Transferred Assets
shall not be Transferred, and Sellers shall effectuate, at Sellers’ sole expense, an arrangement that is satisfactory to Buyer under which (A) the Targets
would obtain the benefits associated with such Transferred Assets in accordance with this Agreement, including subcontracting, sublicensing or subleasing
to the Targets or under which Sellers or its applicable Affiliates (other than the Targets) would enforce for the benefit of the Targets any and all of their
rights against a third party associated with such Transferred Assets, and (B) Sellers would, or would cause their applicable Affiliates (other than the
Targets) to, promptly pay to the Targets when received all monies received by them under any such Transferred Assets following the Closing; provided that
the Parties shall continue to use their reasonable best efforts, and shall cooperate fully with each other, to obtain promptly such consents or waivers. In the
event that a consent or waiver for the Transfer of any such Transferred Asset not Transferred at the Closing is obtained, Sellers shall Transfer, or cause their
applicable Affiliates (other than the Targets) to Transfer, such Transferred Asset to the Targets at no additional cost. Sellers shall promptly reimburse Buyer
and any of its Affiliates (including the Targets) for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Buyer or its Affiliates (including the Targets) in
connection with the activities contemplated by this Section 6(j)(i). For the avoidance of doubt, nothing contained in this Section 6(j)(i) shall relieve or
otherwise affect the rights and obligations of the Parties under Section 8.

(ii) If, on the Closing Date, any consent required to effect the Transfer of the Excluded Assets from the Targets to Sellers pursuant to Section 2(b)(i)
is not obtained, or if an attempted Transfer thereof would be ineffective or a violation of Law or would in the reasonable judgment of Sellers adversely
affect the rights of Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the Targets) thereto or thereunder so that Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the Targets) would
not in fact receive all such rights, then such Excluded Assets shall not be Transferred, and Buyer shall, and shall cause the Targets, at Sellers’ sole expense,
to effectuate an arrangement that is satisfactory to Sellers under which (A) Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the Targets) would obtain the benefits
associated with such Excluded Assets in accordance with this Agreement, including subcontracting, sublicensing or subleasing to Sellers and their
Affiliates (other than the Targets) or under which the Targets
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would enforce for the benefit of Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the Targets) any and all of their rights against a third party associated with such
Excluded Assets, and (B) Buyer would, or would cause the Targets to, promptly pay to Sellers and their Affiliates (other than the Targets) when received all
monies received by them under any such Excluded Assets following the Closing; provided that the Parties shall continue to use their reasonable best
efforts, and shall cooperate fully with each other, to obtain promptly such consents or waivers. In the event that a consent or waiver for the Transfer of any
such Excluded Asset not Transferred at the Closing is obtained, Buyer shall Transfer, or cause the Targets to Transfer, such Excluded Asset to Sellers at no
additional cost. Sellers shall promptly reimburse Buyer and any of its Affiliates (including the Targets) for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred
by Buyer or its Affiliates (including the Targets) in connection with the activities contemplated by this Section 6(j)(ii). For the avoidance of doubt, nothing
contained in this Section 6(j)(ii) shall relieve or otherwise affect the rights and obligations of the Parties under Section 8.

Section 7. Conditions to Obligation to Close.

(a) Conditions to Buyer’s Obligation. The obligation of Buyer to consummate the transactions to be performed by it in connection with the Closing is
subject to satisfaction of the following conditions:

(i) (A) the representations and warranties set forth in Sections 3(a)(ii), 3(a)(v), 4(a)(i), and 4(b) above shall be true and correct in all respects at and
as of the Closing Date, without regard to any limitations or qualifications as to “Material Adverse Effect”, “material” or other similar limitations or
qualifications contained in any such representation or warranty, and (B) the other representations and warranties set forth in Section 3(a) and Section 4
above shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties are
qualified by the term “material,” or contain terms such as “Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse Change,” in which case such representations and
warranties (as so written, including the term “material” or “Material”) shall be true and correct in all respects at and as of the Closing Date;

(ii) Sellers shall have performed and complied with all of their covenants and obligations hereunder in all material respects through the Closing,
except to the extent that such covenants are qualified by the term “material,” or contain terms such as “Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse
Change,” in which case Sellers shall have performed and complied with all of such covenants (as so written, including the term “material” or “Material”) in
all respects through the Closing;

(iii) the Targets or Sellers, as applicable, shall have procured all of the third-party consents specified in Section 5(b) above;

(iv) no Governmental Order shall have been issued and be in effect, and no Action shall be pending before any Governmental Authority or arbitrator
which has the effect, or would have the effect if determined adversely, of (A) restraining or preventing consummation of any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements, (B) causing any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the
Ancillary Agreements to be rescinded following consummation, (C) adversely affecting the right of Buyer to own the Targets and to control the Targets, or
(D) materially and adversely affecting the right of any Target to own its assets and to operate its business;
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(v) each Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate dated as of the Closing Date signed on behalf of each Seller by a duly authorized executive
officer of such Seller to the effect that each of the conditions specified above in Sections 7(a)(i)—(iv) is satisfied in all respects;

(vi) all applicable waiting periods (and any extensions thereof) under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act shall have expired or otherwise been terminated, and
Sellers and their Affiliates shall have made and/or obtained all Governmental Approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, including those set forth in Section 4(c)(i) of the Sellers Disclosure Schedule;

(vii) Sellers shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to Buyer stock certificates representing all of the Transaction Shares, endorsed in blank
or accompanied by duly executed assignment documents;

(viii) Sellers or their applicable Affiliates shall have executed and delivered to Buyer the Transaction Reinsurance Agreements and the same shall be
in full force and effect;

(ix) Sellers or their applicable Affiliates shall have executed and delivered the Transition Services Agreements and the same shall be in full force and
effect;

(x) Sellers or their applicable Affiliates shall have executed and delivered the Trust Agreements and the same shall be in full force and effect;

(xi) PDMA and the applicable Target Insurance Companies shall have executed and delivered the LifePRO License Agreement and the same shall be
in full force and effect;

(xii) HSI and the applicable Target Insurance Companies shall have executed and delivered the OnBase License Agreement and the same shall be in
full force and effect;

(xiii) Buyer shall have received the resignations, effective as of the Closing, of each director and officer of the Targets, other than those directors and
officers with respect to which Buyer has notified Sellers in writing at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date to not so resign;

(xiv) all actions to be taken by Sellers in connection with consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements and all certificates, instruments, and other documents required to effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements will be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to Buyer;
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(xv) Sellers shall have obtained and delivered to Buyer a written consent for the assignment of each of the Leases, and, if requested by Buyer in
connection with any Leased Real Property, a waiver of landlord liens, collateral assignment of lease or leasehold mortgage from the landlord or other party
whose consent thereto is required under such Lease (the “Lease Consents”), in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and Buyer’s lender.
Buyer acknowledges that it shall be required to furnish a new guarantor of the Lease relating to the 11200 Lakeline Boulevard, Austin, Texas property;

(xvi) Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer copies of the certificate of incorporation or similar Organizational Document of each Seller and each
Target, certified as of a date that is no later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date by the Secretary of State (or comparable officer) of the
jurisdiction of each such Person’s organization;

(xvii) Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer copies of the certificate of good standing of each Seller and each Target, issued as of a date that is no later
than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date by the Secretary of State (or comparable officer) of the jurisdiction of each such Person’s
organization;

(xviii) Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate duly executed by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of each Seller, dated the Closing
Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, as to: (A) no amendments to the certificate of incorporation or similar Organizational
Document of such Seller since the date specified in clause (xvi) above; (B) the bylaws of such Seller; (C) the resolutions of the board of directors (or a duly
authorized committee thereof) of such Seller authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and each other Transaction Agreement
to which such Seller is a party, and (D) incumbency and specimen signatures of the officers of such Seller executing this Agreement or any other agreement
contemplated by this Agreement;

(xix) Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer the Books and Records;

(xx) each Seller shall deliver to Buyer a certification of non-foreign status, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, in accordance
with Reg. §1.1445-2(b), with respect to which Buyer shall not have actual knowledge that such certification is false and shall not have received a notice
that such certification is false pursuant to Reg. §1.1445-4;

(xxi) Sellers and their applicable Affiliates (including the Targets) shall have executed and delivered to Buyer the Business Associate Agreements
and the same shall be in full force and effect;

(xxii) the sale of Great American Life Assurance Company pursuant to the GALAC SPA shall have been consummated or Sellers shall have caused
all of the outstanding Capital Stock of Great American Life Assurance Company to be Transferred from LAI to Sellers or any of their Affiliates (other than
the Targets); and

(xxiii) Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer a complete list of all sales or use, personal property, unclaimed property/escheat, or other Tax Returns
described in Section 4(m)(iii) and not previously disclosed.
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Buyer may waive any condition specified in this Section 7(a) if it executes a writing so stating at or prior to the Closing.

(b) Conditions to Sellers’ Obligation. The Sellers’ obligation to consummate the transactions to be performed by them in connection with the Closing is
subject to satisfaction of the following conditions:

(i) (A) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3(b)(ii) above shall be true and correct in all respects at and as of the Closing Date,
without regard to any limitations or qualifications as to “Material Adverse Effect”, “material” or other similar limitations or qualifications contained in any
such representation or warranty, and (B) the other representations and warranties set forth in Section 3(b) above shall be true and correct in all material
respects at and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties are qualified by the terms “material,” or contain terms
such as “Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse Change,” in which case such representations and warranties (as so written, including the term
“material” or “Material”) shall be true and correct in all respects at and as of the Closing Date;

(ii) Buyer shall have performed and complied with all of its covenants and obligations hereunder in all material respects through the Closing, except
to the extent that such covenants are qualified by the term “material,” or contain terms such as “Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse Change,” in
which case Buyer shall have performed and complied with all of such covenants (as so written, including the term “material” or “Material”) in all respects
through the Closing;

(iii) no Governmental Order shall have been issued and be in effect, and no Action shall be pending before any Governmental Authority or arbitrator
which has the effect, or would have the effect if determined adversely, of (A) restraining or preventing consummation of any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements or (B) causing any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the
Ancillary Agreements to be rescinded following consummation;

(iv) Buyer shall have delivered to Sellers a certificate dated as of the Closing Date signed on behalf of Buyer by a duly authorized executive officer
of Buyer to the effect that each of the conditions specified above in Sections 7(b)(i)-(iii) is satisfied in all respects;

(v) all applicable waiting periods (and any extensions thereof) under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act shall have expired or otherwise been terminated, and
Buyer shall have made and/or obtained all Governmental Approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
Ancillary Agreements, including those set forth in Section 3(b)(ii) of the Buyer Disclosure Schedule;

(vi) Buyer or its applicable Affiliate shall have executed and delivered the Transition Services Agreements and the same shall be in full force and
effect;
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(vii) all actions to be taken by Buyer in connection with consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements and all certificates, instruments, and other documents required to effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements will be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Sellers; and

(viii) Buyer and its applicable Affiliates shall have executed and delivered to Sellers the Business Associate Agreements and the same shall be in full
force and effect.

The Sellers may waive any condition specified in this Section 7(b) if they execute a writing so stating at or prior to the Closing.

Section 8. Remedies for Breaches of This Agreement.

(a) Survival of Representations and Warranties and Covenants. All of the representations and warranties of Sellers contained in or made in this Agreement
or in any certificate furnished pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Closing and continue in full force and effect for a period of eighteen (18) months
thereafter, except that (i) the representations and warranties contained in Sections 3(a)(i), 3(a)(ii), 3(a)(iv), 3(a)(v), 3(b)(i), 3(b)(ii), 3(b)(iv), 4(a)(i), 4(b), 4(d) and
4(e) shall survive the Closing and continue in full force and effect indefinitely, (ii) the representations and warranties contained in Section 4(g)(v) shall survive
the Closing and continue in full force and effect until the date on which the Final Settlement Statement is determined in accordance with Section 2(e)(iv), (iii) the
representations and warranties contained in Sections 4(dd), 4(ee) and 4(gg) shall survive the Closing and continue in full force and effect for a period of thirty-six
(36) months thereafter and (iv) the representations and warranties contained in Sections 4(m) shall survive the Closing and continue in full force and effect until
thirty (30) days following the expiration of the applicable statutes of limitations (including any extension thereto). The covenants of the Parties to be performed
following the Closing shall survive the Closing for the period specified therein, if any, or, if later, until fully performed.

(b) Indemnification Provisions for Buyer’s Benefit.

(i) In the event of any inaccuracy in, breach of or failure to perform any representation, warranty or covenant of Sellers contained in this Agreement
or in any certificate furnished by Sellers pursuant to this Agreement (determined, for purposes of this Section 8(b)(i), without regard to any limitations or
qualifications as to “Material Adverse Effect”, “material” or other similar limitations or qualifications contained in any such representation or warranty),
and provided that Buyer makes a written claim for indemnification against Sellers within the applicable survival period, then the Sellers shall be obligated
jointly and severally to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Buyer, each of its Affiliates (including the Targets) and their respective officers, directors,
employees, agents, advisors, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Buyer Indemnitees”) from and against the entirety of any Adverse Consequences the
Buyer Indemnitees may suffer (including any Adverse Consequences the Buyer Indemnitees may suffer after the end of any applicable survival period)
resulting from, arising out of, relating to, in the nature of, or caused by such inaccuracy, breach or failure; provided, however, that Sellers shall not have any
obligation to
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indemnify, defend or hold harmless the Buyer Indemnitees from and against any Adverse Consequences resulting from, arising out of, relating to, in the
nature of, or caused by any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty of Sellers (other than any representation or warranty in Sections 3(a)
(i), 3(a)(ii), 3(a)(iv), 3(a)(v), 4(a)(i), 4(b), 4(d), 4(g)(v) and 4(m), and any representation or warranty in Sections 4(c), 4(q) and 4(w) to the extent relating to
any Reinsurance Agreements that are not listed in Section 4(c)(i), 4(q), 4(w)(i)(A), 4(w)(i)(B), 4(w)(i)(C), 4(w)(ii) or 4(w)(iii) of the Sellers Disclosure
Schedule, in each case, as to which this proviso shall not apply) until the Buyer Indemnitees have suffered Adverse Consequences by reason of all such
inaccuracies and breaches in excess of an aggregate deductible amount equal to one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the Purchase Price (after which point
Sellers will be obligated only to indemnify the Buyer Indemnitees from and against Adverse Consequences in excess of such amount) provided, that, for
the purposes of determining whether the deductible amount has been met or exceeded, claims for Adverse Consequences arising from a single event or a
group or series of related events that are, individually or in the aggregate, less than $50,000 shall be excluded; and provided, further, that there will be an
aggregate ceiling in an amount equal to $40,000,000 on the obligation of Sellers to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Buyer Indemnitees from and
against Adverse Consequences resulting from, arising out of, relating to, in the nature of, or caused by any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or
warranty of Sellers (other than any representation or warranty in Sections 3(a)(i), 3(a)(ii), 3(a)(iv), 3(a)(v), 4(a)(i), 4(b), 4(d), 4(f), 4(g)(v) and 4(m), as to
which such aggregate ceiling shall not apply). For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer’s failure to make a written claim for indemnification with respect to any
such inaccuracy, breach or failure within the applicable survival period shall result in Sellers having no liability under this Section 8(b)(i) for any such
inaccuracy, breach or failure.

(ii) Each Seller shall be jointly and severally obligated to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Buyer Indemnitees from and against all Excluded
Liabilities.

(c) Indemnification Provisions for Sellers’ Benefit. In the event of any inaccuracy in, breach of or failure to perform any representations, warranties, or
covenants of Buyer contained in this Agreement or in any certificate furnished by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement (determined, for purposes of this
Section 8(c), without regard to any limitations or qualifications as to “Material Adverse Effect”, “material” or other similar limitations or qualifications contained
in any such representation or warranty), and provided that any Seller makes a written claim for indemnification against Buyer within the applicable survival
period (if there is an applicable survival period pursuant to Section 8(a) above), then Buyer agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Seller, its
Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Seller Indemnitees”) from and against the
entirety of any Adverse Consequences suffered (including any Adverse Consequences suffered after the end of any applicable survival period) resulting from,
arising out of, relating to, in the nature of, or caused by such inaccuracy, breach or failure; provided, however, that Buyer shall not have any obligation to
indemnify, defend or hold harmless the Seller Indemnitees from and against any Adverse Consequences resulting from, arising out of, relating to, in the nature of,
or caused by any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty of Buyer (other than any representation or warranty in Sections 3(b)(i), 3(b)(ii) and
3(b)(iv), as to which this proviso shall not apply) until the Seller Indemnitees have
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suffered Adverse Consequences by reason of all such inaccuracies and breaches in excess of an aggregate deductible amount equal to one and one-half percent
(1.5%) of the Purchase Price (after which point Buyer will be obligated only to indemnify the Seller Indemnitees from and against Adverse Consequences in
excess of such amount) provided, that, for the purposes of determining whether the deductible amount has been met or exceeded, claims for Adverse
Consequences arising from a single event or a group or series of related events that are, individually or in the aggregate, less than $50,000 shall be excluded; and
provided, further, that there will be an aggregate ceiling in an amount equal to $40,000,000 on the obligation of Buyer to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the
Seller Indemnitees from and against Adverse Consequences resulting from, arising out of, relating to, in the nature of, or caused by any inaccuracy in or breach of
any representation or warranty of Buyer (other than any representation or warranty in Sections 3(b)(i), 3(b)(ii) and 3(b)(iv), as to which such aggregate ceiling
shall not apply).

(d) Matters Involving Third Parties.

(i) If any third party notifies any Party (the “Indemnified Party”) with respect to any matter (a “Third-Party Claim”) that may give rise to a claim for
indemnification against any other Party (the “Indemnifying Party”) under this Section 8, then the Indemnified Party shall promptly notify each
Indemnifying Party thereof in writing; provided, however, that no delay on the part of the Indemnified Party in notifying any Indemnifying Party shall
relieve the Indemnifying Party from any obligation hereunder unless (and then solely to the extent) the Indemnifying Party is thereby is actually and
materially prejudiced.

(ii) Any Indemnifying Party will have the right to assume the defense of the Third-Party Claim with counsel of his, her, or its choice reasonably
satisfactory to the Indemnified Party by providing written notice to the Indemnified Party within fifteen (15) days after the Indemnified Party has given
notice of the Third-Party Claim to the Indemnifying Party; provided, however, that the Indemnifying Party shall conduct the defense of the Third-Party
Claim actively and diligently thereafter in order to preserve his, her, or its rights to assume the defense of such Third-Party Claim. The Indemnified Party
may retain separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and participate in the defense of the Third-Party Claim; provided, however, that if the
representation of the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party by the same counsel creates a conflict of interest under applicable standards of
professional conduct of attorneys or prejudices the prosecution of the defenses available to the Indemnified Party, then the Indemnifying Party shall be
liable for the fees and expenses of counsel employed by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party may take any actions reasonably necessary to defend
such Third Party Claim prior to the time that it receives notice from the Indemnifying Party that it will assume the defense of such Third Party Claim, and
the Indemnifying Party shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for any expenses, including fees and expenses of counsel, incurred in connection with such
defense promptly upon written request therefor.
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(iii) So long as the Indemnifying Party has assumed and is conducting the defense of the Third-Party Claim in accordance with Section 8(d)(ii)
above, (A) the Indemnifying Party will not consent to the entry of any judgment on or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third-Party Claim
without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (not to be unreasonably withheld) unless the judgment or proposed settlement (I) involves only
the payment of money damages by one or more of the Indemnifying Parties, (II) does not impose an injunction or other equitable relief upon the
Indemnified Party, (III) includes a complete and unconditional release of the Indemnified Party from all liability in respect of such Third Party Claim and
(IV) does not include a statement or admission of fault, culpability or failure to act by or on behalf of the Indemnified Party, and (B) the Indemnified Party
will not consent to the entry of any judgment on or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third-Party Claim without the prior written consent of the
Indemnifying Party (not to be unreasonably withheld).

(iv) In the event none of the Indemnifying Parties assumes and conducts the defense of the Third-Party Claim in accordance with Section 8(d)(ii)
above, however, (A) the Indemnified Party may defend against, and consent to the entry of any judgment on or enter into any settlement with respect to,
such Third-Party Claim in any manner he, her, or it reasonably deems appropriate (and the Indemnified Party need not consult with, or obtain any consent
from, any Indemnifying Party in connection therewith), and (B) the Indemnifying Parties will remain responsible for any Adverse Consequences the
Indemnified Party may suffer resulting from, arising out of, relating to, in the nature of, or caused by the Third-Party Claim to the fullest extent provided in
this Section 8.

(v) If there shall be any conflicts between the provisions of this Section 8(d) and Section 9(f) (relating to Tax contests), the provisions of Section 9(f)
shall control with respect to Tax contests.

(e) Determination of Adverse Consequences. Indemnification payments under this Section 8 and Section 9 with respect to any Adverse Consequences shall
be calculated on an “After-Tax Basis,” which shall mean an amount which is sufficient to compensate the Indemnified Party for the event giving rise to such
Adverse Consequences (the “Indemnified Event”), determined after taking into account (i) all increases in federal, state, local or other Taxes (including estimated
Taxes) payable by the Indemnified Party as a result of the receipt of the indemnity payment (as a result of the indemnity payment being included in income,
resulting in a reduction of tax basis, or otherwise), (ii) to the extent not previously taken into account in computing the amount of such Adverse Consequences, all
increases in federal, state, local and other Taxes (including estimated Taxes) payable by the Indemnified Party as a result of the Indemnified Event for all affected
taxable years or periods, and (iii) to the extent not previously taken into account in computing the amount of such Adverse Consequences, all reductions in
federal, state, local and foreign Taxes (including estimated Taxes) realized by the Indemnified Party as a result of the Indemnified Event for all affected taxable
years or periods ending on or before the Closing Date and, with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of the Straddle Period ending on and including the
Closing Date. For purposes of determining the amount of any Adverse Consequences subject to indemnification pursuant to this Section 8, the amount of such
Adverse Consequences shall be determined net of any amounts specifically reflected in the Final Settlement Statement and directly resulting from the facts,
events or circumstances giving rise to such Adverse Consequences. There shall be no indemnification for breaches of representations and warranties under this
Section 8 with respect to any Adverse
 

69



Consequence to the extent (and only to the extent) that such Adverse Consequence is indemnified pursuant to Section 9(a). All calculations shall be made at the
time of the relevant indemnification payment using reasonable assumptions (as agreed to by the Indemnifying Party and Indemnified Party) and present value
concepts (using a discount rate equal to the Applicable Rate as of the date the applicable claim for indemnification is made). The Parties shall make appropriate
adjustments for insurance coverage actually received (taking into account any costs, expenses, premiums and taxes incurred by the Indemnified Party or its
Affiliates in connection with the pursuit or recovery of such amounts) in determining Adverse Consequences for purposes of this Section 8. All indemnification
payments under this Section 8 and Section 9 shall be deemed adjustments to the Purchase Price to the extent permitted by applicable Law.

(f) No Punitive Damages. In no event shall any Indemnifying Party be liable to any Indemnified Party for any punitive damages other than punitive
damages payable to a third party.

(g) Duty to Mitigate. Each Indemnified Party shall take, and cause its Affiliates to take, commercially reasonable steps to mitigate any Adverse
Consequences upon becoming aware of any event or circumstance that would be reasonably expected to, or does, give rise to a right to indemnification hereunder.

(h) Exclusive Remedy. Other than the Parties’ specific performance rights and remedies under Section 11(j) hereof, and except in the case of fraud or
willful misconduct, Buyer and Sellers acknowledge and agree that the foregoing indemnification provisions in this Section 8 and in Section 9 shall be the
exclusive remedy of Buyer and Sellers with respect to (i) any inaccuracy or breach of any representations or warranties contained in this Agreement or in any
certificate furnished pursuant to this Agreement or (ii) any failure to perform any covenants contained in this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Buyer and Sellers hereby waive any statutory, equitable, or common law rights or remedies relating to any environmental, health, or safety matters,
including without limitation any such matters arising under any Environmental, Health, and Safety Requirements and including without limitation any arising
under CERCLA.

Section 9. Tax Matters.

The following provisions shall govern the allocation of responsibility as between Buyer and Sellers for certain Tax matters following the Closing Date:

(a) Tax Indemnification. Each Seller shall jointly and severally indemnify Buyer Indemnitees and hold them harmless from and against all Adverse
Consequences incurred by such Buyer Indemnitees in connection with or arising from: (i) all Taxes (or the non-payment thereof) imposed on the Targets, or for
which the Targets may otherwise be liable, for all taxable periods ending on or before the Closing Date and the portion through the end of the Closing Date for
any taxable period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date (“Pre-Closing Tax Period”), (ii) any and all Taxes of any member of an affiliated,
consolidated, combined, or unitary group of which any Target (or any predecessor of any of the foregoing) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date,
including pursuant to Treasury Regulation §1.1502-6 or any analogous or similar Law, (iii) any and all Taxes of any Person (other than the Targets) imposed on
the Targets as a transferee or successor, by contract or pursuant to any Law, which Taxes relate to an event or transaction occurring before the Closing, (iv) any
Section 338 Taxes, and (v) all Taxes applicable to the Business and the Business Assets or to the assets held by CSO to the extent attributable to the Pre-Closing
Tax Period; provided, however, that in the case of clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, Sellers shall be liable only to the extent that such Taxes are not taken into
account in computing Capital and Surplus as of the Closing.
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(b) Straddle Period. In the case of any taxable period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”), the amount of any Income
Taxes for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be determined based on an interim closing of the books as of the close of business on the Closing Date (and for such
purpose, the taxable period of any partnership or other pass-through entity in which the Targets hold a beneficial interest shall be deemed to terminate at such
time). Should the Closing Date not be the first Business Day of the month as described in Section 2(f), and should income not be able to be determined by closing
the books, Income Taxes shall be determined for the period up to and including the Closing Date and the period after the Closing Date pursuant to the monthly
allocation method prescribed in Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-76(b)(2)(iii).

(c) Responsibility for Filing Tax Returns. Sellers shall (i) include the income of the Targets (including any deferred items triggered into income by Treasury
Regulation Section 1.1502-13 and any excess loss account taken into income under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502(19)) on the consolidated federal Income
Tax Returns of Sellers and on the appropriate combined or consolidated state Income Tax returns for all periods through the end of the Closing Date and pay any
Income Taxes attributable to such income, and (ii) timely file or cause to be timely filed when due all other Tax Returns that are required to be filed by or with
respect to any of the Targets for taxable years or periods ending on or before the Closing Date and pay any Taxes due in respect of such Tax Returns. Such Tax
Returns shall be prepared and filed in a manner consistent with prior custom and practice, except as required by any change in applicable Law. Buyer shall cause
the Targets to furnish Tax information to Sellers for inclusion in the Targets’ Tax Returns for the period that includes the Closing Date in accordance with the
Targets’ past custom and practice. Buyer shall cause the Targets to file all other Tax Returns for all periods other than periods ending on or before the Closing
Date. Sellers or Buyer shall reimburse the other Party the Taxes for which Sellers or Buyer is liable pursuant to Section 9(a) but which are remitted in respect of
any Tax Return to be filed by the other Party pursuant to this Section 9(c) upon the written request of the Party entitled to reimbursement setting forth in detail the
computation of the amount owed by Sellers or Buyer, as the case may be, but in no event earlier than twenty (20) days prior to the due date for paying such Taxes.
For the avoidance of doubt, such reimbursement obligations shall not be subject to the limitations on indemnification set forth in Section 8.

(d) Refunds and Tax Benefits. Any Tax refunds that are received by Buyer or any Target, and any amounts credited against Tax to which Buyer or any
Target become entitled, that relate to Tax periods or portions thereof ending on or before the Closing Date shall be for the account of Sellers, and Buyer shall pay
over to Sellers any such refund or the amount of any such credit within thirty (30) days after receipt or entitlement thereto; provided, however, that Buyer shall be
entitled to any refund or credit taken into account in computing Capital and Surplus as of the Closing. In addition, to the extent that a claim for refund or a
proceeding results in a payment or credit against Tax by a taxing authority to Buyer or Targets of any amount accrued as a liability on the Final Settlement
Statement, Buyer shall pay such amount to Sellers within thirty (30) days after receipt or entitlement thereto. Buyer shall be entitled to any refund or credit with
respect to Taxes (including any interest relating thereto) that results from the carryback of losses, credits or similar items from a taxable year or period that begins
after the Closing Date and is attributable to any Target, and any such refund or credit to which Sellers are entitled shall be paid by Sellers to Buyer within thirty
(30) days after any Seller becomes entitled thereto. Sellers shall take reasonable steps as may be requested by Buyer to obtain any refund or credit to which Buyer
is entitled under this subparagraph (d).
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(e) Cooperation on Tax Matters.

(i) Buyer, Targets and Sellers shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by the other Party, in connection with the filing of Tax
Returns pursuant to this Section 9 and any audit or other Action with respect to Taxes. Such cooperation shall include the retention and (upon the other
Party’s request) the provision of records and information that are reasonably relevant to any such audit or other Action and making employees available on
a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Buyer and Sellers agree (A) to retain all
books and records with respect to Tax matters pertinent to the Targets relating to any taxable period beginning before the Closing Date until the expiration
of the statute of limitations (and, to the extent notified by Buyer or Sellers, any extensions thereof) of the respective taxable periods, and to abide by all
record retention agreements entered into with any taxing authority, and (B) to give the other Party reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying
or discarding any such books and records and, if the other Party so requests, Buyer or Sellers, as the case may be, shall allow the other Party to take
possession of such books and records.

(ii) Buyer and Sellers further agree, upon request, to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain any certificate or other document from any
Governmental Authority or any other Person as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate any Tax that could be imposed (including with respect to
the transactions contemplated hereby).

(iii) Buyer and Sellers further agree, upon request, to provide the other Party with all information that either Party may be required to report pursuant
to Code §6043, or Code §6043A, or Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

(f) Contest Provisions.

(i) Buyer shall notify Sellers in writing upon receipt by Buyer or any of Buyer’s Affiliate, or, after the Closing Date, the Targets, of notice of any
pending or threatened federal, state, local or foreign Tax audits or assessments relating to any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date or to any
Straddle Period; provided, that failure to comply with this provision shall not affect Buyer’s right to indemnification under this Agreement except to the
extent such failure materially impairs Sellers’ ability to contest any such Tax liabilities.
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(ii) Sellers shall have the sole right to represent the Targets’ interests in any Tax audit or administrative or court proceeding relating to a Tax liability
for which Sellers would be required to indemnify any Buyer Indemnitee pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Section 9 and that relates solely to a taxable year
or period ending on or before the Closing Date, and to employ counsel of such Seller’s choice at such Seller’s expense; provided, however, that such Seller
shall have no right to represent any Target’s interests in any Tax audit or administrative or court proceeding unless (A) such Seller shall have first notified
Buyer in writing of such Seller’s intention to do so and of the identity of counsel, if any, chosen by such Seller in connection therewith, and (B) that such
Seller agrees with Buyer that, as between Buyer and such Seller, such Seller shall be liable for any Adverse Consequences relating to Taxes that result from
such audit or proceeding; provided, further, that Buyer and its representatives shall be permitted, at Buyer’s expense, to be present at, and participate in,
any such audit or proceeding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Sellers nor any Affiliate of Sellers shall be entitled to settle, either administratively or
after the commencement of litigation, any claim for Taxes which could adversely affect the liability for Taxes of Buyer or any Buyer Affiliate or the Targets
for any period after the Closing Date to any extent unless Sellers have indemnified Buyer and each Buyer Affiliate (including the Targets) against the
effects of any such settlement (including the imposition of income Tax deficiencies, the reduction of asset basis or cost adjustments, the lengthening of any
amortization or depreciation periods, the denial of amortization or depreciation deductions, or the reduction of loss or credit carryforwards) without the
prior written consent of Buyer.

(iii) Buyer shall have the sole right to represent the Targets’ interests in any Tax audit or administrative or court proceeding relating to Tax liabilities
other than those for which Seller has exercised such right pursuant to paragraph (f)(ii) of this Section 9 and to employ counsel of Buyer’s choice at Buyer’s
expense. Buyer shall have the sole right to defend the Targets with respect to any issue, and settle or compromise any issue, arising in connection with any
Tax audit or administrative or court proceeding to the extent Buyer shall have agreed in writing to forego any indemnification under this Agreement with
respect to such issue.

(iv) Nothing herein shall be construed to impose on Buyer any obligation to defend the Targets in any Tax audit or administrative or court
proceeding. Any proceeding with respect to which Sellers do not assume control in accordance with this Section 9(f) may be settled or compromised in the
discretion of Buyer, and any such settlement or compromise shall not affect any Buyer Indemnitees right to indemnification under this Agreement.

(g) Tax-Sharing Agreements. All Tax Sharing Agreements or similar agreements with respect to or involving Targets shall be applied to the period that
includes the Closing Date and shall be terminated as of the Closing Date and, for taxable years commencing after the Closing Date, Targets shall not be bound
thereby or have any liability thereunder.

(h) Transfer Taxes. Sellers shall be liable for and pay, and shall indemnify and hold harmless all Buyer Indemnitees from and against any and all Adverse
Consequences incurred by such Buyer Indemnitees in connection with or arising from any real property transfer or gains Tax, sales Tax, use Tax, stamp Tax, stock
transfer Tax, or other similar Tax imposed on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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(i) Section 338(h)(10) Election.

(i) Buyer and Sellers shall jointly make a timely election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code on IRS Form 8023 for the Targets (other than CSO).
Buyer and Sellers agree to file such Form with the relevant tax authorities, and Buyer and Sellers each agree to file all income, franchise and other Tax
Returns, and execute such other documents as may be required by any tax authority, in a manner consistent with such election. Each of Buyer and Sellers
agrees that neither it nor any of its Affiliates shall take, or fail to take, any action to the extent such action or failure to act, as the case may be, is
inconsistent with or would otherwise prejudice any election under Code §338(h)(10) made by the Parties hereunder.

(ii) Within one hundred and fifty (150) days following the Closing Date or, if later, within sixty (60) days following the determination of the Final
Capital and Surplus, Buyer shall deliver to Sellers a schedule (the “Preliminary Allocation Schedule”) allocating the ADSP (as such term is defined in Reg.
§1.338-4) for the assets of the Targets for which an election under Code §338(h)(10) will be made, among the assets of such Targets. The Preliminary
Allocation Schedule shall be reasonable and shall be prepared in accordance with Code §338(h)(10) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. If, within
twenty (20) days following delivery of the Preliminary Allocation Schedule, none of the Sellers have notified Buyer in writing of its disagreement with the
Preliminary Allocation Schedule, the Preliminary Allocation Schedule shall be final and binding. If within such 20-day period any Seller so notifies Buyer,
Sellers and Buyer shall endeavor to resolve such disagreement, and if they are able to do so shall make such revisions to the Preliminary Allocation
Schedule to reflect such resolution, which shall be final and binding. If the Preliminary Allocation Schedule becomes final and binding in accordance with
the foregoing, then each of Buyer and Sellers agrees that neither it nor any of its Affiliates shall file any federal, state, local and foreign Tax Returns in a
manner that is inconsistent with such schedule.

(j) Other Taxes. Any liability for Taxes attributable to a Straddle Period shall be apportioned between the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the portion of the
taxable period beginning on the day after the Closing Date, (i) in the case of real and personal property Taxes on a per diem basis and (ii) in the case of all other
Taxes, other than taxes calculated pursuant to Section 9(b), on the basis of a closing of the books as of the end of the Closing Date.

Section 10. Termination.

(a) Termination of Agreement. Certain of the Parties may terminate this Agreement as provided below:

(i) Buyer and Sellers may terminate this Agreement by mutual written consent at any time prior to the Closing;
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(ii) Buyer or Sellers may terminate this Agreement in the event of the issuance of a final, non-appealable Governmental Order or the enactment of
any Law, in each case, that prohibits or restrains any Party from consummating the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Ancillary Agreements;

(iii) Buyer may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Sellers at any time prior to the Closing: (A) in the event any Seller has breached
any representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this Agreement in any material respect, Buyer has notified Sellers of the breach, and the breach is
not capable of being cured or is capable of being cured and has continued without cure for a period of thirty (30) days after the notice of breach; (B) if the
Closing shall not have occurred on or before November 12, 2012, unless the failure results primarily from Buyer itself materially breaching any
representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this Agreement; or (C) there shall have occurred and be continuing for thirty (30) days any change, event
or condition, which individually or in the aggregate, results in or would reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect; and

(iv) Sellers may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Buyer at any time prior to the Closing (A) in the event Buyer has breached any
representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this Agreement in any material respect, any Seller has notified Buyer of the breach, and the breach is not
capable of being cured or is capable of being cured and has continued without cure for a period of thirty (30) days after the notice of breach or (B) if the
Closing shall not have occurred on or before November 12, 2012, unless the failure results primarily from any Seller materially breaching any
representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this Agreement; provided, that such date may be extended by not more than sixty (60) days by Buyer by
written notice to Sellers if the Closing shall not have occurred as a result of the condition set forth in Section 7(a)(vi) failing to have been satisfied and
Buyer reasonably believes that the relevant approvals will be obtained during such extension period.

(b) Effect of Termination. If any Party terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 10(a) above, all rights and obligations of the Parties hereunder shall
terminate without any liability of any Party to any other Party (except for any liability of any Party then in breach or any liability of any Party for fraud);
provided, however, that Section 11 and the confidentiality provisions contained in Section 5(e) above shall survive termination.

Section 11. Miscellaneous.

(a) Nature of Sellers’ Obligations. All representations, warranties, and covenants of Sellers in this Agreement are joint and several obligations. This means
that each Seller shall be responsible to the extent provided in Section 8(b)(i) above for the entirety of any Adverse Consequences any Buyer Indemnitee may
suffer as a result of any breach or inaccuracy thereof.
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(b) Press Releases and Public Announcements. No Party shall issue any press release or make any public announcement relating to the subject matter of
this Agreement prior to the Closing without the prior approval of Buyer and Sellers (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned);
provided, however, that any Party or any Affiliate of any Party may make any public disclosure it believes in good faith is required by applicable Law or any
listing or trading agreement concerning its publicly traded securities (in which case the disclosing Party will use its reasonable best efforts to advise and connect
with the other Parties prior to making the disclosure).

(c) No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, including Section 8 with respect to Buyer Indemnitees and Seller
Indemnitees, this Agreement shall not confer any legal or equitable rights or remedies upon any Person other than the Parties and their respective successors and
permitted assigns.

(d) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements (including the Schedules, Annexes, Attachments and Exhibits hereto and thereto)
contain the complete agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and supersede all prior agreements
and understandings between the parties hereto with respect thereto other than the Confidentiality Agreement (which shall terminate on the Closing Date, to the
extent not previously terminated), to the extent not in conflict with this Agreement.

(i) Buyer acknowledges that the only representations or warranties made by the Sellers are as set forth in this Agreement. Buyer acknowledges that,
except as set forth herein, no person has made any representation or warranty to Buyer with respect to: (i) any information set forth in the materials the
Sellers or their Affiliates or agents prepared for parties interested in investing in or acquiring the Targets or (ii) any other financial projection or forecast
delivered by or on behalf of the Buyer or the Sellers. Buyer acknowledges that: (A) there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such projections
and forecasts; (B) it is familiar with such uncertainties; (C) it is taking full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of all
such projections and forecasts so furnished to it; and (D) it shall have no claim against any Person with respect to any such projection or forecast (other
than in the case of fraud).

(ii) Buyer acknowledges that it has conducted to its satisfaction an investigation and verification of the financial condition, operations, assets,
liabilities and properties of each of the Targets. Buyer and Sellers acknowledge that in making its determination to proceed with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer has relied and will rely solely on the results of its own investigation and verification and the representations and
warranties of the Sellers expressly and specifically set forth in this Agreement, including the Schedules (and any updated Schedules). Buyer further
acknowledges that, except as set forth herein, no promise or inducement for this Agreement was offered by the Sellers or any of their respective
representatives or relied upon by Buyer. THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES BY THE SELLERS IN ARTICLES 3(A) AND 4 HEREOF
CONSTITUTE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS TO BUYER IN CONNECTION WITH
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HERBY, AND BUYER UNDERSTANDS, ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ALL OTHER
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND OF NATURE EXPRESS OR IMPLIED (INCLUDING ANY RELATING TO THE
FUTURE OR HISTORICAL FINANCIAL CONDITION, RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, ASSETS OR LIABILITIES OR PROSPECTS OF THE
TARGETS) ARE SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMED BY THE SELLERS.
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(e) Succession and Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties named herein and their respective successors
and permitted assigns. No Party may assign or delegate either this Agreement or any of its rights, interests, or obligations hereunder without the prior written
approval of Buyer and Sellers, and any such assignment that is not consented to shall be null and void; provided, however, that Buyer may (i) assign any or all of
its rights and interests hereunder to one or more of its Affiliates and (ii) designate one or more of its Affiliates to perform its obligations hereunder (in any or all
of which cases Buyer nonetheless shall remain responsible for the performance of all of its obligations hereunder).

(f) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by means of facsimile or PDF), each of which shall be deemed
an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

(g) Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

(h) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications hereunder shall be in writing. Any notice, request, demand, claim, or other
communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given (i) when delivered personally to the recipient, (ii) one (1) Business Day after being sent to the recipient by
reputable overnight courier service (charges prepaid), (iii) one (1) Business Day after being sent to the recipient by facsimile transmission or electronic mail with
receipt confirmed (followed by delivery of an original via overnight courier service), or (iv) four (4) Business Days after being mailed to the recipient by certified
or registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below:

If to Sellers:

Mark F. Muething
Executive Vice President
Great American Financial Resources, Inc.
301 East 4  Street, 39  Floor
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202
Email: mmuething@gafri.com

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Edward E. Steiner
Keating Muething & Klekamp PLL
One East Fourth Street
Suite 1400
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202
Email: esteiner@kmklaw.com
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If to Buyer:

Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company c/o Cigna Corporation
1601 Chestnut St. TL15B
Philadelphia, PA 19121
Attention: Daniel Spillane
Facsimile: (215) 761-5502
Email: daniel.spillane@cigna.com

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Cigna Corporation
1601 Chestnut St. TL16F
Philadelphia, PA 19121
Attention: D. Timothy Tammany
Facsimile: (215) 761-6221
Email: tim.tammany@cigna.com

and

Sidley Austin LLP
One South Dearborn Street
Chicago, IL 60603
Fax: (312) 853-7036
Attention: Sean M. Keyvan
Email: skeyvan@sidley.com

Any Party may change the address to which notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving the other
Parties notice in the manner herein set forth.

(i) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect
to its principles or rules of conflict of laws.

(j) Specific Performance. The Parties acknowledge and agree that irreparable harm would occur and that the Parties would not have any adequate remedy at
law in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms. It is accordingly agreed that the Parties
shall be entitled to seek injunctive or other equitable relief to obtain specific performance of the terms and provisions of this Agreement and to prevent breaches
of this Agreement and to thereafter cause the transactions hereby contemplated to be consummated, in each case, if the conditions set forth in Section 7(a) and
Section 7(b) have been satisfied or waived (other than conditions which by their nature cannot be satisfied until Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver
of those conditions at Closing), without proof of actual damages, and each Party further agrees to waive any requirement for the securing or posting of any bond
in connection with such remedy. The Parties further agree that by seeking the remedies provided for in this Section 11(j) , a party shall not in any respect waive its
right to seek any other form of relief that may be available to a party under this Agreement, including monetary damages in the event that this Agreement has
been terminated or in the event that the remedies provided for in this Section 11(j) are not available or otherwise are not granted.
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(k) Arbitration; Consent to Jurisdiction.

(i) The Parties hereby agree that any dispute or controversy arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions hereby
contemplated (a “Dispute”) shall be arbitrated before the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (the “Delaware Court of Chancery”) pursuant to 10
Del. C §349 and the Rules of the Delaware Court of Chancery promulgated thereunder (the “Chancery Rules”), if such Dispute is eligible for arbitration
pursuant to the Chancery Rules and is accepted by the Delaware Court of Chancery. The Parties hereby agree to take all steps necessary or advisable,
including execution of documents to be filed with the Delaware Court of Chancery, in order properly to submit such Dispute for Arbitration (as defined in
the Chancery Rules) in accordance with this Section 11(k), and each such Party agrees that it shall raise no objection to the submission of such Dispute to
Arbitration in accordance with this Section 11(k) and further irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any objection that it may
have or hereafter have to the submission of such Dispute for Arbitration or any right to lay claim to jurisdiction in any venue. The Parties intend that this
Section 11(k) be interpreted as broadly as possible, and in favor of prompt and binding arbitration.

(ii) The Arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the Chancery Rules; provided that the Parties hereto may agree to amend, modify or alter
such rules, and/or adopt new rules, in each case with the consent of the Arbitrator. Any such amendments, modifications or alterations shall be in writing
and signed by an authorized representative of each such Party. The Arbitration shall take place in Delaware or such other location as the Parties and the
Arbitrator may agree.

(iii) The Arbitration shall be presided over by one arbitrator (the “Arbitrator”) who shall be a chancellor or vice-chancellor of the Delaware Court of
Chancery appointed as an arbitrator by the Delaware Court of Chancery.

(iv) The arbitral award (the “Award”) shall (A) be written or oral, (B) state the reasons for the Award, and (C) be the sole and exclusive binding
remedy with respect to the Dispute between and among the Parties. The Parties hereto acknowledge that time is of the essence and the Parties hereto agree
that they shall not seek to vary the timing provisions of the Chancery Rules. Judgment on the Award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction
thereof. All Awards of the Arbitrator shall be final, nonappealable and binding on the Parties. The Parties hereto waive any right to refer any question of
law and right of appeal on the law and/or merits to any court, including any appeal contemplated by 10 Del. C. §349(c). The Award shall be deemed an
award of the United States, the relationship between the Parties shall be deemed commercial in nature, and any dispute arbitrated pursuant to this
Section 11(k) shall be deemed commercial.
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(v) The Arbitrator shall have the authority to grant any equitable or legal remedies that would be available in any judicial proceeding intended to
resolve a Dispute, including entering injunctive or other equitable relief pending the final decision of the Arbitrator or the rendering of the Award.

(vi) Each Party hereto shall bear its own legal fees and costs in connection with the Arbitration; provided, however, that each such Party shall pay
one-half of any filing fees, fees and expenses of the Arbitrator or other similar costs incurred by the Parties in connection with the prosecution of the
Arbitration.

(vii) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 11(k), each Party hereto shall be entitled to seek interim or provisional relief in the Delaware
Court of Chancery or, if the Delaware Court of Chancery lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any Federal court located in the State of Delaware to (A) protect
the rights or property of such Party, (B) maintain the status quo until such time as the Award is rendered or the Dispute is otherwise resolved, or (C) prevent
breaches of this Agreement. By doing so, such Party does not waive any right or remedy under this Agreement.

(viii) Each of the Parties to this Agreement (A) consents to submit itself to the personal jurisdiction of the Arbitrator, the Delaware Court of
Chancery and the Federal courts located in the State of Delaware in connection with proceedings pursuant to this Section 11(k), (B) agrees that all claims in
respect of such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such court, (C) agrees that it shall not attempt to deny or defeat such personal
jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from such court, and (D) agrees not to bring any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any other court, except in accordance with Section 11(k)(ix) below. Each of the
Parties hereto waives any defense of inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any action or proceeding so brought and waives any bond, surety or other
security that might be required of any other Party with respect thereto. Any Party hereto may make service on another Party by sending or delivering a copy
of the process to the Party to be served at the address and in the manner provided for the giving of notices in Section 11(h).

(ix) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that a Dispute is not eligible for arbitration under the Chancery Rules,
each of the Parties (A) submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Delaware and the federal courts of the United States of America located in the
State of Delaware and the County of New Castle (each, a “Delaware Court”) in any Dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement, (B) agrees that all
claims in respect of any such Action may be heard and determined by any Delaware Court, and (C) each Party also agrees not to bring any Action arising
out of or relating to this Agreement in any court other than a Delaware Court; provided that, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Parties agree
that any such Dispute shall be heard and determined by the Complex Commercial Litigation Division of the Superior Court for the County of New Castle.
Each of the Parties waives any defense asserting that any Action interpreting or enforcing this Agreement may not be brought or is not maintainable in such
Delaware Court and waives any bond, surety, or other security that might be required of any other Party with respect thereto; provided, that the foregoing
shall not prevent or in any way restrict the Parties from seeking to compel arbitration pursuant to this Section 11(k).
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(l) Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or modification of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing and
signed by Buyer and Sellers. No waiver by any Party of any provision of this Agreement or any default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or covenant
hereunder, whether intentional or not, shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Party making such waiver nor shall such waiver be
deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by
virtue of any prior or subsequent such occurrence.

(m) Severability. Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective
and valid under applicable Law, but if any term or provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other authority to be invalid, illegal
or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof, and this
Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or portion of any provision had never been contained
herein.

(n) Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly specified in this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements, Buyer and Sellers will each bear its or their own
costs and expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.

(o) Construction. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. If an ambiguity or question of intent or
interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or
disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. When reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, a Section, a
clause, an Exhibit, an Annex or a Schedule, that reference is to an Article, a Section or a clause of, or an Exhibit, Annex or Schedule to, this Agreement unless
otherwise indicated. Any reference to any federal, state, local, or non-U.S. statute or law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise. The word “including” shall mean “including without limitation.” References to any section of any statute,
listing rule, rule, standard, regulation or other Law will be deemed to include any successor to such section. References to “$” or “dollars” are references to
United States Dollars.

(p) Incorporation of Exhibits, Annexes, and Schedules. The Exhibits, Attachments, Annexes and Schedules identified in this Agreement are incorporated
herein by reference and made a part hereof.
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(q) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY
HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS
AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (I) NO
REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER
PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (II) EACH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND
HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY AND (IV) EACH PARTY
HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN
THIS SECTION 11(q).
 

82



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 
Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company   Ceres Group, Inc.

By:  s/ Barry R. McHale   By:  s/ Mark F. Muething
Name: Barry R. McHale   Name: Mark F. Muething
Title:  Vice President and Treasurer   Title:  Vice President & Secretary

   Continental General Insurance Company

   By:  s/ Mark F. Muething
   Name: Mark F. Muething
   Title:  Vice President & Assistant Secretary

   Loyal American Holding Corporation

   By:  s/ Mark F. Muething
   Name: Mark F. Muething
   Title:  Executive Vice President & Secretary

   United Teacher Associates Insurance Company

   By:  s/ Mark F. Muething
   Name: Mark F. Muething
   Title:  Vice President

   Ceres Sales, LLC

   By:  s/ Mark F. Muething
   Name: Mark F. Muething
   Title:  Executive Vice President & Secretary

   Great American Financial Resources, Inc.

   By:  s/ Mark F. Muething
   Name: Mark F. Muething
   Title:  Chief Operating Officer, Executive Vice President & Secretary

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement
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Exhibit 12

AMERCIAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

EXHIBIT 12 — COMPUTATION OF RATIOS OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(Dollars in Millions)

 
       Year Ended  
   Six Months    December 31, 
   Ended June 30,   2011  
   2012    (as adjusted)  
Operating earnings before income taxes   $ 282   $ 558 
Undistributed equity in losses of investee    —       1 
Losses of managed investment entities attributable to noncontrolling interest    46    24 
Fixed charges:     

Interest on annuities    277    510 
Interest expense    42    85 
Debt discount and expense    1    2 
Portion of rentals representing interest    9    18 

    
 

    
 

EARNINGS   $ 657   $ 1,198 
    

 

    

 

Fixed charges:     
Interest on annuities   $ 277   $ 510 
Interest expense    42    85 
Debt discount and expense    1    2 
Portion of rentals representing interest    9    18 

    
 

    
 

FIXED CHARGES   $ 329   $ 615 
    

 

    

 

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges    2.00    1.95 
    

 

    

 

Earnings in Excess of Fixed Charges   $ 328   $ 583 
    

 

    

 



Exhibit 31(a)

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

EXHIBIT 31(a)

SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 302(a) CERTIFICATIONS

I, Carl H. Lindner III, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of American Financial Group, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
August 8, 2012   BY:  s/ Carl H. Lindner III

   Carl H. Lindner III
   Co-Chief Executive Officer
   (principal executive officer)



Exhibit 31(b)

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

EXHIBIT 31(b)

SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 302(a) CERTIFICATIONS

I, S. Craig Lindner, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of American Financial Group, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
August 8, 2012   BY:  s/ S. Craig Lindner

   S. Craig Lindner
   Co-Chief Executive Officer
   (principal executive officer)



Exhibit 31(c)

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

EXHIBIT 31(c)

SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 302(a) CERTIFICATIONS - CONTINUED

I, Keith A. Jensen, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of American Financial Group, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
August 8, 2012   BY:  s/ Keith A. Jensen

   Keith A. Jensen
   Senior Vice President
   (principal financial and accounting officer)



Exhibit 32

AMERICAN FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. 10-Q

EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Quarterly Report of American Financial Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form
10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2012 (the “Report”), the undersigned officers of the Company, certify, pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to the best of their knowledge:
 

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934; and
 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
August 8, 2012   BY:  s/ S. Craig Lindner
Date    S. Craig Lindner

   Co-Chief Executive Officer

August 8, 2012   BY:  s/ Carl H. Lindner III
Date    Carl H. Lindner III

   Co-Chief Executive Officer

August 8, 2012   BY:  s/ Keith A. Jensen
Date    Keith A. Jensen

   Senior Vice President
   (principal financial and accounting officer)

A signed original of this written statement will be retained by the Registrant and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


